Detection of Human Salivary α-Defensins by LC-ESI-MS and Evaluation of Levels in Athletes after Physical Stress

by

NADIA ASHRAFI [B.Sc. (Hons)]

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy of the University of Greenwich

January 2017

Faculty of Engineering and Science University of Greenwich, Medway campus Chatham Maritime, Kent ME4 4TB, UK



Declaration

I certify that this work has not been accepted in substance for any degree, and is not concurrently being submitted for any degree other than that of Doctor of Philosophy being studied at the University of Greenwich. I also declare that the work is the result of my own investigations except where otherwise identified by references and that I have not plagiarised the work of others.

Nadia Ashrafi

Date.....

PhD Supervisors

Dr. Birthe Nielsen

Date.....

Prof. Frank Pullen

Date.....

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I express deep gratitude to my Lord for bestowing upon me good health and the ability to complete my project. I also express immense appreciation and gratitude to my supervisors, Professor Frank Pullen and Dr. Birthe Nielsen, for invaluable support and guidance whilst completing this project. Without their support this project would not have been possible.

I have had the privilege of working in the mass spectrometry lab and extend gratitude to Dr. Cris Lapthorn, Devyani Amin, Dr. Patricia Wright, Rachel Nice, Samantha Lewis, Attiya Reza and Mark Allen for providing comprehensive analytical knowledge. I warmly thank Professor Babur Chowdhry and Dr. Joshua Boateng who have supported me in the completion of my PhD project.

In a similar vein, I extend gratitude to Dr. John Tetteh and Stephen Young for contributing to the statistical analysis, and to Dr. Fernando Naclerio and Dr. Marcos Seijo for providing participant samples and collaborating on the exercise protocol. I would like to thank the British Mass Spectrometry Society for providing the funding for the analysis of HNP 1-3 by ELISA and Glaxo Smith Kline for providing the supplements. I would also like to thank all the participants from the University of Greenwich.

To my beloved family and friends – parents, siblings, grandparents, uncles, cousins, relatives, and my best friends, I express gratitude for your love, guidance and support which has inspired and motivated me to complete this project despite many the many challenges I encountered.

Conference Presentations

The following published abstracts/conference presentations have arisen from the material detailed in this thesis:

Poster Presentations

British Society for Proteome Research Meeting, University of Reading, UK (20-22nd July, 2015): Evaluation of salivary antimicrobial peptide (α-defensins) in relation to physical stress.

The 29th Protein Society Meeting, Barcelona, Spain (23rd-25th July, 2015):

1) Evaluation of salivary antimicrobial peptide (α -defensins) in relation to physical stress.

2) Investigation of potential correlation between salivary antimicrobial peptides (α -defensions) and cortisol after physical stress.

3) Validation of an LC-ESI-MS assay for the detection of human salivary neutrophil α -defensins in human saliva.

The 5th International Antimicrobial Peptide Meeting, Burlington House, London (7-8th September, 2015): Evaluation of salivary antimicrobial peptide (α -defensions) in relation to physical stress.

The 36th British Mass Spectrometry Society Meeting, University of Birmingham, UK (15-17th September, 2015): Evaluation of salivary antimicrobial peptide (α-defensins) in relation to physical stress.

These posters are presented in Appendix E.

Oral Presentation

The 36th Biological Mass Spectrometry Meeting, Imperial College, London (24th September, 2015): Evaluation of antimicrobial peptide (HNP 1-4) in human saliva by LC-ESI-MS.

Research publication

 Fernando Naclerio, Eneko Larumbe-Zabala, Nadia Ashrafi, Marco Seijo, Birthe Nielsen, Judith Allgrove, Conrad P. Earnest (2016). Effects of Protein-Carbohydrate Supplementation on Immunity and Resistance Training Outcomes: A double blind, randomized, controlled clinical trial. Eur J Appl Physioly. DOI 10.1007/s00421-016-3520-x (presented in Appendix F).

Abstract

The aim of this study was to optimise and validate an LC-ESI-MS method to determine the level of individual human neutrophil alpha defensins (HNP1-4) after physical stress. A method for the analysis of individual (HNP1-4) in a saliva matrix by LC-ESI-MS has been established. An Agilent 1200 series HPLC, coupled with a Synapt G1 (Q-TOF-ESI-MS), was used for the separation and detection of HNP1-4. The need for solid phase extraction (SPE) was established. An LC-MS optimisation, focusing on mobile phases, column performances, and ion intensities, was carried out in order to enhance the detection of individual HNPs in human saliva. During LC-MS optimisation, two different mobile phase compositions (methanol with water; acetonitrile with water) and three different additives (formic acid, acetic acid, ammonium format with formic acid) were compared in response to electrospray ionisation (ESI) ion intensity of salivary HNP1-4. Kinetex[®] column separation efficiency was evaluated using two different column dimensions (50 x 2.1 mm and 50 x 3 mm) and two different stationary phases (C18 and C8). The performance of the core shell Kinetex[®] column (homogenous porous shell) was also compared to a new ultra ACE[®] (encapsulated bonded phase) column. The results showed that a SPE method prior to the analysis resulted in cleaner mass spectra compared to a method without SPE; whereby co-elution of proline rich proteins, peptides and other unknown peptides were observed to cause ion suppression. The peak area reduction between the HNPs in the SPE and without SPE treated samples ranged from 17-65%. HNPs were extracted by SPE with a recovery of 80-91%. Aqueous 0.1% acetic acid: methanol (50:50) provided enhanced ion intensities for individual HNPs. The Kinetex® C8 (50 x 3.0 mm, 2.6 µm) column facilitated a better separation of individual HNPs compared to the Ultra Core Super C18 ACE® (50 x 3.0 mm, 25 µm), Kinetex® C18 (50 x 3.0 mm, 2.6 µm) and Kinetex® C18 (50 x 3.0 mm, 5 µm) columns. The LC-MS method was linear for concentrations of HNP2 between 0.05 and 1 ng/ μ L with a detection limit of 0.05 ng/ μ L and quantification limit of 0.1 ng/ μ L (R² = 0.99). Inter-intra assay precision was 0.3–15%, respectively. As part of the method validation, HNP1-3 salivary levels were determined by ELISA and the data compared with that obtained by LC-MS. No significant correlation was found between the two methods ($R^2 = 0.96$) for the detection of these potential antimicrobial peptides. The optimised, validated LC-MS method was applied to examine the relative levels of individual HNP1-4 in participants undertaking a rigorous physical activity intervention. The levels of individual HNP1-4 were found to be higher after exercise (at both 30 and 60 min intervals) compared to baseline assessments, where participants consumed either placebo (PL) or carbohydrate (CHO) supplements. In addition, the level of individual HNPs at 30 mins post exercise increased by around 80-134% and 103-132% for participants who consumed either PL or CHO supplements. A further increase in the levels of individual HNPs was observed around 185-415% and 90-264% at 60 mins post exercise. These levels differed significantly (HNP1, p=0.00; HNP2, p=0.05; HNP3, p=0.03; HNP4, p=0.01) in athletes that consumed either PL or CHO supplements. Furthermore, the levels of individual HNPs were investigated after supplementing with a commercially available multi-ingredient (MTN) and compared with a CHO supplement. A similar trend was observed for individual HNPs at both 30 and 60 min intervals but they did not significantly differ at any time at the intervals (post 30 mins HNP1, p=0.85; HNP2, p=0.16; HNP3, p=0.07; HNP4, p=0.40 and post 60 mins HNP1, p=0.17; HNP2, p=0.20; HNP3, p=0.09; HNP4, p=0.30). The above findings provide evidence that the level of individual HNPs varies and is sensitive to physical stress. Physical stress may induce air-inflammation and damage to the airway epithelial cells, which could be part of a normal stress response. A possible correlation between the average response of HNP1-3 and cortisol was investigated by ELISA. The findings suggest that there is no correlation between the changes in the levels of salivary HNP1-3 and cortisol. In conclusion, the optimised and validated LC-MS method revealed that individual levels of HNPs can be determined accurately and precisely, which makes a novel contribution to sports and clinical research.

| Declaration | i |
|--|-------------|
| Acknowledgements | ii |
| Conference Presentations | iii |
| Research publication | iv |
| Abstract | v |
| List of Tables | xii |
| List of Figures | xiii |
| List of Abbreviations | xv |
| Key Terms | vvii |
| | |
| Over view | , АА 1 |
| 1 1 Selies and Discussed is Descussed | I |
| 1.1 Saliva and Diagnostic Perspectives | |
| 1.2 Saliva | 2 |
| 1.2.1 Production of Saliva | 3 |
| 1.2.2 Function of Saliva | 5 |
| 1.3 Defensins: Antimicrobial peptide | 5 |
| 1.3.1 α-Defensins | 6 |
| 1.3.2 β-Defensins | 6 |
| 1.3.3 Defensins and their Multifunctional Role | 7 |
| 1.4 Published Work on α-Defensins | |
| 1.5 Existing Analytical Techniques for the Detection and Quantitation of α -Defended | 15 nsins 13 |
| 1.5.1 Antibody Based Techniques | 13 |
| 1.5.2 Liquid Chromatography based Techniques | 15 |
| 1.5.2.1 LC-UV | 15 |
| 1.5.2.2 LC-MS | 15 |
| 1.6 Challenges and Perspective: The Salivary Proteome Analysis by Electrospray Ionisation | , 24 |
| 1.7 Stress | 27 |
| 1.8 Cortisol | |
| 1.8.1 Function of Cortisol | 29 |
| 1.8.2 Production of Cortisol | 29 |
| 1.9 Reason for Comparing Cortisol and α-Defensins Levels | 29 |
| 1.10 Physical Stress Induces the Activation of Neutrophils | |

Contents

| 1.11 Resistance versus Aerobic | |
|--|----------|
| 1.12 α-Defensins and Cortisol Responses to Physical Exercise | |
| 1.12.1 Cortisol and Physical Exercise | |
| 1.12.2 α-Defensins and Physical Exercise | |
| 1.13 Summary | |
| Chapter 2 - Practical Considerations of Electrospray Ionisation | |
| 2.1 Mass Spectrometry | |
| 2.2 Mechanism of Electrospray Ionisation | |
| 2.3 Interpretation of Electrospray Ionisation Mass Spectra | 41 |
| 2.3.1 Multiple Charge Ion Formation | 41 |
| 2.3.2 Charge Deconvolution | 42 |
| 2.4 Practical Considerations of Electrospray Ionisation | 43 |
| 2.4.1 Effects of Analyte Characteristics on the Electrospray Ionisation Response | e43 |
| 2.4.2 Effects of Analyte pKa and Solvent pH on the Electrospray Ionisation Res | ponse 44 |
| 2.4.3 Effects of Electrolytes on the Electrospray Ionisation Response | |
| 2.5 Summary | 47 |
| Chapter 3 - Sample Optimisation: Separation and Detection of α-Defensins | 48 |
| 3.1 Background | 48 |
| 3.1.1 Sample Preparation Techniques | |
| 3.1.2 Acidification | 49 |
| 3.1.3 Solid Phase Extraction | |
| 3.2 Pilot Study | |
| 3.3 Materials and Methods | |
| 3.3.1 Chemicals and Reagents | |
| 3.3.2 Instruments and LC-MS Experimental Conditions | |
| 3.3.3 Sample Collection | 51 |
| 3.3.3.1 Circadian Rhythm | 51 |
| 3.3.3.2 Stimulated versus Unstimulated saliva | |
| 3.3.3.3 Saliva Storage | |
| 3.3.4 Sample Preparation | |
| 3.3.4.1 Method A using A SPE | |
| 3 3 5 Mobile Phase Extraction Buffer | |
| 3.3.6 Internal Standard and Matrix Effects | |
| 3.3.7 Extraction Recovery | |
| 3.4 Statistical Analysis | |
| 3.5 Results and Discussion | |

| 3.5.1 Sample Optimisation | |
|--|----|
| 3.5.1.1 Effects of SPE | |
| 3.5.1.2 Internal Standard and Matrix Effects | 65 |
| 3.5.1.3 Extraction Recovery | 66 |
| 3.5.1.4 Sample Drying Efficiency | |
| 3.5.1.5 ESI Response | 67 |
| 3.6 Summary | |
| Chapter 4 - LC-MS Method Optimisation | 70 |
| 4.1 Background | 70 |
| 4.2 Quantitative Approaches | 70 |
| 4.2.1 Labelling Based Approach | |
| 4.2.2 Label-Free Approach | 71 |
| 4.2.3 Semi-Quantitative Approach for HNPs | 72 |
| 4.3 van Deemter Curve | 73 |
| 4.3.1.1 Eddy Diffusion | |
| 4.3.1.2 Longitudinal Diffusion | |
| 4.3.1.3 Mass Transfer | 74 |
| 4.4 Chromatographic Parameters | 75 |
| 4.4.1 Column | 75 |
| 4.4.2 Flow Rate | 75 |
| 4.4.3 Mobile Phase Solvents and pH | 76 |
| 4.5 Materials and Methods | 77 |
| 4.5.1 Chemicals and Reagents | 77 |
| 4.5.2 Columns | 77 |
| 4.5.3 Flow Rate | 77 |
| 4.5.4 LC Mobile Phase | 77 |
| 4.5.5 Gradient | 78 |
| 4.5.6 Sample preparation | |
| 4.5.7 Equations | |
| 4.6 Statistical Analysis | |
| 4.7 Results and Discussion | 79 |
| 4.7.1 LC-MS Optimisation | |
| 4.7.1.1 Gradient | |
| 4.7.1.2 Column Performance | |
| 4.7.1.3 Core Shell versus Ultra-Core Shell | |
| 4.7.1.4 ESI-MS Response | |
| 4.8 Summary | |

| Chapter 5 - Method Validation | |
|--|------------------------------------|
| 5.1 Background | |
| 5.2 Method Validation Guidelines | |
| 5.3 Materials and Methods | |
| 5.3.1 Participants | |
| 5.3.2 Instrumentation | |
| 5.3.3 Sample Preparation | 91 |
| 5 3 3 1 Analysis of individual HNPs by LC-MS | |
| 5.3.3.2 Analysis of HNP1-3 by ELISA | |
| 5.3.4 LC-MS Validation | |
| 5.3.4.1 Linearity | |
| 5.3.4.2 Precision | |
| 5.3.4.3 Recovery | |
| 5.3.4.4 Stability | |
| 5.4 Statistical Analysis | |
| 5.5 Results and Discussion | |
| 5.5.1 LC-MS Validation | |
| 5.5.1.1 Linearity | |
| 5.5.1.2 Precision | |
| 5.5.1.3 Stability | |
| 5.5.1.4 Recovery | |
| 5.5.2 Pilot Study | |
| 5.5.3 Cross Validation | |
| 5.6 Summary | |
| Chapter 6 - Evaluation of α–Defensins and Cortisol levels in | Response to Physical Stress 102 |
| 6.1 Background | |
| 6.2 Materials and Methods | |
| 6.2.1 Participants | |
| 6.2.2 Familiarisation Sessions | |
| 6.2.3 Crossfit Exercise | |
| 6.2.3.1 Pre Interval Saliva Sample Collection | |
| 6.2.3.2 Warm up | |
| 6.2.3.3 Crossfit Workout Measurement | |
| 6.2.3.4 Countermovement Movement Jump | |
| 6.2.3.5 Upper Body Power Test | |
| 6.2.3.6 Recovery | |
| 6.2.3.7 Supplementation Protocols | |
| 6.2.3.8 Nutritional Composition of Supplements | |

| 6.2.3.9 Crossfit Circuit Session | |
|---|---------------------|
| 6.2.3.10 Rate of perceived exertion | |
| 6.2.3.11 Post Interval Saliva Sample | |
| 6.2.4 Sample Analysis | |
| 6.2.4.1 Analysis of HNP1-3 and Cortisol by ELISA | |
| 6.2.5 Equations | |
| 6.3 Statistical Analysis | |
| 6.4 Results and Discussion | |
| 6.4.1 Pilot study | 109 |
| 6.4.2 Exercise Performance | |
| 6.4.2.1 Resistance Workout | |
| 6.4.2.2 Resistance Circuit Session | |
| 6.4.3 Level of Individual HNPs and Cortisol | |
| 6.4.4 Possible Correlation between the Changes in Salivary HNPs | and Cortisol Levels |
| | |
| 6.5 Summary | |
| Chapter 7 - General Discussion | |
| 7.1 Thesis Findings | |
| 7.2 Limitations of the Study | |
| Chapter 8 - Conclusions | 129 |
| 8.1 Future Research | |
| References | |
| Appendices | 164 |

List of Tables

| Table 1.1 The function, components and mechanisms of saliva | 5 |
|--|-----|
| Table 1.2 Structural, biological source and antimicrobial activity of α -defensins family | 9 |
| Table 1.3 Structural, biological source and antimicrobial activity of β -defensins family | 10 |
| Table 1.4 Quantitation of HNPs using ELISA, LC-UV and LC-MS | 17 |
| Table 1.5 Cortisol level after aerobic endurance. | 33 |
| Table 1.6 Cortisol level after resistance training. | 34 |
| Table 1.7 Antimicrobial peptides level after aerobic endurance | |
| Table 3.1 Composition ratios for eight different SPE solvent buffers | 54 |
| Table 3.2 Recovery of Leu-enkephalin following SPE sample treatment | 66 |
| Table 3.3 ESI response using various mobile phase solvents and additives | 68 |
| Table 4.1 Composition ratios for six different mobile phase solvents | 78 |
| Table 4.2 Optimisation of the gradient length for the separation of HNP1 | |
| Table 5.1 Method validation guidelines | 90 |
| Table 5.2 Intra-and interday precision, and stability data for HNPs 1-4 in human saliva | 95 |
| Table 5.3 Recovery data of HNP2 using SPE sample treatment | 96 |
| Table 5.4 Recovery data of leu-enkaphalin using SPE sample treatment | 96 |
| Table 5.5 Comparison of individual HNPs using LC-MS in different matrices | 99 |
| Table 5.6 Method validation parameters for ELISA and LC-MS | |
| Table 6.1 Warm up exercise performances. | |
| Table 6.2 Nutritional composition of supplements. | 106 |
| Table 6.3 Characteristics of the familiarising performance of the resistance training | |

List of Figures

| Figure 1.1 Transport of molecules from blood to salivary glands. | 3 |
|---|----|
| Figure 1.2 Anatomy of the salivary glands | 4 |
| Figure 1.3 Numbers of published manuscripts on α -defensins from the period of 1986 to 2015 | 12 |
| Figure 1.4 Chemical structure of cortisol | 28 |
| Figure 2.1 Principal components of a mass spectrometer | 39 |
| Figure 2.2 Schematic representation of the formation of ions during ESI | 40 |
| Figure 2.3 Schematic diagram represents how the isotope distribution can be calculated from an ESI mass spectrum. | 41 |
| Figure 2.4 An ESI mass spectrum representing the isotope distribution of a multiple charged peptide | 41 |
| Figure 2.5 Calculation of deconvolation from an ESI spectrum | 42 |
| Figure 2.6 Total ion current chromatogram of angiotensin I and enolase T3 | 43 |
| Figure 2.7 ESI mass spectrum of angiotensin I and enolase T35. | 44 |
| Figure 2.8 Effects of decreasing the mobile phase polarity on the ion intensity profile of HNP2, CGRP, GLP and VIP peptides. | 45 |
| Figure 2.9 ESI mass spectrum of protonated molecule and a related sodium adduct in saliva | 46 |
| Figure 3.1 Schematic diagram of saliva sample preparation for the analysis of individual HNP1-4 | 53 |
| Figure 3.2 Extracted ion chromatogram of salivary HNP1 | 56 |
| Figure 3.3 ESI-MS spectrum of salivary HNP1. | 57 |
| Figure 3.4 Extracted ion chromatogram of salivary HNP2 | 58 |
| Figure 3.5 ESI-MS spectrum of salivary HNP2. | 59 |
| Figure 3.6 Extracted ion chromatogram of salivary HNP3 | 60 |
| Figure 3.7 ESI-MS spectrum of salivary HNP3. | 61 |
| Figure 3.8 Extracted ion chromatogram of salivary HNP4 | 62 |
| Figure 3.9 ESI-MS spectrum of salivary HNP4. | 63 |
| Figure 3.10 Extracted ion chromatograms obtained of individual HNP1-4 ions corresponding to $[M + 3H]^{3+}$, $[M + 4H]^{4+}$ and $[M + 5H]^{5+}$ | 64 |
| Figure 3.11 Matrix effects of Leu-enkephalin were compared with saliva and non-saliva matrix | 65 |
| Figure 3.12 Peak area after sample drying for individual HNPs | 67 |
| Figure 4.1 Schematic diagram of labelling based quantitation. | 71 |
| Figure 4.2 Example of standard addition quantification method. | 71 |
| Figure 4.3 Illustration of eddy diffusion. | 73 |
| Figure 4.4 Illustration of longitudinal diffusion | 74 |
| Figure 4.5 Illustration of mass transfer | 74 |

| Figure 4.6 Bar chart represents the response of HNPs using different particle sizes and stationary phases column |
|--|
| Figure 4.7 The separation of individual HNPs in saliva using different stationary phase columns83 |
| Figure 4.8 ESI response of HNP1 was investigated using six different LC mobile phase solvents 85 |
| Figure 4.9 ESI response of HNP2 was investigated using six different LC mobile phase solvents 86 |
| Figure 4.10 ESI response of HNP3 was investigated using six different LC mobile phases |
| Figure 5.1 Calibration graph illustrating the signal to noise ratio of HNP2 against concentration93 |
| Figure 5.2 Correlation between LC-MS and ELISA data |
| Figure 6.1 Schematic diagram of resistance training performance104 |
| Figure 6.2 Illustration of rate of perceived exertion scale |
| Figure 6.3 Peak area of individual HNP1-4 before and after exercise by LC-ESI-MS, where athletes consumed placebo |
| Figure 6.4 Crossfit workout performance which include: counter movement jump test and upper body power test |
| Figure 6.5 Crossfit circuit session performance111 |
| Figure 6.6 Peak area of individual HNP1-4 before and after exercise by LC-ESI-MS, where athletes consumed either placebo or carbohydrate supplements |
| Figure 6.7 Salivary response of cortisol before and after exercise |
| Figure 6.8 Peak of individual HNP1-4 before and after exercise by LC-ESI-MS, where athletes consumed either carbohydrate or multinutrional supplements |
| Figure 6.9 Salivary response of cortisol before and after exercise |
| Figure 6.10 Correlation between the changes in salivary (HNP1-3) and cortisol levels by ELISA, where athletes consumed either placebo or carbohydrate supplements |
| Figure 6.11 Correlation between the changes in salivary (HNP1-3) and cortisol levels by ELISA, where athletes consumed either carbohydrate or multinutrional supplements |

List of Abbreviations

| AMPs | Antimicrobial Peptides |
|-------|---|
| ANS | Autonomic Nervous System |
| AUC | Area Under the Curve |
| C18 | Carbon 18 |
| C8 | Carbon 8 |
| CF | Cross fit |
| СНО | Carbohydrate |
| CMJ | Countermovement Vertical Jump |
| CV | Coefficient of Variation |
| Da | Daltons |
| EIC | Extracted Ion Chromatogram |
| ELISA | Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay |
| ESI | Electrospray Ionisation |
| F | Flow rate |
| FA | Formic Acid |
| HBD | Human β Defensin |
| HMB | β-Hydroxy β-Methylbutyric acid |
| HNP | 1-4 Human Neutrophil α-Defensin |
| HPAA | Hypothalamic–Pituitary–Adrenal-Axis |
| HPLC | High Performance Liquid Chromatography |
| HQC | High concentration |
| ID | Internal Diameter |
| IgA | Immunoglobulin A |
| kDa | Kilo Daltons |
| kV | Kilovolt |
| L | Length |
| LC | Liquid Chromatography |
| LL-37 | Cathelicidin |
| LOD | Limit of Detection |
| LOQ | Limit of Quantitation |
| LQC | Low concentration |
| m/z | Mass to Charge Ratio |
| MALDI | Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption Ionisation |
| MQC | Medium concentration |
| MS | Mass Spectrometry |
| MTN | Multi-Nutritional |
| Ν | Column efficiency |
| р | Probability |
| PA | Peak Area |

| PL | Placebo |
|--------------|--------------------------------|
| PRP3 | Proline Rich Proteins |
| Q-TOF | Quadruple Time of Flight |
| RIA | Radio Immunoassay |
| RIL | Rayleigh instability limit |
| RMBP | RM Bench Press |
| RP | Reverse Phase |
| RPE | Rate of Perceived Exertion |
| S/N | Signal to noise ratio |
| SPE | Solid Phase Extraction |
| STD | Standard deviation |
| TFA | Trifluoroacetic Acid |
| tG | Gradient time |
| TIC | Total Ion Current |
| u | Linear Velocity |
| UBPT | Upper Body Power Test |
| UV | Ultraviolet radiation |
| V | Volts |
| v/v | Volume Concentration |
| $VO_{2 max}$ | Maximal Oxygen Uptake |
| WSPE | Without Solid Phase Extraction |

Key Terms

Antimicrobial peptides: these are small (<100 amino acids) cationic peptides that demonstrate antimicrobial activity. AMPs are known as multifunctional molecules, and have a central role in infection and inflammation.

Cortisol: a steroid hormone with many functions in the body. It represents a chemical response of the body to stress and plays a major role in the mobilisation of glucose into the blood stream.

Crossfit: a training performance with additional resistance training elements (external overweight). Crossfit training is the most efficient way to enhance and muscle endurance.

Charge deconvolution: the process of obtaining the molecular weight from the number of charge states of a multiply charged ion from individual isotopes.

Extracted ion chromatogram (EIC): this is created by plotting the intensity of the signal observed at a chosen m/z value or set of values as a function of the retention time.

Electrospray ionisation (ESI): this is a method by which ions can be transferred or produced in the gas phase. It is especially useful in producing ions from macromolecules because it overcomes the propensity of these molecules to fragment when ionised.

Gradient: a method of changing the mobile phase composition over time to affect a separation, this typically enables the analysis of a mixture of analytes which have a broad range of polarities and retention characteristics in a single run, and for many applications this offers significant benefits over isocratic methodology.

High performance liquid chromatography electrospray ionisation mass spectrometry (HPLC-ESI-MS): this is an analytical technique that can be used for the separation, detection and quantitation of proteins and peptides present within a complex matrix.

Human neutrophil α -defensins: small, cationic antimicrobial peptides that are part of the mucosal immune system, possessing a broad spectrum of antibacterial and antifungal activity.

Internal standard: bioanalytical techniques, such as LC-ESI-MS, can employ various methods to quantify an unknown analyte; however, the main methods used are either standard addition or adding an internal standard. An internal standard can also be used to ensure the recovery of an analyte and instrument sensitivity.

Ion suppression: matrix effects are the alternation of ionisation efficiency in the presence of co-eluting substances. Ion suppression is one form of matrix effect that negatively affect detection capability, precision and accuracy.

Isobaric ions: two or more analytes of the same nominal molecular weight; co-elution is known as an isobaric effect. The presence of co-eluting isobaric ions can lead to ion suppression.

Label free quantitation: a method that aims to determine the amount of analytes present within a sample without chemically modifying the analytes.

Mobile phase: liquid chromatography separation is based on the selective distribution of analytes between a liquid mobile phase and a stationary phase. The mobile phase in reverse phase high performance liquid chromatography usually consists of an aqueous/organic solution and commonly an organic modifier.

Number of theoretical plates (N): columns with high plate numbers are considered to be more efficient, that is they have a higher column efficiency than columns with a lower plate count. A column with a high number of theoretical plates will have a narrower peak at a given retention time than a column with a lower N number.

Particle size: the mean diameter of the spherical supports used to pack a column, is a physical dimension that has a significant impact on the performance of an HPLC column.

Placebo: an inactive substance that is visually identical in appearance to the liquid supplements that are being tested in this study. A placebo is used to compare the effects of an inactive substance with those of the experimental supplements

Solid phase extraction: one of the most popular sample preparation techniques involving the use of chromatographic sorbents in a column format. A sample is passed through the column bed and analytes are retained on the sorbent while the sample matrix liquid passes through. The sorbent bed is then washed to remove undesired interferences, and the purified analytes are subsequently eleuted from the column.

Supplements: a product taken orally that contains one or more ingredients (proteins, carbohydrates) that are known as supplements. Supplements (also called ergogenic aids) are used to enhance athletic performance and may include vitamins, minerals, carbohydrates, proteins or a combination of these.

Signal to noise ratio (S/N): this is a measure that is used to compare the level of a desired signal to the level of background noise.

Total ion current (TIC): this results from the detection of ions over the period of the MS scan. In general, a TIC chromatogram is created by totalling the intensities of all the mass spectral peaks belonging to the same scan over time

Ultra-core shell: uses a solid silica core and a porous outer silica shell. The manufacturing of an ultracore shell utilises an encapsulated bonding technique, which helps to minimise the influence of nonderivatised silanol groups. The end capping reagent is generally a smaller silane (SiH₄), which is later used for derivatisation. This process reduces unwanted interactions between polar or charged analytes, because the number of available silanol groups has been reduced. High efficiency separations can be achieved, comparable with UPLC, but potentially without the high back pressures.

van Deemter curve: this describes the relationship between the height equivalent of a theoretical plate (HETP) and the linear velocity; and is partly dependent on the diameter of the particles packed into the analytical column. A smaller particle diameter can significantly reduce the HETP which results in higher efficiency.

 VO_2 max: The maximum or optimum rate at which the heart, lungs, and muscles can effectively use oxygen during exercise. It is used as a way of measuring a person's individual aerobic capacity.

Overview

Human saliva is increasingly being used for proteomic and biomarker-discovery studies due to the ease of collection and simpler work flow compared to when using plasma and blood samples (Hu *et al.*, 2006). Recently, the combination of emerging biotechnologies and salivary diagnostics has extended the range of saliva-based diagnostics from the oral cavity to the entire physiologic system, as most compounds found in the blood are also present in saliva (Hu *et al.*, 2006; Mori *et al.*, 2006). Saliva contains a variety of electrolytes, enzymes, antibodies (immunoglobulins) and antimicrobial peptides (AMPs), such as defensins, and cathelicidins. Antimicrobial peptides and proteins are important components against invading pathogens (De Smet *et al.*, 2005; Bals *et al.*, 1998). Due to advances in mass spectrometry technologies, liquid chromatography-electrospray ionisation-mass spectrometry (LC-ESI-MS) is now considered one of the most convenient analytical techniques for proteomic studies (Zhao *et al.*, 2014; Li *et al.*, 2012; Wasinger *et al.*, 2013). The advantage of using LC-ESI-MS lies in the fact that it is an extremely sensitive technique that enables the rapid separation and identification of peptides (Vitrino *et al.*, 2000; Gardner *et al.*, 2008).

Mucosal Immunity and AMPs

The mucosal surfaces of the body are thin, permeable barriers and their physiological activities are involved in gas exchange (the lungs), food absorption (the gut), sensory activities (eyes, nose, mouth, and throat), and reproduction (uterus and vagina). These mucosal surfaces are directly exposed to the environment, which makes them particularly vulnerable to infection (Gorr *et al.*, 2009; Boman *et al.*, 2003; Gorr *et al.*, 2011); however, mucosal secretions contribute to innate immunity as the first line of defence, and the salivary glands are considered to be part of the common mucosal immune system (Brandtzaeg *et al.*, 2004). AMPs are relatively small (<10 kDa), cationic and amphipathic peptides of variable chain length, sequence and structure. Over the past two decades, several AMPs have been isolated from diverse animals, both vertebrates and invertebrates, plants, and also from bacteria and fungi. These peptides exhibit a broad-spectrum of activity against a wide range of microorganisms, including Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria, protozoa, yeast, fungi and viruses (Wilson *et al.*, 2013; Mori *et al.*, 2006; Ganz *et al.*, 2003; Lai *et al.*, 2009).

A diverse range of antimicrobial peptides (defensins, histatins and cathelicidins) and proteins (immunoglobulins) are found within saliva, and similar to other mucosal surfaces, many of

these AMPs form a constitutive barrier to prevent foreign micorbes from entering the oral cavity. Each mucosal location has a unique profile of AMPs, and salivary AMPs are produced from different cell sources, e.g. macrophages, neutrophils, and epithelial cells.

Role of AMPs in Exercise and Mucosal Immunity

The immune system provides a unique opportunity to evaluate the role of stress (physiological or physical) and numerous studies have suggested that exercise induces considerable physiological change within the immune system (West *et al.*, 2006; Gleeson *et al.*, 2007; Walsh *et al.*, 2011; Allgrove *et al.*, 2008; Beaven *et al.*, 2008; Moreira *et al.*, 2009; Cadore *et al.*, 2009; Thomas *et al.*, 2009; Usui *et al.*, 2011; Davison *et al.*, 2009). The effect of exercise on mucosal immunity has mainly been focused on salivary immunoglobulins, especially different forms of immunoglobulin and hormones (Gleeson *et al.*, 2000; Usui *et al.*, 2011; Talebi *et al.*, 2013; Laing *et al.*, 2003; Rosa *et al.*, 2014). This is not surprising given that IgA and IgG are the predominant immunoglobulins within saliva and there is a relationship between mucosal immunity and upper respiratory illness symptoms (Neville *et al.*, 2008; Woof *et al.*, 2006). It is well-known that physical and mental stress provokes the release of cortisol from the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, and thus stress can modulate various immune responses (Gleeson *et al.*, 2000).

However, the effects of exercise on other factors within mucosal secretions that contribute to innate immunity have been unexplored. To date, no studies have systematically investigated the effect of acute (minutes to hours) and chronic (days to weeks) changes in AMP concentrations (α -defensins) in saliva before and after exercise or training. Few studies have measured the salivary concentration of human neutrophil α -defensin (HNP1-3) following prolonged training, and in this study HNP1-3 were measured using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) which does not discriminate between individual HNP peptides due to structural similarities (Davison *et al.*, 2009; Gillum *et al.*, 2015; Kunz *et al.*, 2015). Consequently, there is a need to develop an analytical method that will discriminate between defensins. Currently, there is no report within the scientific literature of any investigation that has assessed the relative level of each HNP1-4 by mass spectrometry (MS) in relation to physical stress (exercise), although a few studies have quantified HNP1 by Liquid chromatography coupled with electrospray ionisation (LC-ESI-MS) (Cabras *et al.*, 2010; Goebel *et al.*, 2000; Van den Broek *et al.*, 2010; Peulso *et al.*, 2007; Pisano

et al., 2005; Vitorino *et al.*, 2004). These studies have some limitations, such as insufficient sample clean-up. Davidson (2009) demonstrated that the level of salivary HNP1-3 significantly increased following an aerobic exercise. Another study which focused on AMPs (ß-defensin-2 and cathelicidins LL-37 levels), revealed that an aerobic exercise caused an increase in the saliva concentration of these analytes during and after exercise, whereas salivary IgA concentration and secretion rates decreased after exercise. Usui (2011) suggests that this type of exercise might also modify antimicrobial peptide profiles within oral secretions. The authors concluded that it is possible that aerobic endurance exercise could partly enhance oral innate immunity, although the precise mechanism(s) of the exercise induced an increase in antimicrobial peptides remain unclear.

Research Question

Is high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) ESI-MS a more selective and sensitive technique than ELISA to detect changes of individual HNP1-4 levels in athletes undertaking rigorous exercise intervention?

Aims and objectives

The aims and objectives of this study were to:

- 1. Develop, optimise and validate an LC-ESI-MS method for the detection and relative quantification of salivary α -defensins. This extends to sample preparation.
- 2. Evaluate the physiological responses of HNP1-4 in athletes over a 2.5 h exercise intervention and during recovery (30 mins and 60 mins).
- 3. Determine the salivary α -defensin levels by ELISA.
- 4. Compare the data obtained by HPLC-MS and ELISA with respect to sensitivity, selectivity and reproducibility, and determine if LC-ESI-MS is a viable method for the detection of human α -defensions.
- 5. Determine the levels of stress hormone (cortisol) by ELISA during the exercise intervention and consider if there could be a correlation between changes in α -defensions and stress hormone levels.

Chapter 1 - Introduction

Over the last seventy-five years' interest in salivary research has increased steadily due to the development and advancement of techniques for investigating the biochemical and physicochemical properties of components in saliva. The multifunctional role of saliva in speech, lubrication, digestion, oral and general health, alongside the finding that saliva contains chemical markers which can aid in the detection of systemic disease, has increased interest in this bio-fluid for diagnostic and clinical research (Garett et al., 1975; Mandel et al., 1993; Zhang et al., 2013; Schipper et al., 2007). Interest in salivary research increased from the mid-1950s to mid-1960s, when for the first time, the Burgen and Ellison Group investigated the composition and complexity of saliva (Burgen et al., 1956; Ellison et al., 1960). This chapter introduces the biochemical composition of human saliva, its function and production, together with an introduction to α -defensions. The aim of this chapter is to provide a literature review of the existing analytical work on the detection and quantitation of salivary α-defensins (HNP1-4); therefore, in this chapter, qualitative and quantitative methods for the analysis of HNP peptides are reviewed. Furthermore, this chapter also presents a discussion on how physical stress induces the activation of neutrophils, and the effects of exercise on α -defensions and hormone levels (cortisol) are also highlighted. Finally, the function and production of a commonly used biomarker of physical stress, cortisol, is described, and the reasons for comparing the levels of this stress hormone against levels of antimicrobial peptides.

1.1 Saliva and Diagnostic Perspectives

The liquid chromatography (LC) mass spectrometry (MS) approach has aided the diagnostic potential of plasma and human saliva, especially through the identification and quantification of proteins; however, this is challenged by the large dynamic range of protein abundance within these fluids. Human plasma/serum is dominated by immunoglobulins and albumins that constitute 60-80% of the total weight (Bjorhall *et al.*, 2005), with the most abundant plasma proteins representing 99% of the total protein content of this matrix. The remaining fraction is composed of proteins with a much lower abundance, including proteolytically cleaved protein fragments. However, in whole saliva, the most abundant proteins represent approximately 40% of the saliva protein content (Whiteaker *et al.*, 2007). The salivary proteome contains a larger proportion (14%) of low-molecular-weight proteins (< 20 kDa), in contrast to only 7% for the plasma proteome. The highest fraction of proteins found in whole saliva range in size between

20 and 40 kDa (26%), whereas the 40-60 kDa range is the largest fraction for plasma (18%); in total, 65% of saliva proteins have a molecular weight less than 60 kDa, compared to 36% of plasma proteins. For the proteins that are common between saliva and plasma, the molecular weight distributions are similar to the distributions of the salivary proteome, with a tendency toward the low-molecular-weight end, except for the highest molecular weight range (\geq 200 kDa). Approximately 27% of whole saliva proteins are also found in plasma, and such a significant overlap in protein content between saliva and plasma has led to the proposal that saliva could be used as a diagnostic alternative to blood tests (Loo *et al.*, 2009).

1.2 Saliva

Saliva is an oral liquid secreted by the salivary glands, and human saliva is mainly composed of water (99.55%), with the remaining 0.45% consisting of electrolytes (sodium, potassium, calcium, chloride, magnesium, bicarbonate, and phosphate), enzymes (α -amylase, lipase, ribonuclease, kallikrien, peroxidase, and lysozyme), antibodies (immunoglobulins), proteins (proline rich proteins, mucins), antimicrobial compounds (histatins, cystatins, defensins, and cathelicidins) and hormones (cortisol, testosterone) (Humphrey et al., 2001). The most abundant proteins and peptides within human saliva are proline-rich proteins (PRPs), mucins and amylase (Scarano et al., 2010; Pfaffe et al., 2011; Lamkin et al., 1993). Salivary PRPs are usually divided into acidic (MW 16 kDa), basic (MW 6-9 kDa) and glycosylated (MW 36 kDa) groups (Schenkels et al., 1995). Human saliva contains two types of mucins, termed low and high molecular weight mucin glycoproteins: MG1 (>100 kDa) and MG2 (150-200 kDa) (Schenkels et al., 1995). Amylase is a protein enzyme (40-60 kDa) and is one of the most abundant components present in saliva (Pfaffe et al., 2011). Proline rich proteins are constitutively expressed in humans and 60-70% are secreted from the parotid gland (Kauffman et al., 1979). Pfaffe (2011) and Schenkels (1995) described the major proteins found in unstimulated human saliva, and proline rich proteins were found to account for 37%, in comparison to α -amylase 20%, mucins 20%, cystatins 8%, albumin 8%, IgA 2%, statherins 1%, histatins <1 %, IgM <1 %, IgG <1 %, lysozyme <1 %, lactoferrin <1 %, and cathelicidins and defensins (percentages are not available).

In general, human saliva contains a large array of proteins and peptides that have important biological functions. Protein components that have been identified in all of the major glandular secretions are proline-rich proteins, amylase, statherin, histatins, lysozyme, and secretory IgA; whereas cystatins and mucins have been identified in submandibular/ sublingual secretions

(Yao *et al.*, 2003). However, some proteins are specific to saliva and have no common equivalent with serum proteins; these are synthesised by the acinar cells, for example amalyse and lactoferrin and their secretion is a response to mastication. Interestingly, HNP1-4 were found to be undetectable in the parotid, submandibular, and sublingual glands. As a large number of neutrophils continuously migrate from the blood through the gingival crevice into the oral cavity, salivary HNPs could theoretically be derived from these cells (Abiko *et al.*, 2003; Pisano *et al.*, 2005). Blood components enter the watery fluid of the salivary duct via two processes; active transport or passive diffusion. Within the salivary glands, transfer mechanisms include intracellular and extracellular routes, e.g. movement across membranes via active and passive transport (Figure 1.1), with passive transport being the most common intracellular route.



Figure 1.1 Transport of molecules from blood to salivary glands (Dawn et al., 2008).

Passive transport is the movement of molecular substances across a cell membrane, and unlike active transport, it does not require an input of chemical energy. The movement of molecules depends upon their concentration inside and outside a cell, and molecules move neutrally from an area of high concentration to a lower concentration, known as passive diffusion (Kufman *et al.*, 2002; Wang *et al.*, 2015). Antimicrobial peptides (HNP1-4) are actively secreted into saliva by an energy dependent process (active transport).

1.2.1 Production of Saliva

Saliva is produced by three major glands, the parotid, submandibular and sublingual glands, and by various minor glands. The parotids are the largest glands, located in front of and just below each ear, while the submandibular glands can be found under the tongue, and the sublingual glands are located below the jawbone (Figure 1.2). Minor glands are found in the

lower lip, tongue, palate, cheeks, and pharynx. The terms 'major' and 'minor' refer to the anatomical size of the glands (Edgar *et al.*, 2014) and the major glands produce more saliva (90% of the total volume of saliva) compared to the minor glands. The parotid glands consist of serous acinar cells, which secrete thin, watery, amylase rich saliva, and this is the largest salivary gland in humans.



Figure 1.2 Anatomy of the salivary glands (Larian et al., 2014).

Despite its large size, it only produces approximately 25% of saliva (Edgar et al., 2014). The submandibular gland consists of secretory serous and mucous acinar cells, which produce viscous and mucins-rich saliva. The major function of this mucus is to protect against infectious agents, such as fungi, bacteria and viruses. This gland produces approximately 60% of saliva (Edgar et al., 2014). The sublingual is the smallest of the major salivary glands, and numerous ducts are found under the sublingual folds of the mucous membrane on the floor of the mouth, beneath the tongue near the midline. This gland consists of mucous acinar cells, which secrete fluid that is predominantly mucous in character. Approximately 7-8% of saliva is produced by this gland (Edgar et al., 2014). The structure of the salivary glands consists of a secretory end piece (acini) and a branched ductal system. There are three types of duct present in the salivary glands: intercalated ducts which have a low cuboidal epithelium and a narrow lumen; striated ducts which are lined with columnar cells; and excretory ducts which have cuboid cell types until the terminal section, which is lined with stratified squamous epithelium. In addition, the acini are surrounded by myoepithelial cells, the function of which is to assist in propelling the secretions into the ductal system. The fluid formation within salivary glands occurs in the end pieces (acini), where serous cells produce a watery seromucous secretion and mucous cells produce a viscous mucin-rich secretion. These secretions result from interstitial fluid from blood in capillaries, which is then modified by the end piece cells and secreted into the lumen. From the lumen it passes through the ductal system, where it is further modified, mostly within the striated ducts, where ion exchange occurs and secretions are changed from an isotonic solution to a hypotonic one. The composition of saliva is further modified in the excretory ducts before it is finally secreted into the mouth (Edgar et al., 2014). Each salivary gland produces and secretes either serous or mucous fluid; serous fluid is enriched with proteins and water, whereas mucous fluid is enriched with glycoproteins and water. The salivary glands have a high blood flow and the salivary secretion is exclusively controlled by the sympathetic and parasympathetic autonomic nervous system.

1.2.2 Function of Saliva

Salivary function can be organised into five major categories that serve to maintain oral health and create an appropriate ecologic balance (Table 1.1): (1) buffering action and clearance; (2) antibacterial activity; (3) maintenance of tooth integrity; (4) taste and digestion; and (5) lubrication and protection (Moss *et al.*, 1995; Mandel *et al.*, 1985).

| Function | Components | Mechanisms |
|--------------------------------|---|--|
| Buffering action and clearance | Sodium, potassium, calcium, bicarbonate, phosphate, urea, proteins | Saliva buffers neutralises the acids produced by microorganisms and maintain salivary pH. |
| Antibacterial action | Immunoglobulins (IgA, IgG, IgM), mucins, lysozymes, peroxidase, proteins, peptides | The immunoglobulins neutralise viruses, serve as antibodies for bacterial antigens, and work to aggregate bacteria; thus inhibiting bacterial attachment to dental tissue. |
| Maintenance of tooth integrity | Calcium, phosphate, proteins | Help to maintain the integrity of teeth by modulating remineralisation and demineralisation. |
| Taste and digestion | Amylase, lipase | The hypotonicity of saliva enhances the tasting capacity of salty food and nutrient sources depending on the presence of zinc. Taste and digestion of carbohydrates are achieved through α -amylase which breaks up the carbohydrate into sugars while saliva lipase initiates fat digestion. |
| Lubrication | Mucins, statherins, proline rich proteins | Mucins are responsible for lubrication (to protect against dehydration) and also maintenance of salivary viscosity. Mucins also protect oral tissues against proteolytic attack by microorganisms. Lubricant effects help mastication, speech and deglutition. |

Table 1.1 The function, components and mechanisms of saliva (Nielsen et al., 2008).

1.3 Defensins: Antimicrobial peptide

Antimicrobial peptides are small (<100 amino acids) cationic peptides that demonstrate antimicrobial activity. Defensins constitute a major family of antimicrobial peptides that play a central role in infection and inflammation, where they act as part of the host defences against infectious agents, including bacteria, viruses, fungi and parasites (Lai *et al.*, 2009). Based primarily on the spacing between the cysteine residues and the topology of the disulphide bridges, defensins are organised into three classes; α , β and θ (Hazlett *et al.*, 2011). Human α -

defensins are small (3500 - 4000 Da) peptides, whereas, β -defensins are larger (4000 - 7000 Da). A third novel class of defensins has been identified in rhesus macaque leukocytes, which is only 18 amino acids in length and is referred to as θ -defensins (Tang *et al.*, 1999; Nguyen *et al.*, 2003; Selsted *et al.*, 2005; Wang *et al.*, 2014). Nguyen (2003) reported that θ -defensins are structurally dissimilar to α and β defensin family and are only found in non-human primates. Defensins have also been identified in many multicellular organisms, including plants, such as *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Thomma *et al.*, 2002), invertebrates, such as *Mytilus edulis* and *Mytilus galloprovincialis* (Charlet *et al.*, 1996; Hubert *et al.*, 1996; Thomma *et al.*, 2002), and other vertebrate animals, such as rabits (Selsted *et al.*, 1984), rats, guinea pigs, hamsters, mice (Lehrer *et al.*, 2002).

1.3.1 α-Defensins

In 1985 the Lehrer Group isolated a family of α -defensing from human blood (Selsted *et al.*, 1985), and based on the source, property and size, these peptides were named the human neutrophil peptides (HNP1, HNP2, and HNP3). These three defensins have nearly identical amino acid sequences. It is believed that HNP2, which is 29 amino acids in length, could arise following post-translational proteolytic cleavage of the N-terminal amino acid of HNP1 or HNP3 (Wang et al., 2014). A fourth human neutrophil defensin (HNP4) was isolated and characterised form an azurophil granule (Wilde et al., 1989). HNP4 has a distinct peptide sequence of 33 amino acids (Table 1.2). HNP1, HNP2 and HNP3, which differ only by the first amino acid, account for 5-7% of the total neutrophil proteins; whereas, HNP4 compromises less than 2% of the total defensins found within neutrophils (Klotman et al., 2006; Wilde et al., 1989; Selsted et al., 1985). In 1992 and 1993, Jones and colleagues identified human defensins 5 and 6 (HD5 and HD6), a family of α -defensing from human paneth cells. HD5 and HD6 also have a distinct peptide sequence of 32 amino acids (Table 1.2). In total, six α -defensions have been found in humans (Klotman *et al.*, 2006). Human α -defensins 1-4 are designated as human neutrophil peptides (HNP1, HNP2, HNP3, and HNP4), as they are mainly expressed by neutrophils (Ganz et al., 1985). However, HD5 and HD6 peptides are tissue specific, as they are only expressed in the paneth cells of human intestines and the female reproductive system (Wang et al., 2014).

1.3.2 β-Defensins

 β -defensins are found primarily in association with epithelial surfaces in humans, in particular, the skin, gut, trachea, and oral epithelia, particularly the gingiva (Table 1.3). Members of the human β -defensin family were identified in 1990s. The first β -defensin (HBD1) was reported

in the plasma and epithelial cells of the urinary and respiratory tract (Bensch et al., 1995; Valore et al., 1998). Human β -defensin 2 (HBD2) was isolated from psoriatic skin using an affinity chromatography procedure utilising columns coated with microbial components (Harder et al., 1997), and is expressed on skin and epithelia of the respiratory and gastrointestinal tract (Bals et al., 1998; Haynes et al., 1999). In addition, HBD3 was discovered through bioinformatics and functional genomic analyses of the Human Genome Project (Gracia et al., 2001). However, in order to prove the existence of this peptide, the tissue distribution of HBD3 expression was evaluated via real-time quantitative (RT-PCR) and it was detected in the uterus, lungs, kidney, prostate, neutrophils, placenta, testis, heart and skeletal muscle (Gracia et al., 2001). In the same year, Harder (2001) reported the detection of HBD3 in skin tissues by high performance liquid chromatography (RP-HPLC). Later, Dunsche (2002) reported the detection of HBD3 in oral tissue through real-time quantitative RT-PCR. Likewise, HBD4 was also predicted based on the screenings of genomic sequences, and HBD4 expression was evaluated by real-time quantitative RT-PCR and detected in the uterus, neutrophils, lung, kidney, thyroid gland, and testis (Gracia et al., 2001). Recently, Li (2016) has also determined the levels of HBD1, HBD2, HBD3 and HBD4 by RT-PCR in gingival epithelia tissue. For human β -defensions, more than 28 transcriptionally active β -defensing energy have been found in the human genome, based on a computational search strategy (Schutte et al., 2002; Pazgier et al., 2006). Pazgier (2006) compiled a list of β -defensin genes, but despite the significant progress made in the identification of these peptides in recent years, the structure-function relationship of β defensins remains unexplored. To date, only a few genes have been cloned, isolated and fully characterised (HBD1-4) at the protein/peptide level (Suarez et al., 2015). In humans the most studied β -defensing are HBD1-4, therefore these are highlighted in Table 1.3. The secondary structure of the defensin family depends upon the disulphide bridges between the six cysteine residues. The disulphide bridges between the cysteine residues in the six α -defensine are between Cys^1 - Cys^6 , Cys^2 - Cys^4 and Cys^3 - Cys^5 , whereas in the four β -defensions the bridges are between Cys¹-Cys⁵, Cys²-Cys⁴, and Cys³-Cys⁶ (Tang *et al.*, 1999).

1.3.3 Defensins and their Multifunctional Role

To date, both α and β -defensins have demonstrated broad antibacterial activity. The antibacterial properties of the six human α -defensins against the Gram-positive bacteria *Staphylococcus aureus* and the Gram-negative bacteria *Enterobacter aerogenes* and *Escherichia coli* were investigated by Harder (1999), and the results indicate that their potential antibacterial activities against *S. aureus* were HNP2>HNP1>HNP3>HNP4, whereas the

potential microbicidal effects against gram negative bacteria (E. coli and E. aerogenes) were HNP4>HNP2>HNP1=HNP3. HBD1-4 has also been shown to possess microbicidal activities in vitro against a variety of bacteria (Harder et al., 2001; Gracia et al., 2001), and it was reported that HBD2 preferentially kills Gram-negative bacteria, such as Pseudomonas aeruginosa, rather than Gram-positive bacteria, such as S. aureus (Harder et al., 1999). Compared to HNP2, HNP1 and HNP3 contain an additional amino acid residue at the Nterminus: alanine in HNP1 and aspartate in HNP3, and this additional acidic residue in HNP3 may make it less active than HNP1 or HNP2 in killing S. aureus, S. aeruginosa, and E. coli. HD5 has been shown to be as effective as HNP2 against S. aureus and also as effective as HNP4 against Gram-negative bacteria, whereas HD6 shows little or no antibacterial activity. Although the structure and multifunctional role of HNP1-3 has been extensively studied due to their structural similarity, HNP4, HD5 and HD6 have been less well studied because of the absence of an efficient method (Wu et al., 2004). The action of HNP1 was studied in relation to the tuberculosis pathogen Mycobacterium tuberculosis, and it was found to lead to significant clearance of the tuberculosis pathogen from the lung, liver and spleen of infected mice (Sharma et al., 2001). To confirm this finding, HNP1-3 levels were measured by radioimmunoassay and were found to be significantly higher in the plasma fluid of patients with tuberculosis than that of healthy subjects. This suggests the involvement of HNPs in the pathogenesis of tuberculosis, and the assessment of their plasma levels could be a useful marker of disease severity (Ashitani et al., 2002). HBDs have also been found to be capable of adherence to the tuberculosis pathogen (Hazlet et al., 2011; Santiago et al., 2005, 2006; Fattorini et al., 2004). In terms of their antifungal activities, HNP1-3 has been shown to be active against Candida albicans and Candida neoformans (De Smet et al., 2005), and in vitro, purified HNP4 has been demonstrated to kill C. albicans (Wilde et al., 1989). Studies have suggested that AMPs can interact with a variety of molecular targets, present either on the cell surface (including membranes) or within cells. The most common proposal for this action is that AMPs interact with the lipid bilayers of a microorganism. The mechanism of action depends on the electrostatic interactions between the cationic peptide characteristics of the defensins and the negatively charged phospholipid components present in the microbial membranes. This proposal is supported by the fact that several members of each defensin class are effective microbicides against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria, and fungi in vitro (Ganz et al., 2003; Lehrer et al., 1985, 1989; Ericksen et al., 2005; Selested et al., 2005; Wilson et al., 2013).

| Year | Name | Sequence | Length | Mw* | Cell sources | Biological fluid | Activity |
|------|------|-----------------------------------|--------|---------|---|--|----------|
| | | | (AA) | (Da) | | | |
| 1985 | HNP1 | ACYCRIPACIAGERRYGTCIYQGRLWAFCC | 30 | 3442.08 | Neutrophils, monocytes, macrophages, natural killer cells, B cells and T cells | Saliva, Plasma, Breast milk, BALF, Serum, Tears | G, V, F |
| 1985 | HNP2 | CYCRIPACIAGERRYGTCIYQGRLWAFCC | 29 | 3371.00 | Neutrophils, monocytes, macrophages, natural killer cells, B cells and T cells | Saliva, Plasma, Breast milk, BALF, Serum, Tears | G, V, F |
| 1985 | HNP3 | DCYCRIPACIAGERRYGTCIYQGRLWAFCC | 30 | 3486.09 | Neutrophils, monocytes, macrophages, natural killer cells, B cells and T cells | Saliva, Plasma, Breast milk, BALF, Serum, Tears | G, V, F |
| 1989 | HNP4 | VCSCRLVFCRRTELRVGNCLIGGVSFTYCCTRV | 33 | 3709.45 | Neutrophils | Saliva, Plasma, Breast milk, BALF, Serum, Tears | G, V, F |
| 1992 | HD5 | ATCYCRTGRCATRESLSGVCEISGRLYRLCCR | 32 | 3582.18 | Intestinal paneth cells and vaginal epithelial cells (HD5 only) | ND | G, V, F |
| 1993 | HD6 | AFTCHCRRSCYSTEYSYGTCTVMGINHRFCCL | 32 | 3708.27 | Intestinal paneth cells | ND | V, F |

Table 1.2 Structural, biological source and antimicrobial activity of α-defensins family (Wang *et al.*, 2014; Klotman *et al.*, 2006).

*Disulphide connectivity Cys^2 - Cys^{30} , Cys^4 - Cys^{19} , Cys^9 - Cys^{29} (HNP1, HNP3, HNP4), Cys^1 - Cys^{29} , Cys^3 - Cys^{18} , Cys^8 - Cys^{28} (HNP2), Cys^3 - Cys^{31} , Cys^5 - Cys^{20} , Cys^{10} - Cys^{30} (HD5), Cys^4 - Cys^{31} , Cys^6 - Cys^{20} , Cys^{10} - Cys^{30} (HD6). G = Gram positive and Gram negative bacteria; V= viruses; F= fungi; AA = Amino acid. Peptide: HD = human α -defensin; HNP= human neutrophil peptide. Biological fluid: BALF= Bronchoalveolar lavage fluid; ND= not detected.

| Years | Name | Sequence | Length (AA) | Mw* (Da) | Cell sources | Biological fluid | Activity |
|-------|------|---|----------------|-------------|--|-----------------------|----------|
| 1995 | HBD1 | DHYNCVSSGGQCLYSACPIFTKI QGTCYRGKAKCCK | 36 | 3928.56 | Epithelial cells, monocytes, macrophages, monocyte-derived dendritic cells, keratinocytes, pancreas, kidney, lung, prostate, placenta, thymus, and testis | Saliva, Plasma | G, F |
| 1997 | HBD2 | GIGDPVTCLKSGAICHPVFCPRR YKQIGTCGLPGTKCCKKP | 40 | 4328.22 | Epithelial cells, monocytes, macrophages, monocyte-derived dendritic cells and keratinocytes | Saliva, Plasma | G, V, F |
| 2001 | HBD3 | GIINTLQKYYCRVRGGRCAVLSC LPKEEQIGKCSTRGRKCCRRKK | 44 | 5155.19 | Epithelial cells, monocytes, macrophages, monocyte-derived dendritic cells and keratinocytes | Saliva Plasma (ND) | G, V, F |
| 2001 | HBD4 | FELDRICGYGTARCRKKCRSQE YRIGRCPNTYACCLRKWDESLL NRTKP | 48 | 4366.11 | Epithelial cells | Saliva Plasma (ND) | G |

Table 1.3 Structural, biological source and antimicrobial activity of β-defensins family (Wang *et al.*, 2014; Klotman *et al.*, 2006; Fang *et al.*, 2003).

*Disulphide connectivity Cys⁵-Cys³⁴, Cys¹²-Cys²⁷, Cys¹⁷-Cys³⁵ (HBD1), Cys⁸-Cys³⁷, Cys¹⁵-Cys³⁰, Cys²⁰-Cys³⁸ (HBD2), Cys¹¹-Cys⁴⁰, Cys¹⁸-Cys³³, Cys²³-Cys⁴¹ (HBD3), Cys⁶-Cys³³, Cys¹³-Cys²⁷, Cys¹⁷-Cys³⁴ (HBD4). G = Gram positive and Gram negative bacteria; V = viruses; F = fungi; AA = Amino acid. Peptide: HBD = human β -defensin; ND= not detected.

Both α and β -defensins are active against human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) (Mehlotra *et al.*, 2016), and De Leeuw (2007) has compiled the modes of action of defensins against HIV. The inhibition of HIV replication was first reported for α -defensins (Nakashima *et al.*, 1993; De Leeuw *et al.*, 2007), and more recently, anti-HIV activities have been described for human α and β -defensins (Wang *et al.*, 2003: Zhang *et al.*, 2002). A number of mechanisms for anti-HIV activity by defensins have been proposed, including the suggestion of a direct interaction of defensins with the virus itself. Gracia *et al.* (2010) reported that HNP1-3 levels, as assessed by ELISA, in monocyte-derived dendritic cells were significantly higher in HIV-infected patients with greater secretions of HNP1–3 had a significantly lower risk of disease progression (Gracia *et al.*, 2010). However, a few recent studies have reported that higher α -defensin levels are associated with increased HIV acquisition, and thus these peptides can be regarded as a risk factor (Pellett Madan *et al.*, 2015; Hirbod *et al.*, 2014). Nevertheless, the role of defensins in HIV infection and diseases progression requires further investigation (Melthora *et al.*, 2016).

In addition to their antimicrobial activity, increasing evidence suggests that defensins may also play a significant role in infectious diseases and cancer. Increased levels of HNP1-3, as measured by ELISA, were reported in the serum of colorectal cancer patients (Melle *et al.*, 2005; Albrethsen *et al.*, 2005; Albrethsen *et al.*, 2006) and were significantly higher compared to healthy subjects. HNP1 and average response of HNP1-3 were found at significantly higher levels in oral squamous cell carcinoma (Mizukhawa *et al.*, 1999), breasts cancers (Li *et al.*, 2005), bladder cancer (Gunes *et al.*, 2013), pulmonary disease (Paone *et al.*, 2011) and sepsis (Panyutich *et al.*, 1993). The upregulation of HNP1-3 originates from tumour infiltrating immune cells, including neutrophils (Droin *et al.*, 2010). An immunochemistry based study reported that tumour cells could produce HNP1-3 peptides by themselves (Muller *et al.*, 2002; Melle *et al.*, 2005). However, the exact mechanism awaits further investigation. Therefore, in the near future it may be possible to use α -defensins to monitor advanced diseases. Taken together, both α and β defensins play a multiple role in innate immunity. In this study, α defensins (HNP1-4) were investigated and in the following subsection the focus will be on this family.

1.4 Published Work on α-Defensins

Within the last fifteen years, the number of publications relating to human neutrophil α -defensins (HNP1-4) has increased significantly (Figure 1.3). The keywords: human neutrophil α -defensins were used following US National Liberary of Medicine and National Institues of Health (NCBI) Pubmed search engine in order to determine the number of manuscripts published concerning this family of peptides (Siqueira *et al.*, 2011). Defensins initially attracted interest due to their potent multifunctional role against pathogens.



Figure 1.3 Numbers of published manuscripts on α -defensins from the period of 1986 to 2015. The bar chart derived from US National Liberary of Medicine and National Institues of Health (NCBI) Pubmed search engine (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/?term=human+neutrophil+alpha+defensins).

The role of antimicrobial peptides is particularly important in the oral cavity where there is constant challenge by microorganisms. In periodontal health and disease, neutrophils play a critical role in defending the host against infection by ingesting and killing invading microorganisms. Therefore, the aims of the existing publication were various and included investigation of the structural aspects of these biomarkers, how neutrophil is active against microbes, identification of these peptides, and evaluation of their levels in various oral and systemic diseases. Overall, the bar chart (Figure 1.3) represents an insight into the interest that has been growing throughout the years on human neutrophil α - defensins. These were analysed from the period of 1986 to 2015 via the PubMed search engine. With regard to the number of existing works on human neutrophil α -defensin in various biological fluid (plasma, serum, saliva) and the number analysed by ELISA and radioimmunoassay (RIA) were higher compared to analysis using MS. Interestingly, only a few studies have reported the detection levels of human neutrophil α -defensins in saliva by mass spectrometer (Figure 1.3). Therefore, the next subsection reviewed the analytical techniques that have been used to separate and

detect the α -defensing family in a saliva matrix, as well as a comparison of the analytical techniques in relation to sensitivity and specificity.

1.5 Existing Analytical Techniques for the Detection and Quantitation of α-Defensins

In the past decade the development of mass spectrometry has led to a new era in biological biomarker discovery that potentially will have a huge impact on future disease diagnosis (Wasinger *et al.*, 2013; Scherl *et al.*, 2015; Grebe *et al.*, 2016). To date, analyses of α -defensins (HNP1-4) present within plasma and serum has mostly been performed via immunoassays. Proteome analysis by mass spectrometry is a relatively new technique compared to immunoassays, but it is believed that in the near future mass spectrometry will replace immunoassays for routine analysis (Scherl *et al.*, 2015; Grebe *et al.*, 2016). The focus of the subsection will be on the detection of salivary α -defensins (HNPs) by antibody-based techniques, LC-ESI-MS, LC-UV, and other mass spectrometry techniques.

1.5.1 Antibody Based Techniques

An enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) and radioimmunoassay (RIA) are simple, convenient and can achieve high throughput when automated (Rosner et al., 2007). The RIA developed by Yalow and Berson (1959) involves radioactively labelling a known quantity of an antigen before mixing with a known amount of antibodies specific for the antigen and allowing the two to chemically bind. A sample containing an unknown amount of antigen is added and this competes with the radioactively labelled antigen for binding sites. Increasing the amount of non-radioactively labelled compound results in a concomitant decrease in the amount of radioactive compound bound to the antibody, and the amount of bound antigen is measured using a gamma counter. The readings obtained can be used to create a calibration curve, and subsequently, concentrations of unknown samples can be extrapolated from this (Hawker et al., 1973); a RIA can be accurate and highly reliable (Furuyama et al., 1970; Dufau et al., 1972). Alternatively, a 96-well plate is coated with antibodies specific to the compound of interest and an enzyme-linked compound competes with known/unknown and unlinked amounts of the compound for antibody binding sites. Unbound compound is washed off the plate and bound compound is measured by its reaction with a substrate, as illustrated by a colour change. Absorbance values are read using a plate reader and a calibration curve is constructed for quantification (Lequin et al., 2005). The main difference between an ELISA and a RIA is the manner in which the 'tracer' antigen is labelled (Booth *et al.*, 1982).
An ELISA measures the average response of HNP1-3 and has been widely used since 1993 to assess various oral and systemic diseases. For example, the average concentration of defensins (HNP1-3) present in plasma was measured and was found to reach micro molar concentrations in septic patients (Panyutich et al., 1993). Mukae (2007) examined the levels of HNP1-3 (average response) in the serum of patients with various lung diseases, and in another study, HNP1-3 (average response) concentrations in serum were found to be elevated in colon cancer patients (Melle et al., 2005), while more recently, the concentrations of HNP1-3 were measured in the serum of patients with acute exacerbation of fibrotic interstitial pneumonia (Sakamoto et al., 2015). The evaluation of salivary HNP1-3 levels (average) were examined in patients with oral disease (Mumcu et al., 2012), and a few studies have also determined salivary HNP1-3 levels after physiological stress (Davison *et al.*, 2009; Gillum *et al.*, 2015; Kunz *et al.*, 2015). Many other studies also have reported average responses for HNP1-3 concentrations in plasma and serum matrices for various systemic diseases by ELISA (Gunes et al., 2013; Milewski et al., 2011; Paone et al., 2011; Vordenbaumen et al., 2010; Albrethsen et al., 2006; Albrethsen et al., 2005). In addition, average concentrations of HNP1-3 have also been measured from the plasma of patients with various systemic disease by RIA (Yamaguchi et al., 2009; Hoover et al., 1997; Mukae et al., 2002; Ashtani et al., 2002; Ashthani et al., 1998). Antibody based assays provide high sensitivity and the detection of a particular analyte is relatively straightforward. However, for the detection of defensins, an antibody based approach is limited by the lack of availability of antibodies with high enough specificity to distinguish between HNP1, 2 and 3. In general, antibody-based assays do not discriminate between closely related isoforms. Most readily available assays measure the average responses for the three defensins, with a limit of detection in human plasma and serum of 0.00015 ng/ μ L (ELISA) and for plasma analysis 0.022 ng/µL (RIA) (Table 1.4). Recently (2016), My BioSource has introduced an ELISA kit for the analysis of individual HNP1, HNP2 and HNP3, which reports a limit of detection of 0.0001 ng/µL for HNP1, 0.0001 ng/µL for HNP2, (0.00187 ng/µL for HNP3, and $3x10^{-5}$ ng/µL for HNP4. However, this kit has not yet been validated for the detection of defensins present in a saliva matrix. In addition, the cost of the commercially available ELISA kits for individual HNP1-3 is £499.99 (1 x 30 sample runs corresponding to 5 participants). Other biomedical companies, such as Kamiya (Seattle, USA) and Cell Sciences (Massachusetts, USA), previously offered individual kits, however, these have now been discontinued.

1.5.2 Liquid Chromatography based Techniques

1.5.2.1 LC-UV

To date, high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) is one of the most popular analytical techniques, and it has the ability to separate, identify, and quantitate compounds that are present in any sample that can be dissolved in a liquid (Kupiec et al., 2004). HPLC uses a liquid mobile phase to transport analytes through a packed stationary phase column. In addition, HPLC is equipped with a detector which is used to respond to a physiochemical property of an analyte (Lloyd et al., 2010). Few studies have been conducted on the detection and quantitation of individual α-defensins by HPLC-UV (Table 1.4). In 1999 the levels of human defensin (HNP1) were determined in the human saliva of patients with oral inflammation (Mizukhawa et al., 1999), and higher levels were found in patients with oral and maxillofacial inflammation compared to control samples. Whole saliva samples were subjected to centrifugation and a 10 µL aliquot of the supernatant was separated on a reverse phase column. Defensin (HNP1) was quantified by comparing the peak height of the eluted defensin from the saliva sample with a HNP1 standard. Similar to the findings of Mizukhawa et al., the absolute concentration of HNP1 was also elevated in saliva of patients with oral candidiasis (Tanida et al., 2003; Kuchukkolbasi et al., 2011). However, concerns exist with regards to the separation of HNPs (co-elution due to their structural similarities) and sample preparation (HNPs retention time interferes with that of other salivary glycoproteins). The limit of detection for the analysis of salivary HNP1 by LC-UV was reported as 100 ng/ μ L. Nevertheless, a good correlation (R² = 0.982) was observed for the EIC peak areas of HNP1-3 using LC-UV and LC-MS when comparing gingival crevicular fluid (Cabras et al., 2005). In addition, gingival crevicular fluid does not contain proline rich proteins and peptides.

1.5.2.2 LC-MS

The electrospray ionisation (ESI) mechanism was investigated forty-seven years ago, when Dole and his group studied the ionisation mechanism of ESI (Dole *et al.*, 1968), although the real breakthrough took place in 1988, when Fenn and co-workers demonstrated that ESI is suitable for larger biomolecules, and the Nobel Prize in Chemistry was awarded for this work in 2002. ESI-MS allows large, non-volatile molecules to be directly analysed from a liquid phase and is normally coupled with a separation technique, such as HPLC (Gelpi *et al.*, 1995; Niessen *et al.*, 1995). HPLC-ESI-MS has become one of the most widely-used analytical techniques for the analysis and sequencing of peptides (Fenn *et al.*, 1989; Cao *et al.*, 1998; Owens *et al.*, 1998), and is also used for analysing carbohydrates, oligonucleotides, natural

products, pesticides, and small molecules (Herderich *et al.*, 1997; Strege *et al.*, 1999; Apffel *et al.*, 1998). The process of mass analysis in LC-MS involves the separation of analyte ions by a mass analyser and is central to this technology.

1.5.2.2.1 Mass analysers

There are three basic types of mass analysers currently used in proteomics research; the ion trap, time-of-flight (TOF), and quadrupole or mass filter. The quadrupole mass analyser was first described in the 1950s by the Nobel Prize-winner Wolfgang Paul. A quadrupole (Q) mass analyser has four parallel electrical rods typically with circular cross sections; two rods carry a positive charge and the other two rods carry a negative charge. In general, a higher radio frequency (RF) is applied to two rods and the other two are linked with a direct current (DC). Ions, formed in the ionisation chamber, are pulsed towards a quadrupole by an electrical field in the range of 5 kV. Consequently, positively charged ions travel towards negatively charged rods and negatively charged ions travel towards positively charged rods. Once the polarity has been changed, the ions switch their movement pathway before striking the rods and thus are transmitted through. The ions enter through a small orifice present at the centre of the rods and undergo specific trajectories based upon their m/z values. Only ions with very short/narrow intervals for their m/z values have stable trajectories and successfully pass through the quadrupole rods to the detector. All other ions with lower or higher m/z values have unstable trajectories and are filtered out (Pasa et al., 2004). The major advantages of quadrupole analysers are low cost, relatively small size, robustness, and ease of maintenance.

A single quadrupole system contains only one mass filtering quadrupole, while a triple quadrupole system consists of three quadrupoles. In a triple quadrupole, Q1 and Q3 act as mass filters, while Q2 is acts as a collisional cell. A quadrupole possesses limited capability in terms of mass range (usually <4000 m/z), resolving power, and the ability to perform MS/MS analysis. This final disadvantage can be overcome by attaching additional quadrupoles, such as in a triple quadrupole instrument (QQQ) or linking to a time-of-flight analyser (QToF). The time-of-flight ion separation methodology is one of the simplest and most popular analysers for mass spectrometers. It relies on the free flight of the ionised molecules in a drift tube before reaching the detector (Aneed *et al.*, 2009). The time required for an ion to travel a set distance and strike a detector enables the m/z ratio to be calculated.

Table 1.4 Quantitation of HNPs using ELISA, LC-UV and LC-MS.

| Technique | Peptide | Sample Matrix | Limit of Detection | Advantages | Disadvantages | Reference | |
|-----------|----------------------|---------------|--------------------|---|---|---|--|
| ELISA | HNP1-3 | Plasma | 0.00015 [1] | High sensitivity | Less specific (not possible to discriminate between individual | 1. Sakamoto <i>et al.</i> , 2015 2. This work (ELISA) | |
| | HNP1-3 | Saliva | 0.00015 [2] | _ | similarities) | | |
| LC-UV | HNP1 | Saliva | 100 [3] | Fast analysis | Low sensitivity and less specific. Quantitation is based on retention time | Mizukhawa <i>et al.</i>, 1999 Kucukkolbasi <i>et al.</i>, 2011 Tanida <i>et al.</i>, 2003 | |
| | HNP1 | Saliva | 100 [4] | _ | | | |
| | HNP1 | Saliva | 100 [5] | _ | | | |
| | HNP1 HNP2 | Saliva | 100 [6] | High mass resolution, high | Ion source can be difficult to clean and has a tendency to become contaminated with residues from previous experiments. | Goebel <i>et al.</i>, 2000 Van den Broek <i>et al.</i>, 2010 This work | |
| | HNP1 HNP2 HNP3 | Plasma | 0.003 [7] | sensitivity and specificity for HNPs | | | |
| LC-MS | HNP1 HNP2 HNP3 | Serum | 0.003 [7] | _ | | | |
| | HNP2 | Saliva | 0.05 [8] | | | | |

When an electric field is applied to a free ion, it will give the ion a kinetic energy of zV, where z is the ion charge and V is the applied voltage. The flight time (t) is determined by the energy (E) to which an ion is accelerated, the distance (d) it has to travel, and its mass to the charge ratio. There are two well know formulae that apply to time-of-flight analysis. One is the formula for kinetic energy:

$$E = 1/2mv^2$$

where,

E= kinetic energy m = mass v = velocity

The above equation explains that for a given kinetic energy, E, smaller masses will have larger velocities, and larger masses will have smaller velocities. Instead of measuring velocity, it is much easier to measure the time it takes an ion to reach the detector. The second equation is the familiar velocity (v) equals distance (d) divide by time (t): v = d/t. This gives the basic time-of-flight relationship. For a given energy (E) and distance (d), the mass is proportional to the square of the flight time of the ion.

In ion trap analysers the ions are first captured or trapped for a specific interval (Aebersold *et al.*, 2003). The ion trap analyser employs similar principles as the quadrupole analyser, as it uses an electric field for the separation of ions via mass to charge ratios and then traps ions in a controlled manner. A quadrupole ion trap analyser has a ring electrode and an end cap electrode. The ion trap is operated by a fixed RF frequency supplied to the ring electrode whilst the endcap electrode has a constant DC current (usually = 0). An ion trap operates by storing ions in a trap and manipulating those using DC and RF electric fields in a series of carefully timed events (Chromacademy 2010). The main difference between an ion trap and quadrupole is that an ion trap is capable of trapping ions for long periods of time (milliseconds to *days*), providing plenty of time for ions to fall apart spontaneously (unimolecular decomposition), to experience undesirable interactions with other ions (space charge effects), and neutral molecules (ion-molecule reactions). This provides some unique capabilities, such as extended length MS/MS experiments and high sensitivity.

1.5.2.2.2 Mode of acquiring LC-MS data

The most common modes of acquiring LC-MS data are full scan (resulting the total ion count), selected ion monitoring (SIM) and multiple reaction ion monitoring (MRM). The most

selective mode to use for single quadrupole MS is SIM, where a fixed set of DC and RF voltages is applied to the quadrupole and thus only a single m/z can pass, while ions with different m/z ratios are filtered out. MRM is the common mode when using a triple quadrupole MS/MS for quantitative analysis, allowing enhanced sensitivity and selectivity. The first quadrupole filters a specific precursor ion of interest, and the collision cell is optimised to produce a characteristic product ion by collision of the precursor ion with a neutral collision gas, such as argon, in a process termed collision induced dissociation (CID). Generated product ions are transferred into the third quadrupole where a number of specific m/z ions are allowed to pass, and all other product ions are filtered out (Schreiber et al., 2010; Schulze et al., 2010). Mass spectrometry profiling of the proteome and peptidome is a relatively new concept in clinical diagnostics. Since its introduction at the beginning of 2000, peptide analysis has offered a new promising approach for the quantitative-qualitative analysis of endogenous peptides present in biological samples (Grebe et al., 2015; Terraciano et al., 2011). Quantitation of HNPs in various biological fluids has been acquired through either the full scan range or MS/MS mode and the next subsection highlights some of these studies. Of the many LC-ESI-MS-based studies involving biological fluids (serum, plasma, saliva, bronchoalveolar lavage fluid and tears), only one report validated an LC-ESI-MS method for the detection of plasma and serum α -defensins (Van den Broek *et al.*, 2010).

1.5.2.2.3 Full scan and MS/MS

The levels of HNP1-3 in human saliva were quantified following an external standard (HNP1, HNP2) calibration curve (absolute quantitation) method using the extracted ion chromatogram (EIC) peak area (Goebel *et al.*, 2000). Unstimulated saliva was collected and solid phase extraction was used for the clean-up of the saliva samples prior to LC-MS analysis. The purpose of the study by Goebel *et al.* (2000) was to identify HNP1-3 present in human saliva and therefore both full scan (400 – 1600 m/z) and MS/MS data acquisition was utilised. HNP1 and HNP2 were identified in saliva [M + 4H]⁴⁺ and [M + 5H]⁵⁺; however, HNP3 was only tentatively identified. In order to confirm the presence of HNP3 the authors compared the MS/MS product ion pattern of HNP1 and HNP2 with the tentatively identified [M + 5H]⁵⁺ ion of HNP3.The authors highlighted that defensins are complicated compounds to sequence by LC/MS/MS due to the presence of the three disulphide bridges; hence, the assignment of the exact sequence sections and charge state of the peaks was not carried out. The limit of detection of HNP1 and HNP2 by a triple stage quadrupole detector was determined to be 0.1 ng/µL. Defensins were separated via a C18 column (150 x 2.1 mm) with 5-µm particle size (Grace

Alltech Alltima), eluting the peptides over a 60-minute gradient. Gardner (2009) highlighted that the disulphide linkages present in these peptides are not amenable to fragmentation via standard low-energy collisional activation, and must be reduced in order to produce appropriate product ions. Unstimulated saliva samples were cleaned by solid phase extraction analysis and the levels of HNP1-3 were quantified using an internal standard (bradykinin) calibration curve (absolute quantitation) method using an EIC peak area. Their study confirms that individual HNP1-3 profiles are different from each other. Tandem MS analysis was performed using a Thermo LTQ ion trap mass spectrometer and exploratory tandem MS experiments were also carried out for all defensin standards using AB Sciex API 4000 triple quadrupole mass spectrometer. The purpose of Gardner's study was to optimise a tandem method for the analysis of salivary HNP1-3 and therefore, no other effects (stability, precision and matrix) were reported.

An LC-ESI-MS method for the analysis of individual α -defensins (HNP1-3) present in plasma and serum was validated by Van den Broek et al. (2010). Peptides were extracted from plasma and serum by protein precipitation with 1% TFA (v/v) in acetonitrile and the samples were subjected to centrifugation (5 min; $14,000 \times g$) at room temperature. The supernatant was collected and evaporated under nitrogen air, and the lyophilised powder was reconstituted with acetonitrile/water/formic acid (25/75/0.25, v/v) before LC-MS analysis. Individual HNP1-3 levels were quantified following the addition of an internal standard (human defensins 5, HD5) using the EIC peak area for absolute quantitation. However, Van den Broek et al. (2010) observed examples of ion suppression by the internal standard (HD5) and recommended the use of isotope-labelled internal standards for the absolute quantification of levels of individual HNP1-3. The limit of detection by triple stage quadrupole detector was 0.003 ng/µL. Furthermore, individual levels of HNP1-3 in intensive care patients (n=11) were measured and HNP2 levels were found to be significantly higher compared to HNP1 and HNP3. Cabras (2010) analysed the salivary secretory peptidome profile in children affected by type 1 diabetes, and HNP1, HNP2 and HNP4 were quantified (semi-quantitative) using the EIC peak area. Saliva samples were acidified with 0.2% TFA and subjected to centrifugation. The acidic supernatant was separated from the precipitate before LC-MS analysis. The main aim of the study by Cabras was to detect as many as possible proteins and peptides present in saliva. Both full scan and tandem MS/MS were utilised to confirm the structure of salivary proteins and peptides fragments. The aim of the work of Vento (2013) was to evaluate the relative levels of α -defensing as markers of prenatal infection/inflammation, in samples of bronchoalveolar

lavage fluid (BALF) from premature newborns, in relation to the detection of the *Candida* MN antigen. The extracted ion current procedure was based on the extraction of the current associated with three multiply charged ions specific for each α -defensin from the total ion current chromatographic profile. The levels of individual HNPs were also investigated in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of patients with pneumonia, and relatively quantified using the EIC peak area using an ion trap mass spectrometry detector (Tirone *et al.*, 2010). The relative abundance of the HNPs was approximated using the EIC peak area in the saliva of patients with Sjogren's syndrome using an ion trap detector (Peulso *et al.*, 2007).

It is clear that the mode for acquiring LC-MS data depends upon the main purpose of a study, and both full scan and tandem mass method can be utilised for the detection of defensins. ESI is the most commonly used ionisation method for the analysis of peptides and proteins. Peptides and proteins can carry multiple charges, and each charge state has its own isotopic envelope and the ion intensity profile varies depending on the mobile phase solvent pH; therefore, it is important to carefully choose the data acquiring mode. Abaye et al., (2011) demonstrated that increasing the percentage of organic solvent (decreasing the polarity of the mobile phase) decreased the ion intensity response of 3.2–3.7 kDa peptides, such as calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP), vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP), glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP1) and HNP2 (see details in chapter 2). However, it is not difficult to imagine that during gradient method development, where the mobile phase ratio is changing, and any slight pipetting error during mobile phase solvent preparation may change the ion intensity profile and thus the charge state distribution of salivary proteins and peptides. Therefore, it is vital to select the appropriate data acquiring mode so that more than one indication ion can be monitored. Most current instruments have limited (m/z) ranges and this has an impact upon their ability to accurately identify and quantitate proteins and peptides with good sensitivity. However, sample cleaning is essential before MS analysis. The upper mass range limit is typically 10,000-20,000 m/z for Q-TOF and QQQ (Grebe *et al.*, 2016), although the m/z range limit depends on the model and configuration.

1.5.2.2.4 Other Mass spectrometry approaches

In addition to ESI, other soft ionisation mass spectrometric methods have been utilised to detect defensins present in bio fluids. Both ESI and matrix-assisted laser desorption ionisation (MALDI) are very sensitive analytical techniques utilising analyte concentrations that are as low as a picomolar (Aneed *et al.*, 2009). One of the main differences between MALDI and ESI

is the state in which a sample is introduced to the ion source; ESI uses a solvated sample that is infused into the instrument, whereas the solid state is typically used in MALDI. Therefore, when interfaced with a fast and rapid analytical technique, such as HPLC, ESI is possibly more efficient for quantitative measurements (Cohen et al., 2006). In 1993, as an extension of MALDI, surface enhanced laser desorption (SELDI) was first introduced (Hutchens et al., 1993) and later commercialised by Ciphergen Biosystems Inc. (California, USA) in 1997. MALDI and SELDI coupled with ToF are widely used in proteomic screening to search for potential new biomarkers, and both techniques operate via similar principles. In general, a sample of interest is applied to a plate or chip, left to air dry or placed under a stream of nitrogen gas, and the sample is subsequently co-crystallised with a matrix. The components of the mixture are brought into the gas phase via a laser beam, usually a nitrogen laser or pulsed UV laser beam, which hits the sample matrix crystal, leading to absorption of the laser energy by the matrix, and subsequent desorption and ionisation of the analytes present in the sample (Liu et al., 2011). The main difference between MALDI and SELDI are in the construction of the sample targets. In SELDI, sample analysis is by protein chip arrays, which use various chromatographic surfaces or biological surfaces to capture proteins from complex biological mixtures according to their physicochemical properties. Chromatographic surfaces are hydrophobic, hydrophilic, ion exchange, immobilised metal, or other chemistries. These surfaces are often used for profiling proteins from biological mixtures for biomarker discovery. Unbound proteins and mass spectrometric interfering compounds are removed by subsequent on-spot washing with appropriate buffer solutions (Reddy et al., 2003). The analytes of interests that are retained on the array surface are analysed and detected by SELDI-TOF-MS using a protein chip reader. One of the key features of SELDI-TOF is on-spot sample cleaning, which helps to improve the sensitivity. However, for MALDI, analysis typically benefits from sample purification before mixing with the matrix (Meuleman et al., 2008; Vorderwuelbecke et al., 2005). Few studies have determined the levels of defensins using a MALDI-ToF instrument, although the relative abundance (ion intensity) of HNP1, HNP2 and HNP3 in gingival crevicular fluid has been evaluated by MALDI-TOF (Lundy et al., 2005). This is one of the earliest published studies and the main purpose was to evaluate the ion intensity profiles of HNP1-3. The authors note that HNP1 was identified as the most abundant ion and HNP3 as the least abundant. Lundy (2005) also compared the relative abundance of HNP1-3 between healthy control and periodontal patients, and a decreased relative abundance was observed in the periodontist patients. The overexpression of HNP1-3 was found in squamous cell carcinomas of the human tongue and was compared to autogenous non-tumour tissues. Peptides

were extracted from tongue tissue, separated by HPLC, and fractions were also analysed by MALDI-ToF, where relative quantitation was based on ion intensity (Lundy et al., 2005). Ion intensity profiles were also evaluated in the sputum of patients with lung diseases (Terraciano et al., 2010), and in the tears of dry eye patients (Lo et al., 2010). SELDI-TOF has also been successfully employed for the analysis of defensins, and up-regulated levels of HNP1-3 were found in serum and colon cancer tumours when compared. HNP1-3 were separated by HPLC and fractions analysed by SELDI-ToF. Serum samples were added to various protein chip arrays to monitor for the presence of HNP1-3 in serum, where the immobilised metal affinity capture (IMAC30) chip was used for the analysis of HNP1-3. Pilot studies have also been performed using different chips, and the NP20 (Normal Phase) (Ciphergen) chip was chosen for tissue screening (Albrethsen et al., 2004). Albrethsen (2006) used SELDI-TOF and confirmed the plasma levels of HNP1-3 in patients with colorectal cancer (CRC). The aim of the study was to confirm whether the amount of HNP1-3 present in tumours and plasma from CRC patients correlates with the Dukes' stages using an immunoassay (ELISA) and SELDI-TOF. The Dukes' staging system is divided into 4 groups - A, B, C and D, where Dukes' stage A is an early stage and Dukes' D is advanced. The peak intensity of HNP1–3 was found to be low in plasma and was not detected in any sample from a healthy individual or CRC patient. However, levels of HNP1-3 determined by ELISA increased in Dukes' stages C and D, but not in A and B.

This subsection presents a review of LC-ESI-MS, MALDI, SELLDI, LC-UV and ELISA analysis for the detection and quantification of HNP1-4. ESI tends to produce multiple ions for proteins and peptides, whereas MALDI typically produces a less complex isotope profile which makes data analysis much easier but there is a smaller degree of certainty (Aneed *et al.*, 2009). In contrast, SELDI combines the power of MALDI with the selectivity of a protein chip technique (Hutchens *et al.*, 2000). In addition, SELDI is mostly optimised for cancer diagnosis and biomarker discovery. Nevertheless, the choice of mass spectrometry based instrument depends on availability in the laboratory, and all these techniques can be used for the analysis of α -defensins. LC-UV can also be used for the analysis of individual HNP1-4, specifically in gingival crevicular fluid, where minimal sample cleaning is required. In addition, it is clear that regardless of which mass spectrometry approach is used, the most crucial step is sample cleaning. Careful sample handling at the protein and peptide level is key for successful analysis at the MS level. Consequently, it is necessary to take great care, and in some instances to optimise each step involved, in order to obtain better efficiency and sensitivity. LC-MS is

currently an established method for the analysis of proteomic studies; however, ELISA remains the primary method used for peptide analysis in exercise research. The present review suggests that LC-MS offers an alternative method for analysis of HNP1-4, simultaneously providing quantification of individual HNPs together with high sensitivity and specificity.

1.6 Challenges and Perspective: The Salivary Proteome Analysis by Electrospray Ionisation

Electrospray ionisation mass spectrometry allows the salivary proteome to be examined in detail, such as for the presence or absence of proteins, and levels of expression (Caporossi et al., 2010; Good et al., 2007; Hu et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2009; Tarawneh et al., 2011). Out of the thousands of proteomic studies published to date, only a small minority has attempted to provide a comprehensive quantitative description of the salivary proteome (Bantscheff *et al.*, 2007; Wasinger et al., 2013). The focus of this subsection is to present the challenges of analysing saliva by electrospray ionisation, highlighting sample handling, and the complexity of the analysis of the salivary proteome. Despite the phenomenal impact of electrospray ionisation (ESI) and peptide separation (liquid chromatography) techniques within proteomics, the identification and quantification of all of the proteins present in a salivary sample remains an unmet technical challenge (Wasinger et al., 2013). Analysis of human saliva is inherently challenging because the salivary proteome contains a large number of proteins within an extremely wide range of physicochemical properties, such as size, charge, and hydrophobicity, which lead to large differences in ESI responses (Tarawneh et al., 2011; Bantscheff et al., 2007). Therefore, proteomics analysis of saliva by mass spectrometry is not inherently quantitative, and the amount of analyte compared to MS signal intensity does not always demonstrate a linear relationship (Wasinger et al., 2013). Although there are some challenges in quantitative analysis by mass spectrometry, the further development of a series of specific stable-isotope labelling strategies for an analyte of interest to obtain absolute quantitative analysis will be possible.

During bioanalysis, matrix components present within biological samples can affect the response of the analyte of interest. These phenomena, termed generally as matrix effects, can lead to inaccurate quantitation, and it is therefore important that they are addressed during bioanalytical method development and validation. Matrix effects are complex and biological fluid specific, with each biological matrix presenting different management challenges, and each type of analytical method being affected by matrix components differently (Chiu *et al.*,

2010). Similar to plasma and serum, many proteins (mucins) present in human saliva are glycosylated (Hu *et al.*, 2007).

Ion suppression is one of the most common problems in MS, and matrix effects associated with a LC-MS method include ion suppression or ion enhancement caused by co-eluting matrix components. Matrix effects are often assessed via post column infusion and the post-extraction spike method; consequently, sample preparation is often required. If sample complexity has not been significantly reduced, then low signal-to-noise ratios may result, which will limit the overall sensitivity (Taylor et al., 2005; Bonfiglio et al., 1999; Muller et al., 2002; Sterner et al., 2000). Therefore, sample preparation helps to remove and pre-concentrate the analytes of interest from the target matrices (Annesely et al., 2003; Tang and Kebarle et al., 1993; Buhrman et al., 1996; Bonfiglio et al., 1999; Boyd et al., 2008; Wieling et al., 2002). Furthermore, the ESI source interface also influences its susceptibility to matrix effects. In addition to sample cleaning, there are other challenges which need to be addressed for the successful validation and quantitation of salivary analytes. Mallet (2004) studied the influence of several additives and their concentrations on the ESI responses of acidic and basic drugs. The results showed a clear decrease in the response when the concentration of the additive (formic acid, acetic acid, trifluoroacetic acid, ammonium formate, ammonium bicarbonate) was increased from 0.05% to 1%, and the suppression effect was also reported by Benijts and co-workers (Mallet et al., 2004; Benijts et al., 2004). Improved chromatography efficiency can also help to separate matrix components from the analytes. Providing a longer or shorter chromatographic retention of the analyte, matrix components can be separated, thereby eliminating ion suppression (Matuszewski et al., 1998). Complex matrices and tryptic digests of a protein often require very long gradient run times, and method development and optimisation take months to establish depending on the requirement of the chromatographic separation. However, for a complex biological mixture, sample cleaning can be an alternative procedure which plays an important role in enhancing the dynamic range of a mass spectrometer.

Saliva is susceptible to many physiological and biochemical processes, both locally and systemically, and the saliva matrix is challenging to analyse (Helmerhorst *et al.*, 2007). Salivary content can be altered as a result of physiological processes occurring at different points during the day, as well as in response to oral stimuli (eating, drinking and oral hygiene) (Caporossi *et al.*, 2010). In subjects, these circumstances cannot be controlled and therefore

sample standardisation, gender, age, diet, circadian rhythm and sample storage, all need to be carefully considered as aspects that may influence the final findings (Battino et al., 2002). The challenge of using saliva for diagnostic purposes is the low concentration (100-1000 fold) of analytes in comparison to blood concentrations (Pfaffe et al., 2010). However, with multistep sample preparation (in particular analyte concentration) and a sensitive method (MS/MS), salivary biomarkers can be detected. In general, internal standards (IS) are used to determine the concentration of the analytes of interest by calculating the response factor, and the general rule is these must not interfere with sample components. Wang (2007) demonstrated a difference in retention time between an analyte and a stable isotope IS, caused by the deuterium isotope effect, resulted in a differing degree of ion suppression. Furthermore, the co-elution of an IS and an analyte could also have mutual effects (ion enhancement or ion suppression) on the responses of each (Wang et al., 2007; Sojo et al., 2003; Liang et al., 2003). Finding an appropriate IS is the first difficulty, as an endogenous analyte at a high concentration in a biological fluid will also supress other endogenous analytes which are present in lower concentrations (Chapter 4). Therefore, careful assessment is vital during method development. In recent years, the number of publications related to the saliva proteome and mass spectrometry, and consequently the number of identified proteins/peptides present within saliva, have increased significantly (Siqueira et al., 2011). There are several key advantages to analysing saliva including: (1) low invasiveness; (2) minimal cost; (3) easy sample collection; and (4) ease of obtaining of multiple samples. Saliva can also be used in clinically challenging situations, such as obtaining samples from children, disabled or anxious patients, where blood sampling could be difficult to perform (Javaid et al., 2016). Rather than provide a compressive list of the advantages of using saliva, the next subsection highlights the other technical challenges encountered with saliva analysis. Saliva is a heterogeneous complex fluid composed of proteins, glycoproteins, electrolytes and small organic compounds, as well as compounds transported from the blood (Battino et al., 2002). The importance of a comprehensive list of all major proteins (details in subsection 1.2) present in saliva is that they can cause challenges in the analysis of small peptides present in the saliva matrix. The presence of amylase, glycoproteins and histatins within saliva increases the complexity of the analysis of less abundant small and medium size proteins and peptides due to the high abundance of these proteins. The presence of salivary proteases also constitutes a challenge and requires sample treatment. A few studies have suggested that histatin and proline rich proteins and peptides in particular, display a high level of susceptibility to whole saliva protease (Castangola et al., 2004; Campese et al., 2009; Helmerhorst et al., 2010). Campese (2009) investigated the

concentration of whole saliva and glandular secretions on the analysis of PRPs and histatins, and the resulting degradation curve illustrated the rapid proteolysis of histatin and proline rich proteins in whole saliva compared to glandular secretions. It is not difficult to imagine that all this proteolysis and deglycosylation will have significant effects on the structure and function of salivary proteins and peptides (Siqueira *et al.*, 2011). Another major challenge is to collect and store saliva under conditions whereby minimal proteolysis occurs (Ferreiro et al., 2002). Surprisingly little research has been carried out on ways of minimising the degradation process, and the most common method is the addition of 0.1-0.2% additives (trifluoroacetic acid, formic acid or acetic acid) to saliva (Castangola et al., 2011). When considering the storage conditions, it is preferable to store saliva specimens at -80° C rather than at -20° C, where the preservation of the protein content cannot be guaranteed for more than 1 month (Scripper et al., 2007). In order to avoid biased results, it is also important to perform a cross validation study for the analysis of the salivary proteome. Another important factor which needs to be considered in order to decrease the risk of variation, bias, and errors, is communication between researchers and the collaborative group. One generally considers that 70% of errors are due to human intervention (mostly due to communication problems), while only 30% appear to be instrumental related errors (Plebani et al., 1999; De Bock et al., 2009). Therefore, these factors need to be carefully considered prior to planning for quantitative analysis. The ultimate goal of analysing proteins and peptides found in biological fluids is often to use the information for health screening and disease detection. In total, 27% of plasma proteins are also found in saliva, and plasma proteins and peptides have proved their value as clinical analytes, as these biofluids provide a bigger picture. Nevertheless, saliva has attracted increased attention because it provides advantages over other body fluids due to its non-invasive collection and costeffectiveness.

1.7 Stress

Stress is defined as the feeling of being under too much mental or emotional pressure and arises when individuals perceive that they cannot adequately cope with the demands being made on them or with demands being made on them with threats to their wellbeing (Lazarus *et al.*, 1966). Stress can be psychological or physical, and both forms can be acute or chronic. Psychological stress is referred to as events or situations that challenge a person's psychological and/or physiological homeostasis (Cannon *et al.*, 1935). Three categories of stress have been identified: a) cataclysmic events, which include natural disasters and war; b) personal stressors, which are negative life events, including death, divorce, loss of job, or

absence of positive life events; and c) daily hassles which are chronic background stressors, e.g. work environment (Lazarus et al., 1977). Physical stress includes environmental stressors, such as extreme cold, heat and exercise stress. Exercise can encompass a short burst, such as less than an hour of cardiovascular exercise or weight training, or a longer endurance effort that lasts for more than an hour, such as a marathon. The time it takes for the body to return to 'normal' and reach homeostasis depends on the severity of the stress (Tanner et al., 2011). Physical stress (exercise) is the most widely used method in research, as the variability of the study can be controlled by the given parameters of the exercise. Salivary measures of biomarkers, such as the steroid hormone cortisol have over the past two decades become acceptable in human endocrinology (Carter et al., 2007; Helhammer et al., 2008; Dabbs et al., 1993), and most studies consider salivary cortisol levels to be a reliable measure of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis adaptation to stress (Hellhammer et al., 2008) and the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonodal axis (Cook et al., 1996; Escribano et al., 2012; Merlot et al., 2011). Stress biomarkers are commonly measured in blood plasma and serum, and also in urine and saliva. In this project, the response of cortisol in saliva and its levels were compared with to those for salivary α -defensing (HNP1-4). Therefore, the next subsection will focus on the function and production of cortisol and will highlight the importance of comparing hormone levels with antimicrobial peptides (α -defensions).

1.8 Cortisol

Cortisol is a steroid hormone (glucocorticoid class of hormone) which is produced by the cells of the adrenal cortex within the adrenal glands (Figure 1.4) in response to signals from the pituitary gland and hypothalamus of the brain (Scott *et al.*, 2011).



Figure 1.4 Chemical structure of cortisol (Chemspider 2006).

1.8.1 Function of Cortisol

Cortisol is a stress hormone that has many functions and is critical for regulation, as it helps the metabolism of fat, protein, and carbohydrate to maintain blood glucose (glycogenesis), and in the regulation of blood pressure and cardiovascular function. This is accomplished through insulin and its signalling central and peripheral mechanisms, and by the breakdown of stored protein into glucose (Juhan *et al.*, 1998). Insulin functions not only as a peripheral regulator of nutrient storage and the release of circulating substrates, but as a key afferent signal to the central nervous system for the control of energy balance (Porte *et al.*, 2005). Cortisol stimulates gluconeogenesis and the mobilisation of free fatty acids to make more glucose available (Salway *et al.*, 2006).

1.8.2 Production of Cortisol

The production of cortisol by cells of the adrenal cortex is dependent upon two messengers in a chain called the HPA axis. When experiencing a stress, the hypothalamus releases the messenger corticotrophin releasing hormone which is transported to the anterior pituitary and signals specialised cells to release adrenocorticotropic hormone into the bloodstream. This is transported to the adrenal glands where it signals cells of the zona fasciculate and reticularis layers of the adrenal cortex to increase production of cortisol and androgens (Brook *et al.*, 2001).

1.9 Reason for Comparing Cortisol and *a*-Defensins Levels

The central nervous system (CNS), the endocrine system and the immune system, are the most complex systems that interact with each other. Almost all immune cells, such as neutrophils, T and B cells, monocytes and macrophages, have receptors for the stress hormone that are associated with hypothalamic pituitary adrenal (HPA) axis (Glaser *et al.*, 2005), with the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) being the one to which cortisol bind. The endogenous glucocorticoid hormone cortisol diffuses through the cell membrane into the cytoplasm and binds to the GR. Neutrophils are formed in the bone marrow and secrete neutrophil α -defensins (HNP 1-3). They are the most abundant white blood cell type, constituting 70% of the total population. In response to stress, the endocrine system, governed by the HPA axis, releases cortisol, and this binds GRs present on white blood cells to mediate the stress response (Baschant *et al.*, 2010; Strickland *et al.*, 2001; Buttgereit *et al.*, 2002). The mechanism underlying these interactions is complex and it will probably take many years to fully understand how these three systems interact. However, it is beyond the scope of this thesis to understand whether potential physiological changes associated with stress hormones could also

be involved in the action of antimicrobial peptides, and this is an important new area that deserves exploration. Furthermore, this study was not designed to investigate the underlying mechanism between stress hormones and neutrophil (HNP 1-4) activation. Less is known about the correlation between immune peptides (HNP1-4) and stress hormone (cortisol), and therefore, this is one of the earliest studies to demonstrate the relationship between the levels of cortisol and HNP1-4 before and after physical stress. In addition, it will help to confirm the association as to whether the stress hormone is associated with local levels of these antimicrobial peptides.

1.10 Physical Stress Induces the Activation of Neutrophils

Physical stress (exercise) results in the initial activation of neutrophils, although their responses will vary depending on their phagocytic activity. Degranulation is a cellular process that releases antimicrobial cytotoxic molecules from secretory vesicles, called granules, which are present inside cells. Degranulation is used by several different immune cells, including granulocytes (neutrophils, basophils, and eosinophils). Studies measuring degranulation have reported an increased level of granular enzymes following exercise depending on the intensity. This indicates that physical stress in general will elicit the activation of neutrophils (Pyne et al., 1994; Peake et al., 2004; Khanfer et al., 2010). Although neutrophil degranulation and phagocytic activity increase after exercise, only a few studies have suggested that reduced degranulation depends upon individual innate immunity in response to bacterial stimulation that can last for many hours (Peake et al., 2004; Pedersen et al., 2009). Heavy or prolonged exercise for more than ninety minutes could cause a weakened immune response for up to 72 hours after an exercise session (Niemen et al., 2005). Therefore, it is important to consider supplementation after physical stress, which may reduce the risk of major illnesses. In this study, resistance exercise (2.5 hours) with two different types of supplementation was examined in athlete participants (Chapter 7). The next subsection highlights an introduction of resistance vs aerobic endurance training and discuss the existing manuscripts in relation to aerobic and resistance training for the analysis of α -defensins and cortisol.

1.11 Resistance versus Aerobic

Regular aerobic exercise, also known as "cardio", improves cardiovascular endurance by increasing the stroke volume, cardiac output, and arteriovenous oxygen difference (Takeshima *et al.*, 2004). Aerobic endurance activities, such as running, cycling and swimming, require high levels of oxygen to be delivered to the muscles. The use of oxygen is known as oxygen uptake or VO_{2max} , and in sports science, oxygen uptake is the most basic measure of aerobic

fitness. After exercise the immune system generally returns to normal function within a few hours, but consistent regular exercise seems to make these changes a slightly more long-lasting. When moderate aerobic exercise is repeated on a near-daily basis, there is a cumulative effect that leads to a long-term immune response. Research has shown that those who walk at 70-75% $VO_{2 max}$ for forty minutes per day had half as many sick days due to colds or sore throats compared to those who did not exercise (Niemen *et al.*, 2005). In general, resistance training is performed at a higher intensity than can ever be achieved by aerobic endurance exercises alone. Resistance exercise is related to the upper body, lower body and total body. Aerobic exercise is a physical activity that meets the energy provision via the oxidative energy system during the exercise (Stroth *et al.*, 2009). Resistance training improves muscular strength and muscular endurance by changing neural adaptation, muscle hypertrophy, and hyperplasia; it also has an effect on body composition changes by increasing the resting metabolic rate (Wilmore *et al.*, 1978; Shelmadine *et al.*, 2009).

1.12 α-Defensins and Cortisol Responses to Physical Exercise

Physiological stress can elicit changes in hormone and AMPs, particularly in response to exercise, and prolonged or moderate exercise can result in a temporary depression of certain aspects of the immune function (Gleeson *et al.*, 2007). Multiple studies have reported the measurement of cortisol in relation to the exercise response (Table 1.5, Table 1.6 and Table 1.7). As noted, few studies have reported the level of salivary antimicrobial peptides (HNP 1-3) in response to an exercise intervention (Davison *et al.*, 2009; Gillum *et al.*, 2015; Kunz *et al.*, 2015). The cortisol and AMPs response to exercise is dependent upon several factors, including intensity, duration, mode of exercise (aerobic endurance versus resistance), and training status of the subject. Therefore, the focus of this subsection is on the responses of α -defensins and cortisol after exercise.

1.12.1 Cortisol and Physical Exercise

Cortisol level increases in proportion to exercise intensity but the secretory limit is also dependant on exercise duration. It is well established that cortisol level increases after exercise, with the majority of studies reporting this finding (Table 1.5 and Table 1.6). Most of the studies investigating aerobic endurance exercise have reported that exercise at or above 60% VO_{2max} intensity generally produces a significant increase in cortisol. Allgrove (2008) reported a higher level of cortisol at 75% VO_{2max} compared with 50% VO_{2max} was observed immediately after exercise. Further research by Allgrove (2009) confirmed that levels of salivary cortisol increased by 68% at 65% VO_{2max} after 2 hours of cycling. Hill (2008) examined 12 active men

performing 30 minutes of cycle ergometer at 40, 60 and 80% VO_{2max} and reported that only the moderate (60%) and high (80%) intensity trials elicited a significant increase in serum cortisol. A recent study by Alghadir (2015) investigated aerobic endurance training on four consecutive weeks following cycle ergometer at 65-75% VO_{2max} also confirmed an increase in the levels of salivary cortisol. However, exercise duration can also affect levels of cortisol. Tremblay (2005) examined 8 males performing 40 minutes, 80 minutes and 120 minutes of treadmill running at 55% VO_{2max}, and found cortisol levels increased in response to the 120 minutes run in the second hour of running and showed a decline across time during the other shorter sessions. It is suggested that when exercise is performed under 60% VO2max, hormonal responses will only occur when a certain amount of work is done, i.e. running for an adequate period of time (Viru et al., 1992), and Tremblay et al. (2005) demonstrated that this was 80 minutes of running at low intensity (55% VO_{2max}). Existing research on marathon running also supports that long duration exercise will increase cortisol levels (Leers et al., 2006; Petraglia et al., 1988; Franca et al., 2006; Marinelli et al., 1994; Karkoulias et al., 2008). Petraglia (1988) measured cortisol before and after an athletic competition, and found that plasma cortisol levels significantly rose in all athletes, with a higher increase in 10,000m (n=8) and 1500m (n=7) competitors compared to 100m (n=7) competitors. Leers (2006) found an increase of more than two-fold in cortisol levels after a marathon race, and this was supported by Karkoulias (2008), who also found a significant increase in cortisol after completing a marathon. Similarly, Stuempfle (2010) found an increase in cortisol after a 161 km race (28.3 ± 7.4 hours). These results suggest that longer duration exercise (>20 minutes) leads to a higher increase in cortisol, although the effects of intermittent exercise on cortisol are less clear. Eliakim (2009) studied the response of a one-hour volleyball practice on serum cortisol levels and found no change. Similarly, Moreira (2009) reported no significant change in salivary cortisol after a competitive football match, a finding supported by Sari-Sarraf (2007), who studied a football training session and also found no significant increase in salivary cortisol. However, Protzner (2015) reported an increase in salivary cortisol after soccer and a kickboxing match. This variation in the results could be due to athletes becoming accustomed to performing a certain type and intensity of exercise, and therefore adapting (Vuorimaa et al., 2008) and requiring extra stress to elicit a hormone response. In addition, the results may have been affected by diurnal variation, as the samples were collected in the morning but exercise did not commence immediately; therefore, the decrease may have represented the natural sharp decline in cortisol concentrations.

| Compound | Sample matrix | Exercise type | Participants | Effects on the level | References |
|----------|---------------|---------------------|------------------------|---|--------------------------|
| Cortisol | Saliva | Treadmill running | 16 students | ↑ increased | Alghadir et al., 2015 |
| Cortisol | Blood | Cycle ergometer | 10 males | ↑ increased at 85% VO _{2max} | Jin et al., 2015 |
| Cortisol | Saliva | Cycle ergometer | 8 males and 8 females | ↑ increased | Allgrove et al., 2009 |
| Cortisol | Saliva | Cycling | 17 schoolchildren | ↑ increase | Thomas et al., 2009 |
| Cortisol | Blood | Cycle ergometry | 12 men | ↑ significant at 70-85% VO _{2max} | Hill et al., 2008 |
| Cortisol | Saliva | Cycle ergometer | 10 males | ↑ significant | Allgrove et al., 2008 |
| Cortisol | Saliva | Cycle ergometer | 12 volleyball players | ↑ significant | Cordova et al., 2010 |
| Cortisol | Saliva | Cycle ergometer | 8 male athletes | ↑ post exercise | Davison et al., 2007 |
| Cortisol | Plasma | Treadmill running | 8 males | ↑ increased | Tremblay et al., 2005 |
| Cortisol | Serum | Cycle ergometry | 40 young males | ↑ no change | Hiruntrakul et al., 2010 |
| Cortisol | Plasma | Running | 17 males | ↑ increased at 65% VO _{2max} | Hackney et al., 1999 |
| Cortisol | Blood | Cycle ergometry | 82 males | ↑ increased at 60% VO _{2max} | Viru et al., 1992 |
| Cortisol | Saliva | Cycle ergometry | 10 active males | ↑ increased at 75% VO _{2max} | Jacks et al., 2002 |
| Cortisol | Saliva | Treadmill Running | 60 students | ↑ increased at 70-85% VO_{2max} | Budde et al., 2010 |
| Cortisol | Blood | Running and cycling | 5 males | Running: ↑ increased at 70-75% VO _{2max} Cycling: : ↑ increased at 65% VO _{2max} | Brownlee et al., 2005 |
| Cortisol | Blood | Cycling | 12 endurance athletes | ↑ increased at 70% VO _{2max} | Viru et al., 2001 |
| Cortisol | Serum | Treadmill Running | 20 trained runners | \uparrow increased at 80% VO_{2max} | Vuorimaa et al., 2008 |
| Cortisol | Plasma | Marathon | 25 males and 2 females | ↑ post exercise | Stuempfle et al., 2010 |
| Cortisol | Serum | Marathon race | 11 marathon runners | ↑ post exercise | Karkoulias et al., 2008 |

 Table 1.5 Cortisol level after aerobic endurance.

| Hormone | Sample matrix | Exercise type | Participants | Effects on the level | References |
|----------|-------------------|----------------|--------------------------------|-----------------------|--------------------------|
| Cortisol | Blood | Resistance | 10 males | ↑ post exercise | Jin et al., 2015 |
| Cortisol | Blood | Resistance | 8 males | ↑ post exercise | Conceicao et al., 2014 |
| Cortisol | Saliva | Resistance | 23 rugby players | ↓ significant | Beaven et al., 2008 |
| Cortisol | Blood | Resistance | 50 active men | ↑ post exercise | Brownlee et al., 2005 |
| Cortisol | Serum | Resistance | 20 males | No change | Willoughby et al., 2014 |
| Cortisol | Blood | Resistance | 10 males | ↑ post exercise | Leite et al., 2011 |
| Cortisol | Blood | Resistance | 35 participants | No change | Shikorski et al., 2013 |
| Cortisol | Plasma | Resistance | Eight males | ↑ after post exercise | Kraemer et al., 1993 |
| Cortisol | Plasma | Resistance | 4 males | No change | Fry et al., 2010 |
| Cortisol | Blood | Resistance | 21 trained and untrained men | ↑ untrained | McMillan et al., 1993 |
| Cortisol | Serum and saliva | Resistance | 21 middle aged men | ↑ post exercise | Cadore et al., 2008 |
| Cortisol | Plasma and saliva | Resistance | 10 males | ↑ post exercise | Hough et al., 2011 |
| Cortisol | Plasma | Resistance | 10 males | ↑ post exercise | McCaulley et al., 2009 |
| Cortisol | Saliva | Resistance | 13 male and 13 female athletes | ↑ post exercise | Le Panse et al., 2010 |
| Cortisol | Serum | Volleyball | 14 males and 14 female | No change | Eliakim et al., 2009 |
| Cortisol | Saliva | Football match | 22 males | No change | Moreira et al., 2009 |
| Cortisol | Saliva | Soccer | 10 males | No change | Sari-Sarraf et al., 2007 |
| Cortisol | Saliva | Rugby | 20 rugby players | ↑ post exercise | Elloumi et al., 2003 |
| Cortisol | Saliva | Soccer | 8 athletes | ↑ post exercise | Protzner et al., 2015 |

Table 1.6 Cortisol level after resistance training.

Further studies are required to establish an overall trend for the cortisol response to resistance exercise. One of the drawbacks of resistance exercise is in recruiting participants. There is no clear trend regarding cortisol levels and crossfit exercise, and the majority of studies show an increase in levels of cortisol after resistance training. Cadore (2008) found that serum and salivary cortisol were both significantly increased after a resistance training bout consisting of two exercises at 75% 1RM (8 repetitions each) and two exercised at 75% and 65% 1 RM (8 and 12 repetitions, respectively). Similarly, Hough (2011) conducted a resistance test in 10 males consisting of 8 sets of a 10 repetition max squat test, and plasma cortisol levels increased from pre-exercise to post exercise, a finding supported by many other studies (McCaulley et al., 2009; McMillan et al., 1993; Kraemer et al., 1993; Jin et al., 2015). Le Panse (2010) revealed a significant increase in salivary cortisol after three bench press attempts in an international power lifting competition (p<0.01), although other researchers, such as Fry (2010), have shown no change in cortisol levels for a protocol involving 10 speed squats at 70% 1RM, and this result is supported by findings from Hakkinen et al. (1987) and Beaven et al, (2008). Therefore, further studies are required to establish an overall trend for the cortisol response to resistance exercise.

1.12.2 α-Defensins and Physical Exercise

It is well known that physical stress may result in changes (IgA levels) in the immune system of athletes (Trochimial *et al.*, 2012). To date, few studies have investigated the levels of α defensins (average response) following physical stress. The aim of this subsection is to discuss the published studies on the analysis of α -defensions in response to physical stress, and other antimicrobial peptides (β -defensin and cathelicidin) and their levels during and after exercise are also highlighted. This is relevant because it supports the notion that levels of other antimicrobial peptides (β-defensin and cathelicidin) also change during and after physical stress. Table 1.7 presents the findings of studies which compare levels of antimicrobial peptides (HNP1-3 β-defensin and cathelicidin) after exercise. Cathelicidins (LL-37) are a family of antimicrobial peptides and in humans, only one cathelicidin, LL-37 (4.4 kDa) has been characterised. This peptide was first isolated in 1989 from bovine neutrophils (Generao et al., 1989; Zanetti et al., 1990; Frank et al., 1990; Durr et al., 2006), but can also be found in neutrophils, monocytes, natural killer cells, T lymphocyte cells, B lymphocytes cells, epithelial cell, skin, gastrointestinal and respiratory tracts (Gudmundsson et al., 1996; Frohm et al., 1997; Bals et al., 1998; Agerberth et al., 2000). To date, all the studies have reported a significant increase in salivary antimicrobial peptides after physical stress.

| Protein and peptide | Sample matrix | Exercise type | Participants | Effects on the level | References |
|---------------------|---------------|------------------|-----------------------|--|----------------------|
| HNP1-3 | Saliva | Cycle ergometers | 5 males and 4 females | \uparrow significant at 75% VO _{2max} | Gillum et al., 2015 |
| HNP1-3 | Saliva | Cycle ergometers | 12 male athletes | ↑ significant at 60% VO _{2max} | Davison et al., 2009 |
| HNP1-3 | Saliva | Cycle ergometers | 17 males | ↑ significant | Kunz et al., 2015 |
| HBD2 | Saliva | Cycle ergometers | 10 males | \uparrow significant at 75% VO _{2max} | Usui et al., 2011 |
| LL-37 | Saliva | Cycle ergometers | 10 males | ↑ significant at 75% VO _{2max} | Usui et al., 2011 |
| LL-37 | Saliva | Cycle ergometers | 12 males | \uparrow significant at 60% VO _{2max} | Davison et al., 2009 |
| LL-37 | Saliva | Cycle ergometers | 17 males | ↑ significant | Kunz et al., 2015 |
| LL-37 | Saliva | Cycle ergometers | 4 males and 4 females | \uparrow significant at 75% VO _{2max} | Gillum et al., 2015 |

 Table 1.7 Antimicrobial peptides level after aerobic endurance.

Peptide name: HBD2 = human β -defensin 2, LL-37= cathelicidins, HNP1-3= human neutrophil α -defensins

Further studies are required to explore whether various intensities and different exercise types (resistance training) also affect the levels of α -defensins (HNP1-3) alongside other AMPs and hormones.

1.13 Summary

Current proteome research utilises LC-ESI-MS as a technique with reliable sensitivity, although ELISA remains the primary proteomic analytical method. Proteome analysis of α -defensins by ELISA has been commonly used in the area of sports science, gastroenterology, cancer biology or oral biology but this chapter has suggested that LC-MS has the ability to provide simultaneous high-throughput quantification, with high specificity and sensitivity. Minimal research has been conducted into the innate immunity of humans in relation to the consequences of exercise or physical stress on mucosal secretions. This chapter has highlighted the response of stress hormone and AMPs to physical stress and this study aims to bridge some of the gaps identified regarding responses to exercise.

Chapter 2 - Practical Considerations of Electrospray Ionisation

To date, mass spectrometry (MS) has become one of the most popular analytical techniques for both quantitative and qualitative applications (Karas et al., 1988; Yamashita et al., 1984; Fenn et al., 1989; Cohen et al., 2006; Aneed et al., 2009; Cole et al., 2010). Over the past fiftyfive years MS has been repeatedly transformed, and its applications have been extended through the use of new methods of ionisation. The advent of new methods of ion generation, novel mass analysers, and new tools for data processing, have made it possible to analyse small organic compounds through to large biological molecules. The aim of this project is to optimise and validate a LC-MS method for the detection and relative quantification of individual salivary HNPs. Chapter 1 reviewed the existing literature on analytical techniques and identified LC-MS as a suitable choice for the measurement of structural homologous antimicrobial peptides (HNP 1-4). To accomplish this, the first and foremost requirement is to understand how electrospray ionisation (ESI) works and the parameters that can affect the detection limits of ESI, which include: (a) choice of solvents (pH) and analyte concentration; (b) choice of additives and their concentration; (c) contaminants (electrolytes) present in complex biological matrix; and (d) choice of flow rates of the solution through the spray capillary. In addition, the following aspects should be considered for the detection and relative quantitation of salivary HNPs by LC-ESI-MS: (1) minimisation of the matrix effects and analyte loss during sample preparation (Chapter 4); (2) development and optimisation of the LC-MS parameters - solvents, additives, columns performance (Chapter 5) and (3) evaluation of the validation parameters such as: detection limit, quantitation limit, intra-interday precisions, stability (Chapter 6). This chapter provides an opportunity to understand how the analyte characteristics, concentration, solvent pH and contaminates of analytes could affect the ESI signals. It highlights examples of the practical considerations of ESI which include: analyte characteristics, concentration and its effects on the ESI response, analytes pKa and solvent pH on the ESI response, and detection limits (electrolyte effects on the ESI response). This chapter also describes how ESI functions through the separation of ions, and the interpretation of ESI mass spectra. Overall, this chapter has been written to explain 'how ESI works' and it focuses on the practical considerations of ESI that were relevant to the experimentation work presented in Chapters 4-6.

2.1 Mass Spectrometry

In mass spectrometry, chemical compounds are converted into gas phase molecules and their mass-to-charge (m/z) ratio are measured (Figure 2.1). The sample is introduced via the inlet system either as a solid, liquid or a gas and the choice of ionisation mode depends on the nature of the sample. The ionisation chamber also depends on either a vacuum or atmospheric pressure system. In the ion source, analytes are converted into gas phase ions, which are separated by the mass analyser according to their mass-to-charge ratio.

 M^+ (Ion) + $H^+ \longrightarrow MH^+$ (Mode of ionisation for ESI)

The ion MH^+ is known as the pseudo molecular ion due to the change in overall mass by 1 Da. Two of the most important properties of an ion are its charge (*z*) and its mass (m). Ions carry charges and can therefore, be handled or their path controlled through the use of electric and magnetic fields.



Figure 2.1 Principal components of a mass spectrometer.

2.2 Mechanism of Electrospray Ionisation

The eluent is introduced by HPLC at a suitable flowrate in ESI-MS, and based on the nature of the analyte both negative and positive modes can be selected. In the positive ion mode, the capillary tip is the positive electrode and the sampling cone (plate) is the negative electrode, which is set to a higher voltage (typically 2-5 kV). Ions within the eluent solution are repelled from the inner walls of the sprayer needle and moved towards the droplet formed at the capillary tip. This mode causes positive ions to predominately populate the spray droplet where the analyte forms cations in solution. When the charged density at the liquid meniscus is raised due to the repulsion of cations, the columbic forces are also increased. The point at which the surface charge repulsion matches the surface tension of the eluent is termed the Rayleigh instability limit. When the number of ions and columb explosion overcome this limit, the shape of the meniscus is changed to a conic, in order to relieve the charge repulsion and the cone meniscus is referred to as the Taylor Cone.

Upon formation of the cone, a stream of droplets containing a vast excess of cations emerges from its surface and this process is repeated until the size of the droplets is small enough to emit gas phase ions. This process is termed an electrospray (Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2 Schematic representation of the formation of ions during ESI (Gates et al., 2002).

When the solution forms the Taylor Cone, the droplets that contain an excess of positive or negative charge detach from its tip. In the ion evaporation model theory, droplets are driven electrically and are vaporised with the aid of warm nitrogen gas, the droplets then break down, reducing their size and shifting inside the sources. Thus, repulsive forces among the ions on the surface of the shrinking droplets become very high and help the ions to desorb into the gas phase by exceeding the surface tension of the solvent (Iribarne *et al.*, 1976; Kebarla *et al.*, 2000). An alternative theory of ESI ion formation, known as the charge residue model, involves continuous evaporation of the solvent accompanied by droplet fragmentation, so that a single ion (multiply charged) is formed at the end of this process (Fenn *et al.*, 1989). Both these ESI ion formation mechanisms have an evidence base, and it has been suggested that the ion evaporation model is more suitable for small ions and the charge residue model is more applicable to macromolecular ions (Tang and Kebarle *et al.*, 1993; Kelly *et al.*, 1992).

The main difference between the two proposed mechanisms is that in the first, the columb explosion will break the highly charged droplets into smaller ones and eventually lead to ions being desorbed into the gas phase, whereas in the charge residue model, continuous evaporation of the solvent is accompanied by droplet fragmentation, so that a single ion (multiply charged) is formed at the end of this process.

2.3 Interpretation of Electrospray Ionisation Mass Spectra

Understanding ESI mass spectra is usually complex. However, advantage of multiple charging makes it possible to observe large proteins at lower m/z values, and the subsection below explains the interpretation of ESI mass spectra in detail.

2.3.1 Multiple Charge Ion Formation

Single, double and multiple charged ions can be determined by assessing the isotopic pattern of the ions in a mass spectrum.



Figure 2.3 Schematic diagram represents how the isotope distribution can be calculated from an ESI mass spectrum. The charge state is determined by the isotope spacing. As an example, unknown single charged peptides from human saliva samples have been used.

In the ESI spectrum shown in Figure 2.3, an ion is seen at m/z 1200.49 and another at m/z 403.75, thereby demonstrating that the 2+ charge means that the isotopes are separated by 1/2 Da, while the 3+ charge indicates that the isotopes are separated by 1/3 Da, and for the 4+ charge state the isotopes are separated by 1/4 Da.



Figure 2.4 An ESI mass spectrum representing the isotope distribution of a multiple charged peptide (HNP1) present in human saliva.

The isotopic distribution is also confirmed if the peaks correspond to the same compound. The isotopic pattern of these ions indicates a single charge state (m/z 1200.49, isotope ions separated by 1 mass unit) and a double charge state (m/z 403.75, isotope ions separated by 1/2 a mass unit). Another example of charge state isotope spacing of a known peptide (HNP1) is shown in Figure 2.4.

The arrows indicate that for the 3+ charge state m/z of 1148.68, isotopes are separated by 1/3 Da; for the 4+ charge state m/z of 861.2734, isotopes are separated by 1/4 Da, and for the 5+ charge state m/z of 689.2214, isotopes are separated by 1/5 Da.

2.3.2 Charge Deconvolution

The molecular weight of an intact protein can be calculated by the number of charge states of proteins, corresponding to individual peaks.



Figure 2.5 Calculation of deconvolation from an ESI spectrum. Deconvolation is determined by ions and charge state, and it also helps to confirm the molecular weight of an analyte. As an example, a multiple charged peptide (HNP1) from a human saliva sample has been utilised.

The molecular weight can be determined by: $(P1 \times z1) - z1 = Mr$ where,

- Mr = Molecular weight of the sample;
- P1 = m/z value for peak 1 in the spectrum;
- Z1 = charge of peak 1.

An ESI spectrum of human salivary HNP1 (positive ionisation mode) shows how to deconvolate the molecular weight (Figure 2.5). The above procedure may be time-consuming but works well for pure compounds and simple mixtures. When complex mixtures are analysed, correct manual assignment of all the peaks becomes increasingly difficult. The ESI spectrum

creates a large number of peaks for molecular weights above 20 kDa, such as for bovine albumin serum (mw 66.5 kDa), and this requires the use of specialist software (Magtran, MaxEnt) in order to enable reliable mass assignments of unknowns.

2.4 Practical Considerations of Electrospray Ionisation

For successful application of ESI, understanding the analyte characteristics is of key importance in determining the ESI response. The suitability of ESI analysis depends upon the particular analyte and the next subsection highlights the practical considerations that may affect the ESI response during peptide analysis.

2.4.1 Effects of Analyte Characteristics on the Electrospray Ionisation Response

The ESI response varies significantly depending on the different characteristics (amino acid sequence) of analytes. To enhance the ESI response it is essential to understand the characteristics of the analytes (Tang and Kebarle *et al.*, 1993; Cech *et al.*, 2001).



Figure 2.6 Total ion current chromatogram of an equimolar mixture of angiotensin I and enolase T3ESI chromatogram of the two peptides responses varies significantly, with the angiotensin I peptide response being less than that of enolase T35. The peptides were separated using a linear MeCN: H_2O : AC (0.1%) gradient on a Kinetex® C18 column (50 x 3.0 mm, 2.6 μ m), at a flow rate of 0.6 mL/min.

ESI is typically performed in polar solvents, such as water, acetonitrile (MeCN) and methanol (MeOH), and analytes with significant non-polar regions should favour the air-solvent interface at the surface of the electrospray droplets, where the polar region can be desolvate (Irebarne *et al.*, 1976; Tang and Kebarle *et al.*, 1993; Cech *et al.*, 2001). The example provided in this subsection is relevant to the practical work described in Chapter 4 for the analysis of HNPs in a saliva matrix and an example of a stable peptide mixture is presented in order to understand analyte characteristics, concentration and its effects on the ESI response. Figure 2.6 and Figure 2.7 show a chromatogram and a spectrum of an equimolar peptide mixture of one mole of two different peptides (angiotensin I and enolase T35), which were separated using a linear MeCN: H_2O : acetic acid (0.1%) gradient on a Kinetex® C18 column (50 x 3.0 mm, 2.6 µm), at a flow rate of 0.6

mL/min. Angiotensin I and enolase T35 peptides are positively charged species with an equimolar concentration, yet their ESI responses are very different. Enolase contains eight hydrophobic (non-polar) amino acids, whereas angiotensin I contains five non-polar amino acids. The EIC obtained for angiotensin I and enolase T35 ions corresponds to $[M + 2H]^{2+}$ and $[M + 3H]^{3+}$ and this finding seems in line with that of Iribarne (1976), where an increased ESI response for non-polar analytes was reported.



Figure 2.7 ESI mass spectrum of an equimolar mixture of angiotensin I and enolase T35. The observed variation in the ESI response for the charged species could be due to differences in analyte structure.

The existing literature also suggests that nonpolar ions would enter the gas phase more readily (Tang and Kebarle *et al.*, 1993; Apffel *et al.*, 1995), and this could be one of the reasons that nonpolar ions are less attracted to water. Ions are therefore easily attached to the non-polar analytes in the gas phase, which results in a higher ion signal intensity. Poor ion intensity cannot only be defined by the polarity of an analyte, as it also relies on the complex structure of an analyte and the solvent pH. If a non-polar analyte contains disulphide bonds, then it will not easily be ionised; thus non-polar analytes also lead to poor ionisation. The next subsection explores the importance of the role of analyte pKa and solvent pH.

2.4.2 Effects of Analyte pKa and Solvent pH on the Electrospray Ionisation Response

This subsection highlights the importance of analyte characteristics and solvent pH effects on the ESI response and the example presented is relevant to the practical work described in Chapter 5 for the analysis of HNPs within a saliva matrix. The ionisation mode of ESI involves protonation $[M + H]^+$ or deprotonation $[M - H]^-$, and for an analyte to become protonated it

should be basic in solution and in the gas phase. The same principal applies for acidic analytes and deprotonation. Basic analytes generally ionise best at a low pH, but acidic analytes perform best at a higher pH (Wang *et al.*, 1997). It is well established that protonated ions of basic analytes can be observed when ESI-MS analysis is performed with basic solutions (the usual rule-of-thumb is 2 pH units higher or lower than the analyte pKa), whereas deprotonated ions can be observed in the ESI analysis of acidic solutions (Kelly *et al.*, 1992; Wang *et al.*, 1997; Zhou *et al.*, 1995).



Figure 2.8 Effects of decreasing the mobile phase polarity on the ion intensity profile of HNP2, CGRP, GLP and VIP peptides. Increasing MeCN concentration (10- 80% v/v) on the ESI response for individual peptides for the ions (a) $[M + 5H]^{5+}$ for HNP2, (b) $[M + 4H]^{4+}$ for CGRP, (c) $[M + 4H]^{4+}$ for GLP and (d) $[M + 4H]^{4+}$ for VIP (Abaye *et al.*, 2011).

Abaye (2011) investigated analyte responses when decreasing the polarity of the mobile phase (acetonitrile concentration from 10-80% v/v) on four medium sized (3125-3370 Da) peptides, including calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP); glucagon-like peptide (GLP); vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP), and HNP2. Abaye (2011) demonstrated that increasing the percentage of organic solvent (decreasing the polarity of the mobile phase) decreased the ion intensity response of individual peptides (Figure 2.8). The data revealed that the analyte response changes through with the change of organic solvent pH. Changes in pH, which occur when increasing the percentage of organic solvent, lead to poor ionisation. The data also shows that polarity does not always explain the poor ionisation that has been observed for HNP2, which is the most non-polar peptide. One reason for this could be the presence of disulphide bonds that produce more structurally restricted peptides, and thus lead to poor ion intensity compared

to CGRP, GLP and VIP. Other studies have reported similar findings, whereby more non-polar compounds (in this case peptides) ionise better than polar ones (Cech *et al.*, 2001; Hendrickson *et al.*, 2006; Ehrmann *et al.*, 2008).

2.4.3 Effects of Electrolytes on the Electrospray Ionisation Response

This subsection highlights the effects of electrolytes on the ESI response, and the example provided is relevant to the practical work described in Chapter 4 and Chapter 6 for the analysis of HNPs. The ESI ion source is sensitive to electrolytes and saliva contains a variety of electrolytes: sodium, potassium, calcium, chloride, magnesium, bicarbonate, and phosphate. Samples entering the MS should be of the highest possible purity and deprived of compounds that compete with the analytes for ionisation or cause signal suppression, such as inorganic salts. Therefore, the ESI response for a salivary matrix is dependent upon the quality of the input and on earlier sample preparation/processing steps. The presence of electrolytes is often a limiting factor in determining the lower limit of detection with ESI.



Figure 2.9 ESI mass spectrum of protonated molecule and a related sodium adduct in saliva matrix.

In addition, ESI is typically performed in polar solvents with additives and Mallet (2004) studied the influence of several additives and their concentrations on the ESI responses of acidic and basic drugs. Mallet's findings showed a decrease in the response when the concentration of an additive (FA, AC, TFA, ammonium format, ammonium bicarbonate) was increased from 0.05% to 1%. Additives at higher concentrations will compete with the analytes for the excess charge, which results in signal suppression. The natural presence of electrolytes within a complex matrix or any electrolytes (additives) added to the ESI solution mean that some common interactions may take place between a protein and dissociated salts. Such interactions result in charge transfer reactions, neutralisation reactions, and/or ion-paring reactions. As an example, sodium adducts in a saliva matrix were evaluated as these have been

observed at a retention time of 5.33 minutes and ions at m/z 524.34. A saliva sample was treated with 0.1% AC 1:1 (v/v), subjected to centrifugation at 12,000 g for ten minutes at 4°C and analysed by LC-MS. Sodium adducts which is present in the sample matrix and often causes a limiting factor to determine the lower limit of detection for analyte of interest with ESI (Figure 2.9). Chemical noise is another type of interference, and can be manifested as a fixed pattern of noise revealed at specific m/z units. This chemical noise is generally caused by the mass analysis of charged species other than the analyte. Thus, interferences are often either adducts in the electrospray solution, species generated electrochemically, or neutral species present in the atmosphere around the ESI spray that are charged in the gas phase by proton transfer (Ramsey *et al.*, 1993; Purves *et al.*, 1998; Guevremont *et al.*, 2000). To avoid discharge and a poor ESI response, sample optimisation (clean up) and the use of mobile phase additives at the lowest possible concentration must be considered.

2.5 Summary

This chapter presents an account of 'how ESI works' and has highlighted the relevant practical considerations of ESI for peptide analytes. However, it represents only a limited account of ESI and extensive details can be found in reviews (e.g. Cole *et al.*, 2010).

Chapter 3 - Sample Optimisation: Separation and Detection of α-Defensins

3.1 Background

Fields that utilise saliva now include metabolomics, genomics, proteomics and bioinformatics (Javaid *et al.*, 2015). However, the composition of the saliva matrix, its biochemical properties and inherent variability and instability, may be problematic. The sensitivity and specificity of the LC-ESI-MS method often allows for the detection of low-abundance proteins and peptides within biological studies (Zhang *et al.*, 2010). Saliva is a complex matrix and in order to enhance the ESI response, sample optimisation may be important.

This chapter outlines the issues related to the methods of sample preparation used in previous studies to analyse salivary HNPs. Few studies have reported the detection and analysis of human neutrophil α -defensins within the saliva matrix (Cabras *et al.*, 2005; Vitorino *et al.*, 2004; Peulso *et al.*, 2000). These studies have some limitations, such as insufficient sample clean-up, which could result that the peptides were co-eluted during the analysis leading to the possibility of ion suppression or enhancement thus potentially compromising quantitation. Ion suppression and enhancement is one form of matrix effect that negatively affects detection capability, precision and accuracy (Mallet *et al.*, 2004).

Goebel (2000) and Gardner (2009) reported the separation of individual α -defensins using solid phase extraction (SPE) sample preparation method. However, in both studies there was insufficient information regarding the selection of the solvent composition to conduct SPE. Therefore, a pilot study is necessary to analyse salivary HNPs so that a single method can be finalised for the main study. This pilot study assesses the impact of different sample treatments, such as with SPE and acidification without SPE for the analysis of individual HNPs (Cabras *et al.*, 2005; Vitorino *et al.*, 2004; Peulso *et al.*, 2005; Goebel *et al.*, 2000; Mizukhawa *et al*, 1998). Sample optimisation parameters are also described in this chapter, including analyte recovery, sample drying efficiency, sample treatment, and matrix effects. Overall, the focus of this chapter is on the relevant conceptual features of sample preparation methods with respect to practical experimentation for the analysis of HNPs.

3.1.1 Sample Preparation Techniques

It is well established that both the sensitivity and accuracy of peptide identification and quantification can be affected by many factors, including sample purity and LC-MS analysis. The presence of electrolytes within body fluids (e.g. plasma, saliva etc.) is normal. The

sensitivity of ESI towards some inorganic compounds has already been discussed in Chapter 2. To date, without-SPE (acidification) and with-SPE have been the preferred methods of sample preparation for the analysis of salivary HNPs. Thus, the fundamental characteristics of without-SPE and SPE for analysing salivary HNPs are discussed in this sub-section.

3.1.2 Acidification

Generally, acidifying saliva samples is performed using formic acid, acetic acid or trifluoroacetic acid, and the benefit of this technique is it takes less time. The acidification technique was used by Lupi *et al.*, (2003) to analyse salivary cystatins, and the application of the acidification technique by Lupi *et al.*, was modified by Vitorino (2004) by adding a subsequent filtration stage for separating salivary peptides from all the mucins and proteins present in the saliva to maximise the number of peptides identified. HNP3, along with other AMPs (such as histatins and statherin), were detected and identified by Vitorino (2004), while Peulso (2005) and Cabras (2010) executed the acidification technique (as per the work of Lupi) for the relative quantification of salivary HNPs, as well as other peptides and proteins.

3.1.3 Solid Phase Extraction

Solid phase extraction is one of the most popular sample preparation techniques and involves the use of chromatographic sorbents within a column format. A sample is passed through a column bed and analytes are retained on the sorbent while the sample matrix liquid passes through. The stationary phase of the column then washed to remove undesired interferences, and the purified analytes are subsequently eluted from the column (Figure 4.1) (Chromacademy 2010). The advantage of SPE is that a wide variety of stationary phases are available for the selective removal of analytes from desired analytes, including those with polar, hydrophobic and ionic interactions. The challenge, however, is to choose the washing and elution solvents and any additives. Analyte recovery is typically achievable at around 85-95% for a particular analyte (Matuszewski *et al.*, 2003). However, in some cases, interfering components may not be selectively separated from the analyte. Goebel (2000) reported the use of SPE for the analysis of salivary HNPs, where SPE was carried out for eledoisin, kassinin, substance P, and physalaemin peptides. The solvent composition used by Goebel (2000) was 50% MeCN in 1% aqueous AC, and this solvent composition was also used in the experiments of Gardner (2008).

3.2 Pilot Study

LC-ESI-MS is a current analytical method of choice for the quantitation of analytes within biological matrices (Scherl *et al.*, 2015; Grebe *et al.*, 2016; Taylor *et al.*, 2005); however,
matrix effects may lead to significant analytical errors (Xu et al., 2005). Guidance on bioanalytical method validation, asserts that the matrix effects require monitoring to ensure that the sensitivity, precision, and selectivity remain uncompromised, particularly when procedures are based on LC-MS (Huber et al., 2010). Matrix effects are the alternation of the ionisation efficiency in the presence of co-eluting substances (Tang and Kebarle et al., 1993), and can affect the development of MS methods, as they may lead to ion suppression, inhibiting ionisation and sensitivity during ESI, with LOQ adversely affected (Buhrman et al., 1996). Thus, the minimisation of matrix effects to maintain sensitivity is essential when developing a method. It is not always possible to separate analyte from interferences within a chromatogram in order to avoid ion suppression (Chromacademy 2010). Hence, the optimisation of various methods for sample preparation to obtain improved separation efficiency is necessary for specific analytes. The general method described in Chapter 3 described the sample preparation, storage and collection of saliva. The purpose of the sample preparation used in this project is to clean a sample before analysis and concentrate it. Goebel (2000) and Lupi (2003) assessed two methods of sample preparation: SPE and acidification, and these two preparation methods have also been investigated in this study. This pilot study serves the purpose of comparing the two sample preparation techniques for analysing individual HNPs within the human saliva matrix. Valuable insights were obtained from both methods for individual HNPs and the drying efficiency, extraction recovery, mobile phase solvents and matrix effects are also discussed in the context of LC-MS separation efficiency of SPE.

3.3 Materials and Methods

3.3.1 Chemicals and Reagents

LC-MS grade water was obtained from Fisher Scientific (Dartford, UK), LC-MS grade methanol and acetonitrile (Hipersolv Chromanorm) was obtained from VWR (Leicestershire, UK) and acetic acid (\geq 98% purity) and formic acid (\geq 95% purity) from Sigma-Aldrich (Gillingham, UK).

3.3.2 Instruments and LC-MS Experimental Conditions

Saliva samples were analysed by LC-MS using an Agilent 1200 series HPLC from Agilent Technologies (Santa-Clara, USA) coupled to a Quadrupole Time of Flight Mass Spectrometer from Waters Synapt G1 (Manchester, UK). The saliva was separated on a Kinetex® Core Shell C8 column (2.6 μ m, 50 x 3.0 mm) (Phenomenex, USA). The mobile phase compositions were A: 0.1% (v/v) acetic acid in H₂O and B: 0.1% (v/v) acetic acid in MeOH, and were delivered

at a flow rate of 0.6 mL/min with a gradient of B 2-95% over a 45 minutes: In general, Eluent B was increased from 2 to 50% over 19 minutes, followed by an increase to 95% over 2 minutes. Eluent B was maintained at 95% for 3 minutes, followed by a rapid return to the initial condition of B (2%), which was maintained for 20 minutes for re-equilibration of the column. The injection volume was 10 μ L. An EIC was used for the analysis of salivary HNP1-3. Individual HNP1-4 levels were calculated from the EIC peak areas of HNP1-4 ions corresponding to [M + 3H]³⁺, [M + 4H]⁴⁺ and [M + 5H]⁵⁺.

3.3.3 Sample Collection

3.3.3.1 Circadian Rhythm

A circadian rhythm is a biological process that displays an oscillation over 24 hours. Circadian (daily) low flow occurs during sleep (Dawes *et al.*, 1974) and circadian flow variations affect the concentration levels of salivary components. In the 1970s, studies reported that cortisol exhibited a circadian variation and may be secreted episodically (Hellman *et al.*, 1970; Krieger *et al.*, 1971). Circadian variations affect the concentration level of hormone (cortisol), and Harris *et al.*, (2010) reported that levels of cortisol increase on awakening (0 mins) and peak after 45 minutes, followed by a steady decrease throughout the day. Interestingly, Davison (2009) reported the circadian variation of HNP 1-3 over a 2.5-hour period in the morning as detected by ELISA, although no significant variation was found for the average response of salivary HNP 1-3. Therefore, when measuring cortisol or salivary HNPs it is important to control for these variables. Consequently, in the study presented in this thesis all the samples were collected at approximately the same time of the day (3-5 pm) to avoid circadian variation.

3.3.3.2 Stimulated versus Unstimulated saliva

The concentration of salivary components including α -defensins and cortisol secretion may be different under stimulated and unstimulated conditions (Von Zastow *et al.*, 1987). It is also well documented that glandular contribution by volume changes following stimulation (Mandell *et al.*, 1972, Shannon *et al.*, 1974, Edgar *et al.*, 1990). Unstimulated whole saliva is expected to yield higher levels of serum derived proteins and peptides, while stimulated whole saliva is expected to have a greater concentration of glandular derived proteins and peptides (Mandell *et al.*, 1993, Shannon *et al.*, 1974, Edgar *et al.*, 1990; Von Zastow *et al.*, 1987; Edgar *et al.*, 1992). However, α -defensins are serum derived peptides and cortisol is a serum derived hormone and therefore, in this study unstimulated saliva was collected from the participants.

Participants were advised to refrain from drinking for ten minutes before producing saliva sample, and from eating for a minimum of two hours before collection. There are several ways of collecting saliva, such as draining, drooling, suction and swabbing. Spitting and draining are the most reliable and reproducible methods for the collection of unstimulated whole saliva, and both methods provide similar information (Navazesh *et al.*, 1993). The suction and swab methods provide some degree of stimulation and variability and are therefore not recommended for unstimulated whole saliva collection. Consequently, in this study unstimulated whole saliva samples were collected using the spitting method (Navazesh *et al.*, 1993).

3.3.3.3 Saliva Storage

The correct storage of saliva is important to minimise degradation and the reduction of salivary components, which can affect the accuracy and precision of the results. In this study, the concentration levels of salivary hormone (cortisol) were compared with the α -defensins (HNP1-4) family. Therefore, saliva storage stability was considered for the cortisol hormone, as studies have suggested that salivary hormone is more stable at -80°C (Whembolua *et al.*, 2006; Kirschbaum *et al.*, 2000). No storage stability study has been optimised for HNPs in the human saliva matrix; however, HNP analytes were considered stable when 85–115% of the initial concentration was found in human plasma and serum after storage at -80°C (Van den broek *et al.*, 2010). These results support the storage of saliva samples at -80°C for measuring cortisol and HNPs in human saliva.

3.3.4 Sample Preparation

3.3.4.1 Method A using A SPE

Prior to LC-MS analysis, unstimulated saliva was diluted (by adding 1 mL, 1% aqueous acetic acid) and saliva was subjected to centrifugation at 12,000 *g* for 10 minutes at 4°C. Discovery® DSC-18 500 mg (3 mL tubes) SPE cartridges from Supleco (Bellefonte, PA, USA) were used to clean up the saliva samples. The SPE cartridges were conditioned in 15 mL of 50% MeOH in 1% aqueous acetic acid, then washed with 5 mL of HPLC grade water and the SPE cartridges were equilibrated (5 mL of 1% aqueous AC). The previously diluted 1 mL saliva sample was loaded onto the cartridges at a flow rate of 1 mL/min. The cartridge was washed with 10 mL of HPLC grade water in order to remove any electrolytes and salts and the peptides were eluted with 1 mL of 50% MeOH in 1% aqueous acetic acid (Figure 3.1). The eluent from the SPE was



Figure 3.1 Schematic diagram of saliva sample preparation for the analysis of individual HNP1-4 prior to LC-MS analysis. Two different saliva sample treatments were investigated: Method A (without SPE) and Method B (with SPE). Both sample treatment methods utilised the same STEP 1-2, process for the analysis of salivary HNPs.

dried using an Thermo Savant SPD 1010-130 integrated speedvac concentrator (Thermo Scientific, USA) and the saliva samples were reconstituted with the desired mobile phase. To determine whether the method had introduced any contamination that might interfere with the sample, a blank run was extracted under the same conditions.

3.3.4.2 Method B using acidification

In total, 0.1% AC 1:1 (v/v) was added to whole, unstimulated saliva and the saliva was subjected to centrifugation at 12,000 g for 10 minutes at 4°C and analysed by LC-MS (Figure 3.2).

3.3.5 Mobile Phase Extraction Buffer

To compare the effects on the LC-ESI response, eight different SPE solvent buffers were investigated are in Table 3.1

| Mobile phase solvents | Mobile phase solvents composition ratio |
|-----------------------------|--|
| H ₂ O+ MeOH + FA | H ₂ O+ MeOH (50:50) + 1% FA |
| $H_2O+MeOH+AC$ | H ₂ O+ MeOH (50:50) + 1% AC |
| $H_2O+MeOH+AC$ | H_2O+ MeOH (50:50) + 0.1% AC |
| H ₂ O+ MeOH + FA | H_2O+ MeOH (50:50) + 0.1% FA |
| H ₂ O+ MeCN + FA | H ₂ O+ MeCN (50:50) + 1% FA |
| H ₂ O+ MeCN + AC | H ₂ O+ MeCN (50:50) + 1% AC |
| H ₂ O+ MeCN + AC | H ₂ O+ MeCN (50:50) + 0.1% AC |
| H ₂ O+ MeOH + FA | H ₂ O+ MeCN (50:50) + 0.1% FA |

Table 3.1 Composition ratios for eight different SPE solvent buffers.

3.3.6 Internal Standard and Matrix Effects

The saliva matrix effects were assessed by comparing the peak areas (EIC) of Leu-enkaphelin, which was spiked into saliva samples before and after SPE. Three different concentrations of Leu-enkaphelin (0.3, 0.6 and 0.8 ng/ μ L) were added into saliva to compare the matrix effects. Matrix effects were calculated using the equation below:

EIC peak area of spiked Leu-enkapheline into saliva matrix EIC peak area of spiked Leu-enkaphelin into mobile phase X 100

3.3.7 Extraction Recovery

To account for losses, Leu-enkaphelin (0.3 ng/ μ L) was spiked into each saliva sample prior to SPE and Leu-enkaphelin levels were calculated from the EIC peak area of Leu-enkaphelin ions corresponding to $[M + H]^{1+}$.

Extraction recovery (%) was calculated using the equation below:

 $Leu-enkaphelin = \frac{EIC \text{ peak area of spiked Leu-enkapheline into saliva before SPE}}{EIC \text{ peak area of spiked Leu-enkaphelin into saliva after SPE}} \times 100$

3.4 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using Microsoft Excel 2013 with Excel Add-Ins and analysis tool pack ANALYS32.XLL. The presented data were analysed using a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and independent t-tests.

3.5 Results and Discussion

3.5.1 Sample Optimisation

3.5.1.1 Effects of SPE

A better separation and increased peak area (EIC) was observed in the SPE treated sample at a retention time of between 19-20 minutes for individual HNPs, whereas without SPE, two broad/tailing peaks were observed for this time interval (Figure 3.2, Figure 3.4, Figure 3.6 and Figure 3.8). The individual HNP 1-4 eluted at the retention time of 19.13, 19.41, 19.48 and 20.67 mins without SPE treated and retention time of 19.20, 19.43, 19.56 and 20.72 with SPE treated samples. In the SPE treated samples, peaks are well separated as interference from a protein and peptide has been removed. As indicated in the EICs, interferences have been eliminated and a cleaner spectrum and chromatogram are obtained using the SPE technique for individual HNPs in comparison to without SPE (Figure 3.2- Figure 3.10). A wide range of molecules can lead to ion suppression, especially when present in high concentrations within an extract and are eluted in the same retention window as the analytes of interest. The possible origins of ion suppression are multiple (Annesely et al., 2003). Ion suppressor agents include plastic and polymer residues, proton exchange promoting agents such as organic acids, calibration products and buffers, or material released by the SPE phase (Mallet et al., 2004). The SPE treated sample revealed more intense ion peaks $[M + 3H]^{3+}$, $[M + 4H]^{4+}$ and [M +5H]⁵⁺ for each individual HNP, whereas the same ions are more difficult to observe in samples that did not undergo SPE treatment (Figure 3.3, Figure 3.5, Figure 3.7 and Figure 3.9) and the



Figure 3.2 Extracted ion chromatogram of salivary HNP1. The EIC obtained for HNP1 ions corresponding to $[M + 3H]^{3+}$, $[M + 4H]^{4+}$ and $[M + 5H]^{5+}$. Two different sample treatments were investigated: Method A (SPE sample treatment) and Method B (without SPE sample treatment). Both methods show an interesting insight for the analysis of salivary HNP1. Method A shows a cleaner EIC compared to Method B; furthermore, an increased S/N (approximately 1 fold) was observed for HNP1 with the SPE treated sample compared to the without SPE treated sample.



Figure 3.3 ESI-MS spectrum of salivary HNP1. ESI-MS spectrum obtained for HNP1 ions corresponding to $[M + 3H]^{3+}$, $[M + 4H]^{4+}$ and $[M + 5H]^{5+}$. Method A shows a cleaner ESI-MS spectrum compared to Method B. The co-elution of protein was deconvulated by Magtran and the identity of the interference was confirmed to be a proline rich protein (PRP3; MW= 11,161).



Figure 3.4 Extracted ion chromatogram of salivary HNP2. The EIC obtained for HNP 2 ions corresponding to $[M + 3H]^{3+}$, $[M + 4H]^{4+}$ and $[M + 5H]^{5+}$. Two different sample treatments were investigated: Method A (SPE sample treatment) and Method B (without SPE sample treatment). Both methods show an interesting insight for the analysis of salivary HNP2. Method A shows a cleaner EIC compared to Method B, furthermore, an increased S/N (approximately 9 fold) was observed for HNP2 with the SPE treated sample compared to the without SPE treated sample.



Figure 3.5 ESI-MS spectrum of salivary HNP2. ESI-MS spectrum obtained for HNP2 ions corresponding to $[M + 3H]^{3+}$, $[M + 4H]^{4+}$ and $[M + 5H]^{5+}$. Method A shows a cleaner ESI-MS spectrum compared to Method B. The co-elution of peptide was deconvulated by Magtran and the identity of the interference was confirmed to be a proline rich peptide (PRP3; MW= 5792).



Figure 3.6 Extracted ion chromatogram of salivary HNP3. The EIC obtained for HNP3 ions corresponding to $[[M + 3H]^{3+}, [M + 4H]^{4+}$ and $[M + 5H]^{5+}$. Two different sample treatments were investigated: Method A (SPE sample treatment) and Method B (without SPE sample treatment). Both methods show an interesting insight for the analysis of salivary HNP3. Method A shows a cleaner EIC compared to Method B; furthermore, an increased S/N (approximately 9 fold) was observed for HNP3 with the SPE treated sample compared to the without SPE treated sample.



Figure 3.7 ESI-MS spectrum of salivary HNP3. ESI-MS spectrum obtained for HNP3 ions corresponding to $[M + 3H]^{3+}$, $[M + 4H]^{4+}$ and $[M + 5H]^{5+}$. Method A shows a cleaner ESI-Ms spectrum compared to Method B. The co-elution of peptide was deconvulated by Magtran and the identity of the interference was confirmed to be a proline rich peptide (PRP3; MW= 5792).



Figure 3.8 Extracted ion chromatogram of salivary HNP4. The EIC obtained for HNP4 ions corresponding to $[M + 3H]^{3+}$, $[M + 4H]^{4+}$ and $[M + 5H]^{5+}$. Two different sample treatments were investigated as follows: Method A (SPE sample treatment) and Method B (without SPE sample treatment). Both methods show an interesting insight for the analysis of salivary HNP4. Method A shows a cleaner EIC compared to Method B; furthermore, an increased S/N (approximately 2 fold) was observed for HNP4 with the SPE treated sample compared to the without SPE treated sample.



Figure 3.9 ESI-MS spectrum of salivary HNP4. ESI-MS spectrum obtained for HNP4 ions corresponding to $[M + 3H]^{3+}$, $[M + 4H]^{4+}$ and $[M + 5H]^{5+}$. Method A shows a cleaner ESI-MS spectrum compared to Method B. The co-elution of peptide was deconvulated by Magtran and the identity of the interference was confirmed to be an unknown peptide.



Figure 3.10 Extracted ion chromatograms obtained of individual HNP1-4 ions corresponding to $[M + 3H]^{3+}$, $[M + 4H]^{4+}$ and $[M + 5H]^{5+}$. Two different sample treatments were investigated: Method A (SPE sample treatment) and Method B (without SPE sample treatment). The peak area reduction between the HNPs in the SPE and without SPE treated samples ranged from 17 – 65%, which indicates the SPE clean-up was effective.

reason for this is the presence of co-eluting components. The peptide list was deconvoluted by Magtran and the identity of the interference was tentatively confirmed to be proline rich proteins (MW 11,161). The ions at m/z 1861, 1595, 1396, 1241,1117, 1015, 931, 859, 798, 745, correspond to the multiple charged ions $[M + 6H]^{6+}$, $[M + 7H]^{7+}$ and $[M + 8H]^{8+}$, [M + $9H]^{9+}$, $[M + 10H]^{10+}$ and $[M + 11H]^{11+}$, $[M + 12H]^{12+}$, $[M + 13H]^{13+}$ and $[M + 14H]^{14+}$, $[M + 12H]^{10+}$ 15H¹⁵⁺ of PRP3; Peulso (2007) reported that α -defensins 1-3 and proline rich proteins (PRPs) co-elute. Multiple charged ions $[M + 6H]^{6+}$, $[M + 7H]^{7+}$ and $[M + 8H]^{8+}$, $[M + 9H]^{9+}$, $[M + 6H]^{6+}$, $[M + 7H]^{7+}$ and $[M + 8H]^{8+}$, $[M + 9H]^{9+}$, $[M + 6H]^{6+}$, $[M + 7H]^{7+}$ and $[M + 8H]^{8+}$, $[M + 9H]^{9+}$, $[M + 6H]^{8+}$, $[M + 7H]^{7+}$ and $[M + 8H]^{8+}$, $[M + 9H]^{9+}$, $[M + 6H]^{8+}$, $[M + 7H]^{7+}$ and $[M + 8H]^{8+}$, $[M + 9H]^{9+}$, $[M + 6H]^{8+}$, $[M + 7H]^{8+}$, $[M + 8H]^{8+}$, $[M + 9H]^{9+}$, $[M + 6H]^{8+}$, $[M + 7H]^{8+}$, $[M + 8H]^{8+}$, $[M + 9H]^{9+}$, $[M + 6H]^{8+}$, $[M + 7H]^{8+}$, $[M + 8H]^{8+}$, $[M + 9H]^{8+}$, $[M + 9H]^{8+}$, $[M + 6H]^{8+}$, $[M + 7H]^{8+}$, $[M + 8H]^{8+}$, $[M + 9H]^{8+}$, $[M + 9H]^{8+}$, $[M + 6H]^{8+}$, $[M + 8H]^{8+}$, $[M + 9H]^{8+}$, [M + 9H] $10H^{10+}$ and $[M + 11H^{11+}, [M + 12H^{12+}, [M + 13H^{13+}] and [M + 14H^{14+}, [M + 15H^{15+}] of$ PRP3 are still visible in the mass spectrum, although at a much lower intensity (Figure 3.3). The structural variation between the HNPs and PRPs could cause a reduction in the recovery of PRPs from the SPE phase. The co-eluting/interfering proteins present in the HNP2-3 mass spectra (Figure 3.5 and Figure 3.7) are likely to be a proline rich proteins (P-B, MW 5792), as confirmed by Magtran, while the co-eluting species within the HNP4 spectrum (Figure 3.9) could not be identified. The peak area reduction between the HNPs in the SPE and without SPE treated samples ranged from 17-65% (Figure 3.10). This demonstrates the effectiveness of washing off the samples (SPE).

3.5.1.2 Internal Standard and Matrix Effects

The peak areas of Leu-enkephalin between a human saliva matrix and non-saliva matrix were compared with one another in order to evaluate the saliva matrix effects (Figure 3.11).



Figure 3.11 Matrix effects of Leu-enkephalin were compared with human saliva and non-saliva matrix. Three different concentrations such as low concentration quality control (LQC= 0.3 ng/uL), medium concentration quality control (MQC=0.6 ng/uL) and high concentration quality control (HQC=0.8 ng/uL) standards of Leu-enkephalin were spiked into the saliva samples prior to SPE and then analysed by LC-MS. The peak area was calculated from EIC for single charged ions corresponding to $[M + 1H]^{1+}$ for Leu-enkephalin. Bars represent ± mean std (n=3).

Three different concentrations, LQC = 0.3, MQC = 0.6 and HQC = 0.8 ng/uL, were spiked into the saliva samples prior to SPE and then analysed by LC-MS. Leu-enkephalin was chosen as the internal standard due to it being a well-known stable peptide often used for in mass spectrometry and typically having a single charged ion corresponding to the $[M + 1H]^{1+}$ charge state (Polfer *et al.*, 2007; Schnier *et al.*, 1997, Sztaray *et al.*, 2011). The endogenous internal standard, HNP2, was also investigated but due to stability concerns, further analysis of matrix effects could not proceed. The internal standard showed a different retention times (~15 min) compared to that of the HNPs. However, no matrix effects on the internal standard were observed in the saliva and non-saliva matrix samples. A paired t-test revealed that there were no significant differences in the peak area of Leu-enkephalin between the saliva matrix and non-matrix saliva samples (Figure 3.11) for LQC, MQC and HQC (p = 0.01).

3.5.1.3 Extraction Recovery

The sample extraction recovery of Leu-enkephalin was tested at three different concentrations (LQC: 0.3 ng/ μ L; MQC: 0.6 ng/ μ L; and HQC: 0.8 ng/ μ L) within the saliva matrix and the recovery data for Leu-enkephalin in the spiked saliva were 88 – 94% for LQC, MQC and HQC (Table 3.2).

| Sample (n=3) | Concentration (ng/µL) | Peak area (mean ± std) | % Recovery |
|--------------------------------|-----------------------|------------------------|------------|
| Spiked Leu-enkephalin in human | LQC | 74 ± 4.0 | - |
| saliva (Pre-extraction) | MQC | 111 ± 0.8 | - |
| | HQC | 127 ± 0.7 | - |
| Spiked Leu-enkephalin in human | LQC | 82 ± 1.6 | 88 |
| saliva (Post extraction) | MQC | 118 ± 0.2 | 94 |
| | HQC | 136 ± 1.5 | 93 |

 Table 3.2 Recovery of Leu-enkephalin following SPE sample treatment.

Three different concentrations such as low concentration quality control (LQC= 0.3 ng/ μ L), medium concentration quality control (MQC=0.6 ng/ μ L) and (high concentration quality control HQC=0.8 ng/ μ L) standards of Leu-enkephalin were spiked into the saliva samples prior to and after SPE and analysed by LC-MS.

There is no recommended threshold for sample recovery, and although an ideal recovery would be 100%, anything above 80% for complex biological fluids is acceptable (U.S. Department of Health *et al.*, 2001). However, the extent of recovery of the analytes and internal standard/quality control should be consistent (U.S. Department of Health *et al.*, 2001).

3.5.1.4 Sample Drying Efficiency

Sample drying and concentrating efficiency affects method reliability and reproducibility. Sample drying efficiency was investigated for individual HNPs using two methods: a vacuum centrifuge SpeedVac SPD 1010-130 (ThermoFisher, Colorado, USA) and a manual nitrogen dryer. Saliva drying efficiency was assessed by comparing the peak areas of individual HNPs (Figure 3.12). A significant difference (p < 0.05) was observed between the efficiency of the vacuum centrifuge SpeedVac SPD 1010-130 (ThermoFisher, Colorado, USA) and the manual nitrogen dryer.



Figure 3.12 Peak area after sample drying for individual HNPs. The peak area was calculated from the EIC for individual HNP1-4 ions corresponding to $[M + 3H]^{3+}$, $[M + 4H]^{4+}$ and $[M + 5H]^{5+}$. Bar chart represents mean \pm std (n=3).

Nitrogen evaporation is a manual procedure and thus needs to be consistently monitored. Usually, the method tends to lead to poor final dryness, as it leaves more space for human error. However, with respect to volatile solvents, relative rapidity can be observed during nitrogen evaporation.

3.5.1.5 ESI Response

SPE was conducted to separating the HNPs within the saliva matrix from other components. Different mean peak areas were obtained using eight different SPE buffer extraction solvents and (p = 0.05, Table 3.3).

| Mobile phase extraction buffer | pН | HNP1 (mean ± std) | HNP2 (mean ± std) | HNP3 (mean± std) | HNP4 (mean± std) |
|--|------|-------------------|-------------------|------------------|------------------|
| $MeOH + H_2O (50:50) + 1\% FA$ | 2.59 | 170 ± 5.3 | 132 ± 5.0 | 139 ± 13 | 62 ± 0.4 |
| $MeOH + H_2O (50:50) + 1\% AC$ | 2.88 | 354 ± 10 | 256 ± 8.0 | 153 ± 0.3 | 84 ± 3.6 |
| $MeOH + H_2O \ (50{:}50) + 0.1\% \ AC$ | 3.11 | 106 ± 4.0 | 107 ± 1.3 | 63 ± 1.4 | 57 ± 1.0 |
| $MeOH + H_2O (50:50) + 0.1\% \ FA$ | 3.01 | 82 ± 4.5 | 58 ± 1.0 | 24 ± 1.6 | 36 ± 2.5 |
| $MeCN + H_2O~(50{:}50) + 1\%~FA$ | 2.48 | 201 ± 1.0 | 173 ± 3.1 | 127 ± 2.4 | 47 ± 1.9 |
| MeCN + H_2O (50:50) + 1% AC | 2.91 | 302 ± 7.3 | 191 ± 9.8 | 165 ± 1.6 | 90 ± 3.6 |
| $MeCN + H_2O \ (50{:}50) + 0.1\% \ AC$ | 3.91 | 113 ± 1.1 | 94 ± 1.6 | 53 ± 0.1 | 36 ± 0.2 |
| $MeCN + H_2O \ (50{:}50) + 0.1\% \ FA$ | 3.56 | 58 ± 1.8 | 31 ± 2.1 | 21 ± 1.3 | 13 ± 0.6 |

 Table 3.3 ESI response using various mobile phase solvents and additives.

The peak area was calculated from EIC for individual HNP 1-4 ions corresponding to $[M + 3H]^{3+}$, $[M + 4H]^{4+}$ and $[M + 5H]^{5+}$. The table represents mean ± std (n=3).

ESI responses can also be affected by the recovery of the analyte; thus Leu-enkephalin (0.6 ng/uL) as an internal standard was spiked into the saliva prior to and after SPE. The recovery data for Leu-enkephalin in spiked saliva showed 90–94% recovery. The peak area was noted to increase when the pH range was 2.48 to 2.91 in the mobile phase condition [MeOH + H₂O (50:50) + 1% AC; MeOH + H₂O (50:50) + 1% AC; MeOH + H₂O (50:50) + 1% AC; MeCN + H₂O (50:50) + 1% FA and MeCN + H₂O (50:50) + 1% AC]. The data obtained from the investigation suggests that the pH ranges (2.48 to 2.91 and 3.01 to 3.91) differ (p > 0.05). The cationic characteristics of the HNP peptides could drive such differences, since they may ionise more efficiently in the range pH 2.48 to 2.91 compared to the range pH 3.01 to 3.91.

3.6 Summary

Saliva contains thousands of proteins and peptides which can cause ion suppression of HNPs during ESI analysis. Thus, optimisation of common separation methods and a comparison of the matrix effects at the time of LC-MS analysis was necessary. A cleaner mass spectrum was confirmed through comparing without SPE and with SPE. SPE appears to have removed the matrix compounds in individual HNPs and minimised ion suppression. The ESI response of individual HNPs may be affected by the mobile phase of SPE extraction, hence the final analysis used aqueous 0.1% acetic acid: methanol (50:50). The significance of washing the saliva samples through SPE before analysing individual HNPs was proven in this pilot study. This chapter demonstrates how HNP recovery can be influenced by sample drying efficiency, and this is the reason that vacuum centrifugation was implemented in the final study.

Chapter 4 - LC-MS Method Optimisation

4.1 Background

In proteomic research, ESI has become one of the most popular analytical technique (Ong *et al.*, 2005; Lill *et al.*, 2004). The selectivity and sensitivity of LC-ESI-MS analysis depends not only on the ionisation technique but also on the LC method (Snyder *et al.*, 2011; Lee *et al.*, 2005; Beck *et al.*, 2012). Reverse-phase LC is one of the most commonly used analytical techniques for biomolecules separations (Boyson *et al.*, 2001). The aim of this project was to optimise an LC-MS method for the analysis of individual HNPs present in human saliva. Chapter 1 highlighted the importance of using LC-MS compared to previous approaches using ELISA. Considering the biological importance of HNPs and the future clinical implications, it is clear that an optimised LC-MS method is needed. To accomplish this, it is important to optimise various LC and MS parameters; therefore, the focus of this chapter is on LC parameters, such as solvent composition (various mobile phase solvents with different additives and pH), gradient length, column choice and ion intensity. Furthermore, the theoretical background for LC-MS parameters (stationary phase of column, mobile phase solvents and the van Deemter curve) is discussed. In general, this chapter focuses on the most important theoretical aspects of LC-MS that are relevant to the practical experimental work.

4.2 Quantitative Approaches

Different analyte responses in MS vary due to ionisation efficiency and analyte characteristics, making quantification difficult. However, over time many quantitative proteomic approaches have been established, and the most common are known as labelling and label-free quantitation. The next subsection will explore the basic principles of the label-free and isotope labelled approaches.

4.2.1 Labelling Based Approach

The common workflow is to tag peptide containing samples with equivalent reagents, one of which includes a heavy mass tag and the other a light mass or no tag. The labelled samples are analysed by mass spectrometry after being mixed and fractionated using LC. The peaks in the mass spectra reveal the ratio of the two-different isotopic or mass tag variants. The ratio is then used to identify protein or peptide relative abundances (Figure 4.1). Over the past decade several MS labelling based quantitative proteomic strategies have been published (Thompson *et al.*, 2003; Schmidt *et al.*, 2005; Dayon *et al.*, 2008; Boersema *et al.*, 2009), with most relying

on the labelling of samples from different sources with stable isotopes (²H, ¹³C and ¹⁵N) followed by quantitative analysis using a mass spectrometer. In general, stable isotope labels need to be carefully designed in order to prevent the introduction of systematic errors caused by the dissimilar behaviour of compounds with different labels. In addition, it is difficult to use the labelling based approach for proteins because of multiple charging.



Figure 4.1 Schematic diagram of labelling based quantitation. A fixed amount of an internal standard (Labelled isotope) is added to unknown samples and the ratio of the unknown and isotope labelled samples compared (modified from Megger *et al.*, 2013).

4.2.2 Label-Free Approach

The standard addition (label-free quantitation) method involves spiking a series of unknown samples with known amounts of an analytical standard in increasing quantities. Each spiked aliquot must be extracted and processed to give final extract solutions with a fixed final volume (Figure 4.2).



Figure 4.2 Example of standard addition quantification method. The response for each spiked sample (y-axis) is plotted against the amount of standard added to each sample (x-axis) and a best-fit line determined; the intercept should correspond to where the added amount of the standard is zero. The desired quantity (unknown) is determined from the intercept on the axis representing the amount of added sample (x-axis) (Tanner *et al.*, 2012).

The total amount of analyte measured is a combination of the spiked amount and an unknown amount, and measurement is followed by extrapolation of the calibration line to the zero response. The major limitation of this method is the large amount of sample required and the time involved (Wieling *et al.*, 2002; Boyd *et al.*, 2008). The label-free quantitative proteomics approach involves the measurement of chromatographic peak areas (also termed mass spectrometric signal intensities) of peptide precursor ions. Depending on the chromatographic method (e.g. reversed-phase LC), peptides are separated according to their particular physical properties (e.g. hydrophobicity, charge) and finally detected in a mass spectrometer.

In the acquired mass spectrum, each peptide with a particular charge and mass generates one mono-isotopic mass peak, and the intensity of this peak as a function of the retention time can be visualised in an in an extracted ion chromatogram. The area of a chromatographic peak has been shown to correlate linearly over a wide range with the protein/peptide abundance, which makes measurement feasible for quantitative studies (Bondarenko *et al.*, 2002; Megger *et al.*, 2013).

4.2.3 Semi-Quantitative Approach for HNPs

Different approaches have particular advantages and limitations; the advantage of using labelling based over label-free methods is the simultaneous measurement of different labelled samples within a single experiment, and also it provides an absolute concentration. Label-free analysis via peptide ion intensities requires a higher mass resolution mass spectrometer, as the precursor ion needs to be measured accurately. The Association of Bimolecular Resources Facilities has conducted a comprehensive study where eight known proteins were quantified in different sample mixtures. Their study demonstrated gel based approaches, as well as MS based techniques (label-free and labelling based quantitation approaches), and monitored protein ratios were close to the expected values, especially for proteins with the lowest abundance using the label-free approach (Turck *et al.*, 2007; Megger *et al.*, 2013).

In agreement with earlier studies, the label-free approach was also found to yield a higher proteome coverage, and the authors were able to show that among these techniques the label-free approach has the largest dynamic range compared to the labelled based approach (Bondarenko *et al.*, 2002; Turck *et al.*, 2007; Patel *et al.*, 2009; Tian *et al.*, 2009; Griffin *et al.*, 2010; Lundgren *et al.*, 2010; Neilson *et al.*, 2011; Collier *et al.*, 2011; Merl *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, in this study a label-free (standard addition) and data analysis (chromatographic peak area) method was chosen to compare the relative levels of individual HNPs.

4.3 van Deemter Curve

Band broadening is a phenomenon that reduces the efficiency of the separation, and leads to poor resolution and can lead to poor chromatographic performance (accuracy of quantitation). The degree of band broadening (loss of efficiency) increases depending on the type of column used and in 1956 J. J. van Deemter derived an equation that included the main factors contributing to column band broadening. van Deemter described the individual terms (Eddy diffusions = A, longitudinal diffusions = B, mass transfer = C) and also the curve, which related the plate height to the linear velocity of the mobile phase flowing through a column (van Deemter *et al.*, 1956).

4.3.1.1 Eddy Diffusion

Eddy diffusions (A term) describe the variations in the mobile phase flow or analyte flow path within a chromatography column. Multiple paths (variation in the mobile phase flow or analyte flow) arise due to inhomogeneity in column packing (Figure 4.3). Eddy diffusion can be minimised by selecting well-packed columns (smaller particle size); therefore, in this project three different particle size columns (2.5, 2.6 and 5 μ m) were investigated.



Figure 4.3 Illustration of eddy diffusion. Eddy diffusion (A term) describes the multiple path variation which arises due to inhomogeneity in column packing. A smaller particle size column provides improved peak shape compared to a larger particle size column (modified from Chromacademy 2010)

4.3.1.2 Longitudinal Diffusion

Longitudinal diffusion (B term) usually occurs when a HPLC system contains internal volumes that are larger than necessary (tubing length is too long, tubing is too wide, tubing is joined by unions using the wrong column nuts and ferrules). Usually, the longitudinal effect has a much larger effect at a low mobile phase flow rate (Figure 4.4).

Therefore, minimising the longitudinal diffusion (optimum or higher mobile phase flow rate with narrow columns) reduces the effects of the longitudinal diffusion factor.



Figure 4.4 Illustration of longitudinal diffusion. Longitudinal diffusion (B term) usually occurs when a HPLC system contains internal volumes that are larger than necessary. The peak shape can be improved by using an optimal flow rate (modified from Chromacademy 2010)

4.3.1.3 Mass Transfer

Analyte residence time in the stationary phase of a column is variable and usually causes band broadening. The effects of mass transfer (C term) can be minimised by reducing the size (diameter) of the packing material. Mass transfer is also affected by the linear velocity of the mobile phase (Figure 4.5). The analysis of peptide separations are of great importance in biological research. However, the sample complexity is enormous with typically hundreds of species encountered in proteomics samples. Evidently, the chromatographer is con-fronted with an enormous separation challenge (Vanhoenacker *et al.*, 2009).



Figure 4.5 Illustration of mass transfer. Mass transfer (C Term) band broadening processes in the pore structure of the stationary phase particles. Peak shape can be improved by using a smaller particle size column and optimum flow rate (modified from Chromacademy 2010).

The separation efficiency for complex biological fluids are dependent on stationary phase and internal diameter of the column. However, for a successful operation of LC, understanding the Van-Deemter curve is of key importance to determine the LC response (Swartz *et al.*, 2005; Guillarme *et al.*, 2010). A longer column with a smaller particle size and smaller internal diameter often requires long run times and the pressure of such a column increases dramatically

(Joseph *et al.*, 2010; Petersson *et al.*, 2008). Alternatively, a short column packed with a smaller particle size and smaller internal diameter is also capable of maintaining the quality (separation efficiency) of the data (Joseph *et al.*, 2010). Based on van Deemter's theory, a smaller particle size column (e.g. 2.6 μ m) was used for the optimisation of the separation efficiency of individual salivary HNPs. As a part of the optimisation process, a larger particle size (5 μ m) column was also compared with the smaller (2.6 μ m) column.

4.4 Chromatographic Parameters

4.4.1 Column

Reversed-phase (C18), a non-polar stationary phase has become one of the most popular columns for peptide separation (Lee *et al.*, 2005). The most common solid support for a reversed-phase column is silica endcapped with C18 alkyl chains, as it has a highly robust hydrophobic phase that produces good retention with hydrophobic (non-polar) analyte molecules.

A reversed-phase column is also suitable for polar compounds when the mobile phase contains additives. A C18 packed column is a good starting point for most chromatographic separations, since it maximises retention of moderately polar to non-polar compounds (Agilent Technologies 2012; Lee *et al.*, 2005). A core shell Phenomenex Kinetex C18 column was compared with an ACE UltraCore shell C18 column.

The manufacturing process utilises an encapsulated bonding technique and this process helps to minimise the influence of non-derivatised silanol groups. The endcapping reagent is generally a smaller silane (SiH₄), which is later used for derivatisation, and this reduces unwanted interactions between polar or charged analytes, because the number of available silanol groups has been reduced (Hichrom 2014). A core shell column utilises a sol-gel processing technique that incorporates nano-structuring technology, whereby a homogeneous porous shell is grown on a solid silica core to create a core-shell particle (Chromacademy 2010). This study is the first to investigate the separation efficiency of individual HNPs in human saliva using this type of column.

4.4.2 Flow Rate

Flow rate is a key component in van Deemter's band broadening theory. It is important to note that there is an optimum flow rate for individual analyte separation, which is the minimum point on the curve corresponding to the lowest plate height. Flow rate plays an important role in improving the efficiency of the separation; however, some mobile phase solvents, such as MeOH, are more viscous and result in higher back-pressures, e.g. compared to MeCN.

While optimising the flow rate, the pressure limit of a LC system should be considered; in general, a column with an internal diameter (ID) of 2.0-4.6 mm, the typical flow rate is around 0.2-3 mL/min (depends on the length and particle size of the column). In this study, columns with 2.1 mm and 3.0 mm ID were investigated, where the optimum flow rate for the 2.1 mm ID column is around 0.3-0.7 mL/min and for the 3.0 mm ID column is around 0.6-1.3 mL/min (Petersson *et al.*, 2007; Joesph *et al.*, 2010; Phenomenex 2013). In addition, 0.6 mL/min was used for the 3.0 mm ID column and for method transfer 0.3mL/min was used for the 2.1 mm internal diameter column.

4.4.3 Mobile Phase Solvents and pH

The mobile phases in reversed phase HPLC usually consists of aqueous and organic solutions and commonly an organic modifier, with additives usually helping to control retention and resolution. The most common LC-MS mobile phase solvents are water, MeOH and MeCN. Chromatographically, during reversed phase HPLC water is the 'weakest' eluotropic solvent, as it is very polar and is repelled by the stationary phase more than any of the other solvents utilised. Adding organic solvents (MeOH or MeCN) and organic additives (FA, AC) helps a hydrophobic analyte to elute earlier; thus solvent modifiers and additives speed up elution and reduce retention time.

If the desired resolution cannot be achieved, or in order to improve optimisation further, it can be useful to investigate different mobile phase solvents and additives for particular analytes. In general, for peptide separation TFA as an additive is far superior to FA and AC; however, TFA is not compatible with ESI because of signal suppression from ion pairing and spray instability from surface-tension effects (Eshraghi *et al.*, 1993; Mirza *et al.*, 1994; Apffel *et al.*, 1995; Gustavsson *et al.*, 2001; McCalley *et al.*, 2004).

Consequently, a strategy to improve peptide separation would be the use of a mobile-phase modifier with a higher ionic strength at a specific pH. When a sample contains an ionisable analyte, the mobile phase pH can be the most important variable for LC-ESI-MS separation, and if the pH of the mobile phase is not properly controlled it can be a source of many problems. As highlighted in Chapter 2, basic analytes usually ionise well at a low pH where pH<pKa, while acidic analytes at ionise better at a higher pH where pH>pKa.

Therefore, ionisable compounds such as peptides are very sensitive to the mobile phase pH. Another factor that needs to be considered when optimising the mobile phase pH is the stability of the column. As a general rule, silica based columns should be operated at 2<pH<8.

Some investigations have shown that mobile phase modifiers composed of ammonium formate with FA (AFFA) provide similar separation characteristics to those obtained using mobile phases modified with TFA (McCalley *et al.*, 2003; Johnson *et al.*, 2013). It has also been suggested that AF and FA additives can improve load tolerance. FA has consistently shown high sensitivity to column overloading, especially for basic analytes (McCalley *et al.*, 2003, 2011).

The resemblance of AFFA to TFA in terms of separation characteristics makes it a potential candidate for use as a mobile-phase modifier in LC-MS, but only one investigation has been conducted to date that has evaluated the ability of AFFA to permit the efficient ionisation of peptide analytes (Johnson *et al.*, 2013).

Therefore, this study has investigated two different mobile phase solvents (MeOH, MeCN) and three different additives (FA, AC, AFFA) for the separation of individual HNPs using four columns with different stationary phases. The efficiency of the separation was assessed based on the ion intensity progile.

4.5 Materials and Methods

4.5.1 Chemicals and Reagents

The chemicals and reagents used in this study are listed in detail in Chapter 3.

4.5.2 Columns

A Kinetex[®] Core shell C18 and C8 column packed with 2.6 μ m particles (50 x 3.0 mm) and a Kinetex[®] Core shell C18 column packed with 5 μ m particles (50 x 2.10 mm) were obtained from Phenomenex (Torrance, CA, USA). An Ultra Core Super C18 ACE[®] column packed with 2.5 μ m particles (50 x 3.0 mm) was obtained from Hichrom Ltd (Reading, Berkshire, UK).

4.5.3 Flow Rate

Mobile phase composition was delivered at a flow rate of 0.6 mL/min for 3 mm ID columns and 0.3 mL/min for 2.10 mm ID columns. The saliva samples were run in quadruplicate.

4.5.4 LC Mobile Phase

The composition ratios for the six different mobile phase solvents used are listed in Table 4.1

| Mobile phase | Mobile phase solvents composition ratio | pН |
|-------------------------------|---|------|
| H ₂ O+ MeCN + FA | A: 0.1% (v/v) FA in H ₂ O and B: 0.1% (v/v) FA in MeCN | 3.56 |
| H ₂ O+ MeOH + FA | A: 0.1% (v/v) FA in H ₂ O and B: 0.1% (v/v) FA in MeOH | 3.01 |
| H ₂ O+ MeCN + AC | A: 0.1% (v/v) AC in H ₂ O and B: 0.1% (v/v) AC in MeCN | 3.91 |
| $H_2O+MeOH+AC$ | A: 0.1% (v/v) AC in H ₂ O and B: 0.1% (v/v) AC in MeOH | 3.11 |
| H ₂ O+ MeCN + AFFA | A: 0.1% FA+ 10 mM AF in H ₂ O and B: 0.1% FA+ 10 mM AF in 80% MeCN | 4.15 |
| H ₂ O+ MeOH + AFFA | A: 0.1% FA+ 10 mM AF in H ₂ O and B: 0.1% FA+ 10 mM AF in 80% MeOH | 4.39 |
| | | |

Table 4.1 Composition ratios for six different mobile phase solvents.

4.5.5 Gradient

Gradient solutions were adjusted based on the use of different mobile phase solvents and additives. In general, A: aqueous solvents contain 0.1% additives (v/v) and B: organic solvents contain 0.1% additives (v/v). Eluent B was increased from 2 to 50% over 19 minutes, followed by an increase to 95% over 2 minutes. Eluent B was maintained at 95% for 3 minutes, followed by a rapid return to the initial condition of B (2%), which was maintained for 20 minutes for re-equilibration of the column. The total gradient length was 45 minutes.

4.5.6 Sample preparation

SPE cartridges from Supleco (Bellefonte, PA, USA) were used to clean up the saliva samples (details in Chapter 3).

4.5.7 Equations

Column efficiency (theoretical plates) was calculated from the EIC for individual HNPs:

N=5.545
$$(\frac{t_{\rm R}}{W\frac{1}{2}})^2$$

where,

 t_R = retention time of the retained compound (individual HNPs),

 $W_{1/2} = peak$ width at half height.

4.6 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using Microsoft Excel 2013 with Excel Add-Ins, analysis tool pack, ANALYS32.XLL. The presented data were analysed using a one-way ANOVA and independent t-tests.

4.7 Results and Discussion

4.7.1 LC-MS Optimisation

4.7.1.1 Gradient

Reversed-phase gradient HPLC enables the analysis of a mixture of analytes possessing a broad range of polarities and retention characteristics in a single run, and for many applications this offers significant benefits over isocratic methodology. A linear gradient is commonly used to separate proteins and peptides that have similar affinities for the stationary phase. A longer (70 mins), medium (45 mins) and shorter (30 mins) gradient length was investigated.

The EIC was obtained for multiple charged ions corresponding to $[M + 3H]^{3+}$, $[M + 4H]^{4+}$ and $[M + 5H]^{5+}$ for the analysis of HNP1. The salivary HNP1 eluted at 9.87 min with the shorter gradient, 16.13 min and 36.96 with the medium and longer gradients, respectively (data not shown). The ions of HNP1 at 1148, 861 and 689 *m/z* correspond to $[M + 3H]^{3+}$, $[M + 4H]^{4+}$ and $[M + 5H]^{5+}$ and isobaric ions of an unknown peptide (MW 3298.59) show an ion at *m/z* 472.23, corresponding to $[M + 7H]^{7+}$, and an unknown peptide (MW 1199.5) shows an ion at *m/z* 600.78, corresponding to $[M + 2H]^{2+}$ (Table 4.2: ESI spectrum).

There is evidence of co-eluting ions from what appears to be an unknown peptide causing interference when analysing the HNP1 with the short gradient (25 mins). However, the 45 minutes and 90 minutes' gradients, respectively, provided sufficient chromatographic resolution to separate out this interference (Table 4.2: ESI spectrum). The longer gradient was time consuming with no measurable benefit, therefore a medium gradient length was chosen as the final gradient method.

| Gradient length | Solvent compositions | ESI-MS Profile (ion intensity) |
|--|--|---|
| Long (70 mins) | Time (mins) % B 0 2 2 2 40 50 42 95 44 95 46 2 | $\begin{bmatrix} M+5H \end{bmatrix}^{5^{+}} & 1: \text{ TOF MS ES} + \\ 689.2311 & 1: \text{ TOF MS ES} + \\ 689.4240 & \begin{bmatrix} M+4H \end{bmatrix}^{4^{+}} & 194 \\ 689.5975 & 861.2626 \\ -689.5975 & 861.5106 \\ -689.8290 & -861.7908 \\ -690.0219 & -862.0281 & \begin{bmatrix} M+3H \end{bmatrix}^{3^{+}} \\ -862.5458 & 1148.0125 \\ $ |
| | 70 2 | 0_ |
| | Time (mins) % B 0 2 2 2 19 50 | $\begin{bmatrix} M+5H \end{bmatrix}^{5^+}$ $\begin{array}{c} 689.3082 \\ 689.0961 \\ 689.5107 \\ 689.5396 \\ 689.5396 \\ 689.5396 \\ 689.5396 \\ 689.5396 \\ 689.5396 \\ 689.6922 \\ \end{array}$ |
| Medium (45 mins) | 21 95 23 95 25 2 45 2 | $ \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ -689.9061 \\ -862.1359 \\ -690.1281 \\ -862.4056 \\ -874.6472 \\ -691.4118 \\ -874.6472 \\ -800 \\ $ |
| Time (mins) 0 2 Short (30 mins) 16 17 18 20 30 | Time (mins) % B 0 2 2 2 | $\begin{bmatrix} M+5H \end{bmatrix}^{5^{+}} \\ \begin{bmatrix} M+5H \end{bmatrix}^{5^{+}} \\ \hline \\ & 689.2793 \\ \hline \\ & 100 \\ & 689.4722 \\ \hline \\ & 861.6075 \\ \hline \\ & 689.4722 \\ \hline \\ & 861.6075 \\ \hline \\ & 689.4722 \\ \hline \\ & 861.6075 \\ \hline \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ &$ |
| | $ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | image: co-eluting ions -861.6292 472.2880 -730.3521 -730.3521 -876.4620 400 500 600 700 800 900 1000 1100 1200 |
| | | ESI mass spectrum of HNP1 in saliva separated using a long, medium and short gradient length The EIC was obtained for multiple charged ions corresponding to $[M+3H]^{3+}$, $[M+4H]^{4+}$, $[M+5H]^{5+}$ of HNP1. |

Table 4.2 Optimisation of the gradient length for the separation of HNP1. A similar trend was observed for HNP2, HNP3 and HNP4.

4.7.1.2 Column Performance

The stationary phase and particle size can influence the performance of a column (Snyder *et al.*, 2011; Lee *et al.*, 2005; Beck *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, column performance was investigated based on different particle sizes (2.6, 5 μ m) and stationary phases (C18, C8). The bandbroadening model describes the relationship between the height equivalent of theoretical plate (HETP) and linear velocity, which is partly dependent on the diameter of the particle packed into the analytical column. Smaller particle diameters can significantly reduce the HETP, which results in higher efficiency and a flatter profile of the van Deemter curve (van Deemter *et al.*, 1956). The particle size of the stationary phase plays an important role when selecting a stationary phase. Therefore, the Phenomenex Kinetex[®] C18 column with smaller particles (2.6 μ m) and large particles (5 μ m), and different stationary phases (Phenomenex Kinetex[®] C18 versus Kinetex[®] C8) were compared for individual salivary HNPs (Figure 4.6).



Figure 4.6 Bar chart represents the response of HNPs using different particle sizes (2.6 versus 5 μ m) and stationary phases (C18 versus C8) column. The initial mobile phase solvents (A: 0.1% (v/v) FA in H₂O and B: 0.1% (v/v) FA in MeCN) were used. (i) At a constant flow rate (0.6 mL/min), Kinetex[®] 2.6 μ m column efficiency (theoretical plates) was higher than the Kinetex 5 μ m column. At a flow rate (0.6 mL/min), the Kinetex[®] C18 showed similar efficiencies (theoretical plates) compared to C8. The theoretical plates were calculated from EICs for multiple charged ions corresponding to [M + 3H]³⁺, [M + 4H]⁴⁺ and [M + 5H]⁵⁺ for the analysis of salivary HNPs.

Columns with higher theoretical plate numbers are considered to be more efficient; therefore, column separation efficiency (number of theoretical plates) was calculated from EIC for salivary HNPs. EICs were obtained for multiple charged ions corresponding to $[M+3H]^{3+}$, $[M+4H]^{4+}$, $[M+5H]^{5+}$ for the analysis of salivary HNPs. A significance difference was observed (p=0.05) between the Kinetex[®] C18 2.6 µm and 5 µm columns. The Kinetex[®] 2.6 µm column resulted

in a higher separation efficiency (number of theoretical plates) compared to the Kinetex[®] 5 μ m column (Figure 4.6). However, no significant difference was observed (p=0.10) between the stationary phases C18 versus C8. The column performance for particle size (2.6 vs 5 μ m) and stationary phase (C18 vs C8) was investigated using mobile phase solvents and additives (A: 0.1% (v/v) FA in H₂O and B: 0.1% (v/v) FA in MeCN).

However, further experiments were required using various mobile phase solvents and additives to compare column performance and the column performance investigation was expanded. The column performance for three different core shell Kinetex[®] C18 (50 x 3mm, 2.6 μ m), Kinetex[®] C18 (50 x 3mm, 5 μ m), and Kinetex[®] C8 (50 x 3mm, 2.6 μ m) and an ultra-core shell ACE[®] C18 (50 x 3mm, 2.5 μ m), using six different mobile solvents with three different additives, was assessed. This was the first study to investigate column performance between the Kinetex[®] core shell and the ACE Ultra-core shell using six different mobile phase solvents and three different additives for the analysis of individual salivary HNPs. The core shell and ultra-core shell column performance using six different mobile phases and three different additives is discussed in the following sections.

4.7.1.3 Core Shell versus Ultra-Core Shell

When developing a method for the separation of complex mixtures (saliva, blood, serum), it is best to try several different hydrophobic phases to determine which has the best selectivity for that particular mixture of peptides. C18 columns are generally preferred for peptides and small proteins less than about 5,000 Da, and the smallest and most hydrophilic peptides are often best separated on small pore C18 columns. Proteins larger than 5,000 Da or small polypeptides that are particularly hydrophobic are best separated on C4 or C8 columns.

C8 columns are similar to C18 columns in their application but sometimes offer a different selectivity or ability to separate particular peptides (Pearson *et al.*, 1982; Garnick *et al.*, 1988). Core shells composed of Kinetex[®] C18 (50 x 3mm, 2.6 μ m), Kinetex[®] C18 (50 x 3mm, 5 μ m), Kinetex[®] C8 (50 x 3mm, 2.6 μ m) and ultra-core shell ACE[®] C18 (50 x 3mm, 2.5 μ m) were investigated for the separation of individual HNPs. The residence time of HNP1 was 0.81 min longer for Kinetex[®] C18 (50 x 3mm, 5 μ m) and 0.2 min longer in Kinetex[®] C18 (50 x 3mm, 2.6 μ m) column compared to the Kinetex[®] C8 column and as a result peak broadening was observed for the mobile phase [A: 0.1% (v/v) FA in H₂O and B: 0.1% (v/v) FA in MeCN] (Figure 4.7).



Figure 4.7 The separation of individual HNPs in saliva using different stationary phase columns. Extracted ion current chromatogram of HNPs was obtained by multiply protonated charge state of $[M + 3H]^{3+}$, $[M + 4H]^{4+}$ and $[M + 5H]^{5+}$.

However, the residence time of HNP1 was 0.65 min longer for Kinetex[®] C8 (50 x 3mm, 2.6 μ m) compared to the ACE[®] C18 (50 x 3mm, 2.5 μ m) column, but the peak height was half than that for HNP1 for the ACE[®] C18 column compared to the Kinetex C8 column. The findings suggested that the ACE[®] C18 column provides poor separation compared to the Kinetex[®] C8 column. A similar trend was also observed for HNP2 and HNP3 and for six different mobile phase compositions.

4.7.1.4 ESI-MS Response

Human saliva is a complex mixture due to the number of proteins and peptides present in the saliva, making this sample more challenging. Longer run times are often required for 5 μ m particle size columns whereas a 2.6 μ m particle size column improves resolution and sensitivity. Kinetex[®] core shell columns have an advantage over porous silica columns in that the column back pressure is lower, allowing higher flow rates and enabling faster column equilibration and hence faster analysis times (Preti *et al.*, 2016).

To further test the column performance with various mobile solvents, the ESI-MS response (ion intensity) was measured. ESI-MS signal intensities depend on multiple factors, such as mobile phase pH and organic percentage, LC separation, ESI source parameters, and type and concentration of the mobile phase. The solution and gas phase ions are completely different environments, and the ions observed in the gas phase may not directly correspond to those present in the solution. For practicing mass septrometrists, understanding the gas phase ions represents an important and interesting challenge. Sometimes, a combination of solution and gas phase ion chemistry provides vital information leading to an understanding of the observed mass spectra. As the gas phase is a very different environment compared to the liquid phase provided by a polar solvent, many ions can become modified when entering the gas phase, and this is particularly the case for protonated bases (peptides). Since the basicity order in solution is often different from that in the gas phase, proton transfer to the stronger gas phase base can occur on formation of the gas phase ions (Tang and Kebrala et al., 1993; Wilm et al., 2011; Litlle et al., 2006). The ESI-MS responses (ion intensity) were calculated for individual HNPs corresponding to $[M + 3H]^{3+}$, [M $+ 4H^{4+}$ and $[M + 5H^{5+}]$ from the EICs (Figure 4.8, Figure 4.9 and Figure 4.10). An increased ion intensity (p = 0.05) was observed for HNP1 for the Kinetex[®] C8, 2.6 µm column using a mobile phase of 0.1% (v/v) AC in H₂O and B: 0.1% (v/v) AC in MeOH, out of six different mobile phases (Figure 4.8). A similar trend was also observed for the salivary HNP2 and HNP3 (Figure 4.9 and Figure 4.10).



Figure 4.8 ESI response of HNP1 was investigated using six different LC mobile phase solvents. The six different mobile phase solvents contained three different additives (0.1% v/v) with three different particle sizes $(2.6, 2.5 \text{ and } 5 \mu \text{m})$ and two different stationary phase (C18 versus C8) columns. The bars represent mean \pm std (n= 3).


Figure 4.9 ESI response of HNP2 was investigated using six different LC mobile phase solvents. The six different mobile phase solvents contained three different additives (0.1% v/v) with three different particle sizes $(2.6, 2.5 \text{ and } 5 \mu \text{m})$ and two different stationary phase (C18 versus C8) columns. The bars represent mean \pm std (n= 3).



Figure 4.10 ESI response of HNP3 was investigated using six different LC mobile phase solvents. The six different mobile phase solvents contained three different additives (0.1% v/v) with three different particle sizes $(2.6, 2.5 \text{ and } 5 \mu \text{m})$ and two different stationary phase (C18 versus C8) columns. The bars represent mean \pm std (n= 3).

The mobile phase MeOH resulted in higher ESI ion intensities compared to ionisation in MeCN, which is likely attributable to a more rapid desolvation of the ESI droplets (MeCN bp. \approx 82 °C, MeOH bp. ≈ 65 °C). The impact of AC, FA and AFFA on the evaluation of signal intensity was also examined for individual HNPs in the saliva matrix. The addition of AFFA and FA increases the ionic strength of the mobile phases, which should increase ion pairing, and thus may lead to ESI signal suppression. It has been suggested that an increase in ionic strength of the AFFA mobile phase has the potential to increase ion pairing, which in turn, could reduce the peptide-charge state and lead to a decrease in signal intensity (Johnson et al., 2013). For basic analytes, FA has traditionally been reported as a poor mobile phase modifier compared to AC (Apffel et al., 1995; Gustavsson et al., 2001). Regardless, for any dimensions of the column, the mobile phase composition of 0.1% (v/v) AC in H₂O and B: 0.1% (v/v) AC in MeOH, provided the highest ion intensity for individual HNP 1-3 (Figure 4.8, Figure 4.9 and Figure 4.10). One of the other possible reasons for the increase in ion intensity could be related to pH. In general, if the pH is near the pKa, smaller changes in pH could make large changes in the retention, which could affect the chromatographic resolution. For proteins and peptides, the pKa value is normally predicted from the charge state of the ion, consequently it is difficult to know the exact pKa of a peptide. The change in pH (4.15 - 3.01 = 1.38 units) affected the ion intensity of the Kinetex[®] C18, 2.6 µm column for six different mobile phases for HNP1, and similar trends were observed for HNP2 and HNP3 (Figure 4.8, Figure 4.9 and Figure 4.10). The reason for an increase in the ion intensity could also be related to the cationic characteristics of the HNP peptides, in that they separate more efficiently in the pH range of 3.00 - 3.56, compared to the pH range of 3.60 - 4.39.

4.8 Summary

This chapter has highlighted the importance of the mobile phase solvent and choice of column for chromatographic separation and ESI response. A medium gradient length was chosen rather than a shorter gradient to ensure better separation. A Phenomenex Kinetex C8 column with smaller particle size packing was the final choice of column, as it provides higher efficiency (theoretical plates) compared to the performance of the other columns. The mobile phase solvent MeOH with AC resulted in higher ESI ion intensities compared to MeCN with AC..

Chapter 5 - Method Validation

5.1 Background

Antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) present in saliva are key components of the innate immune system that functions as a primary defence against infection. Defensins (HNP1-4) are part of the mucosal immune system and have a broad spectrum of antibacterial and antifungal activity (Chapter 1). Several studies have reported increased levels of HNPs in biological fluids (saliva, plasma, and serum) during colorectal cancer patients (Melle et al., 2005; Albrethsen et al., 2005; Albrethsen et al., 2006), breasts cancers (Li et al., 2005), bladder cancer (Gunes et al., 2013), pulmonary disease (Paone et al., 2011) and sepsis (Panyutich et al., 1993) measured by ELISA. However, the relationship between exercise and the salivary levels of defensins have not yet been explored. Therefore, the quantitation of individual HNP levels during exercise could deepen our understanding of mucosal immunity. A reliable analytical method which is capable of detecting α -defensins (HNP1-4) within a single assay would be a valuable diagnostic and prognostic tool for the assessment of exercise induced inflammation. Here, the validation of an LC-MS method that allows simultaneous semi-quantification of four individual HNPs (HNP1, HNP2, HNP3 and HNP4) in human saliva is presented. This validated method has provided an opportunity to assess individual HNP levels in athletes' saliva, in order to understand their response to exercise. A cross-correlation of the data with the commonly used ELISA is also included.

The main objective of any analytical technique is to obtain consistent, reliable and accurate data, and method validation is used to evaluate the quality, reliability and consistency of the analytical results. Goebel (2000) presented a LC-ESI-MS method for the detection of salivary HNP1 and HNP2 and the limit of detection (LOD) was estimated to be around 100 ng/ μ L but no other validation parameters (stability, precision, and extraction recovery and matrix effects) were reported, while Van den Broek *et al.* (2010) presented the validation of a LC-ESI-MS method for the analysis of individual α -defensins (HNP1-3) in plasma and serum. This chapter describes the method validation guidelines, performance characteristics (linearity, precision, accuracy, recovery, stability), and the validation of the LC-MS method for the detection of individual HNPs in human saliva.

Table 5.1 Method validation guidelines (ICH 1996).

| Validation criteria | Validation requirement | Acceptable range |
|-----------------------------------|---|---|
| Specificity | Specificity is the ability to assess unequivocally the analyte in the presence of components which may be expected to be present. These might typically include impurities, degradants, and matrix effects. Besides chromatographic separation, the sample preparation step can also be optimised for best specificity. | For qualitative/qualitative analysis. |
| Linearity | Linearity is the ability of a method to obtain results which are within a given range, to obtain results which are directly proportional to the amount of analyte. This is established by calculating the regression line of the results and comparing it with analyte concentration. | Regression line R2 value >0.95 is expected for a method to be classed as linear. |
| LOD | The limit of detection of an individual analytical procedure as the lowest amount of analyte in a sample, which can be detected but not necessarily quantitated as an exact value. | S/N 3:1. |
| LOQ | The lowest amount of analyte in a sample which can be quantitatively determined with accuracy. | S/N 10:1. |
| Precision Intraday Interday | The precision of an analytical procedure is usually expressed as the variance standard deviation or coefficient of variation of a series of measurements.Intraday expresses the precision under the same operating conditions over a short interval of time.Interday within-laboratories variations: different days, different analysts, different equipment, | The coefficient of variation should be better than 20% at lower concentration and better than 15% at higher concentration. |
| | etc. | |
| Accuracy | Expresses the closeness of agreement between the test results and the value which is accepted as the true value. It indicates the deviation between the mean value and the true value. It should be presented as percent recovery of a known added amount of analyte in the sample. | All results should fall within $\pm 20\%$ of the expected value at the lower concentrations and within $\pm 15\%$ at higher concentrations. |

5.2 Method Validation Guidelines

The validation characteristics (Table 5.1), according to the ICH, are accuracy, precision (interday and interday), specificity, LOD, limit of quantitation (LOQ), linearity and stability. The validated method has been applied in the pilot study.

5.3 Materials and Methods

5.3.1 Participants

Five male and five female student athletes (age: 25 ± 2.7 years; height: 1.88 ± 0.7 m; body weight: 86 ± 13 kg) volunteered to participate in the pilot study, and nineteen males and four female athletes (age: 23 ± 2.39 years; height: 1.7 ± 0.1 m; body weight: 76 ± 11 kg) participated in the cross-validation study. Participants were recruited from the sports science group at the University of Greenwich, Medway. Ethical approval was obtained from the University of Greenwich Ethics Committee.

5.3.2 Instrumentation

The experimental instrument conditions for MS and LC (mobile phase and column) were listed in Chapter 3.

5.3.3 Sample Preparation

5.3.3.1 Analysis of individual HNPs by LC-MS

SPE cartridges from Supleco (Bellefonte, PA, USA) were used to clean up the saliva samples (details in Chapter 3).

5.3.3.2 Analysis of HNP1-3 by ELISA

The saliva samples were centrifuged (12,000 g, 10 mins; 4°C) and the supernatant diluted (1000×) in dilution buffer. Each sample was analysed in duplicate by ELISA (Hycult Biotech Inc, Netherlands) following to the manufacturer's instructions. A calibration curve was constructed consisting of eight prepared standards; 0.00015 to 0.01 ng/µL HNP1-3. Absorbance (450 nm) values for the saliva samples were interpolated from the calibration standards using a four-parameter logistic curve (My Assays, Version 2015).

5.3.4 LC-MS Validation

5.3.4.1 Linearity

The HNP2 standards (0.05, 0.1, 0.3, 0.6, 0.8 and 1 ng/ μ L) were prepared in HPLC grade water and reconstituted with the mobile phase [(MeOH + H₂O (50:50), both with 0.1% acetic acid

v/v]. The standards were analysed with LC-MS in triplicates and the signal-to-noise ratio (S/N) was plotted against concentration.

5.3.4.2 Precision

The intermediate precision (intra and interday) was investigated by spiking HNP2 into saliva post-SPE. The HNP2 standard was added at three different concentrations (0.3 ng/ μ L, 0.6 ng/ μ L and 0.8 ng/ μ L) and the level analysed in triplicate (n=3). The endogenous concentrations of HNP1, HNP3 and HNP4 were also assessed in these saliva samples. The samples were left at room temperature and re-analysed after 24 hours. The reproducibility was calculated from the EIC (peak area) and expressed as a coefficient of variation (CV%).

5.3.4.3 Recovery

Extraction recovery was determined by spiking HNP2 and leu-enkaphalin into saliva at three different concentrations (HNP2: LQC: 0.3 ng/ μ L, MQC: 0.6 ng/ μ L, and HQC: 0.8 ng/ μ L; leu-enkaphalin: LQC: 0.3 ng/ μ L, MQC: 0.6 ng/ μ L, and HQC: 0.8 ng/ μ L). Both peptides were dissolved in [(MeOH + H₂O (50:50)]. The endogenous concentrations of HNP1, HNP3 and HNP4 were assessed by LC-MS (n=4), and the sample recovery was calculated from the EIC (peak area) and expressed as a CV%. Extraction recovery calculation for Leu-enkephalin can be found in chapter 3 and the extraction recovery was calculated for HNP2 using the equation below:

$$HNP2 = \frac{(EIC \text{ peak area of endogenous HNP2}) - (EIC \text{ peak area of spiked HNP2 into saliva before SPE})}{(EIC \text{ peak area of spiked HNP2 into saliva after SPE})} X 100$$

5.3.4.4 Stability

The stability of the standard (HNP2) in saliva was investigated after one month of storage. Each saliva sample was split into two, and HNP2 was spiked into the saliva (post-SPE) at three different concentrations (0.3 ng/ μ L, 0.6 ng/ μ L and: 0.8 ng/ μ L). The relative levels of HNP1, HNP3 and HNP4 were also assessed in these saliva samples. Following SPE, one of the sample were reconstituted in mobile phase and analysed by LC-MS (n=3) and one stored as a lyophilised powder for one month (-80°C). The stability was calculated from EIC (peak area) and expressed as a CV%. The stability of the standard leu-enkaphalin in saliva was also assessed and compared with similar levels in a freshly prepared non-saliva matrix.

5.4 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using Microsoft Excel 2013 with Excel Add-Ins, analysis tool pack, ANALYS32.XLL. The data is presented as the mean % increase of HNP1-3 for post-

thirty and post-sixty mins after exercise. The percentage increases were plotted against each other to assess the correlation between the ELISA and LC-MS methods.

5.5 Results and Discussion

5.5.1 LC-MS Validation

5.5.1.1 Linearity

The standard (HNP2) gave a linear response (EIC peak area vs concentration) in the range of 0.05 to 1 ng/ μ L (R² = 0.99). The mean (n=3) were 10 ± 6.7; 20 ± 0.1; 34 ± 0.1; 80 ± 1.6; 108± 3.1; 140 ± 3.2 (0.05, 0.1, 0.3, 0.6, 0.8, 1 ng/ μ L, respectively). The S/N ratio was used to establish the LOD and LOQ for HNP2 (Figure 5.1). The LOQ was 0.1 ng/ μ L and the LOD was determined to be 0.05 ng/ μ L.



Figure 5.1 Calibration graph illustrating the signal to noise ratio of HNP2 against concentration.

5.5.1.2 Precision

The intra-interday precision of HNPs is presented in Table 5.2. Interday precision was established from reanalysis of the same sample over two successive days. The intraday CV% of the EIC response of spiked HNP2 at three different concentrations (LQC: 0.3 ng/µL; MQC: 0.6 ng/µL; HQC: 0.8 ng/µL) was in the range of 0.6 - 3.1%, while the interday CV% of the response was 10-12%. The HNP2 at three different concentrations in the saliva matrix was found to be higher at the lower reference range of quantification than the upper range for intraday precision. The intraday CV% for HNP 1-4 (EIC peak area response) was in the range of 0.5% and the interday CV% was 6-15%. The accepted validation criteria for repeatability is a CV of <20% (ICH *et al.*, 2005; Huber *et al.*, 2010); therefore, the HNP1-4 intraday CV%

were all within the acceptable range. The intraday CV % for HNP 1-3 (EIC peak area response) after SPE in the saliva matrix was lower compared to the findings of Van den broek (2010) who reported an intraday CV% for HNP1-3 ($ng/\mu L$) of 9.8-14.0% in plasma and 5.6-6.7% in serum. However, the interday CV % for HNP 1-3 (EIC peak area response) after SPE in the saliva matrix seems comparable to the findings of Van den broek (2010) who reported an intraday CV% for HNP1-3 ($ng/\mu L$) of 10-19% in plasma and 7-10% in serum.

5.5.1.3 Stability

The stability of the endogenous peptides HNP1, HNP3, HNP4 and HNP2 spiked into the saliva matrix at three different concentrations was assessed up to twenty-four hours at room temperature (interday precision), and after one month in storage at -80°C (as a lyophilised powder following SPE). The CV % was calculated by comparing the EIC peak area compared to freshly prepared samples. The CV% of endogenous analytes (HNP1, HNP3 and HNP4) after one month at -80°C were in the range of 9-13%, 15-19%, and ,7-18%, respectively, while the CV% of spiked HNP2 at three different concentrations (LQC: 0.3 ng/µL; MQC: 0.6 ng/µL; and HQC: 0.8 ng/µL) after one month was 15-17%. The CV% of the stability study of the spiked HNP2 in saliva at three different concentrations (LQC: 0.3 ng/µL; MQC: 0.6 ng/µL; HQC: 0.8 ng/µL) was in the range of (0-17%) at room temperature (12-24h) and at -80°C for one month. Van den broek (2010) found that spiked HNP2 in serum at three different concentrations (LQC: 50 ng/µL; MQC: 250 ng/µL; HQC: 800 ng/µL) was in the range of 4-7% for 2.5 hours at room temperature and at -80°C. The stability of the spiked HNP2 at three different concentrations in the saliva matrix was found to be higher at the lower reference range of quantification than the upper range (Table 5.2). The accepted validation criteria for stability is a CV of <20% (ICH et al., 1996; Huber et al., 2010); therefore, HNP 1-4 stability CV% scores were all within the acceptable range. The saliva samples were freshly prepared and samples were analysed by LC-ESI-MS within twenty-four hours. The observed fluctuations in the CV% at -80°C remains unclear.

5.5.1.4 Recovery

The recovery of the standard (HNP2 and leu-enkaphalin) was investigated by comparing the EIC peak areas in the saliva matrix before and after SPE.The standard (HNP2 and leu-enkaphalin peptide) was spiked at three different concentrations (HNP2: LQC: 0.3 ng/ μ L, MQC: 0.6 ng/ μ L, and HQC: 0.8 ng/ μ L, and Leu-enkephalin: LQC: 0.3 ng/ μ L, MQC: 0.6 ng/ μ L, and HQC: 0.8 ng/ μ L).

| | | Intraday (12 ho | urs) | Interday (24 ho | urs) | Stability (-80°C, one mo | onth) |
|-----------|--------------------------|------------------------|--------------------|------------------------|--------------------|--------------------------|---------------------|
| Defensins | Concentration (ng/uL) | Peak area (mean ± std) | Peak area (CV%) | Peak area (mean ± std) | Peak area (CV%) | Peak area (mean ± std) | Peak area (CV %) |
| HNP1 | - | 81 ± 0.2 | 0.31 | 85 ± 3.8 | 2.53 | 100 ± 12.6 | 13.92 |
| | - | 82 ± 1.0 | 1.22 | 82 ± 2.5 | 1.70 | 89 ± 10.1 | 11.36 |
| | - | 79 ± 0.8 | 1.03 | 83 ± 3.5 | 2.38 | 84 ±7.7 | 9.20 |
| HNP2 | LQC | 53 ± 1.6 | 3.13 | 50 ± 2.8 | 4.02 | 60 ± 10.4 | 17.23 |
| | MQC | 90 ± 0.5 | 0.64 | 91 ±1.8 | 2.35 | 100 ±13.9 | 13.89 |
| | HQC | 116 ± 2.6 | 2.26 | 116 ± 2.5 | 2.22 | 130 ±20.2 | 15.52 |
| HNP3 | - | 43 ± 1.6 | 3.67 | 43 ± 1.4 | 3.03 | 50 ± 10.0 | 19.73 |
| | - | 41 ± 0.9 | 2.38 | 47 ± 2.0 | 4.38 | 46 ±7.0 | 15.29 |
| | - | 42 ± 0.8 | 1.94 | 47 ±1.5 | 3.21 | 47 ±7.7 | 16.38 |
| HNP4 | - | 19 ± 0.9 | 4.69 | 19 ± 1.3 | 3.81 | 22 ± 4.1 | 18.67 |
| | - | 18 ± 0.5 | 3.00 | 19 ±1.3 | 4.38 | 19 ± 1.8 | 9.45 |
| | - | 17 ± 0.0 | 0.36 | 19 ± 0.5 | 1.69 | 18 ± 1.4 | 7.56 |

Table 5.2 Intra-and interday precision, and stability data for HNPs 1-4 in human saliva.

HNP2 were spiked into the saliva samples at three different concentrations (0.3, 0.6 and 0.8 ng/ μ L) post SPE and analysed by LC-MS (n = 3). The intermediate precision was calculated from the EIC (peak area) and expressed as a %CV. The endogenous relative levels of HNP1, HNP3 and HNP4 were also assessed in these samples. Samples were stored as a lyophilised powder (-80°C) after SPE and reassessed after one month.

Table 5.3 Recovery data of HNP2 using SPE sample treatment (n= 5).

| Sample | Concentration (ng/uL) | Peak area (mean ± std) | % Recovery |
|---|-----------------------|------------------------|------------|
| Saliva | - | 33 ± 1.7 | - |
| Spiked HNP2 in saliva (Pre extraction) | LQC | 53 ± 1.6 | - |
| | MQC | 90 ± 0.5 | - |
| | HQC | 116 ± 2.6 | - |
| Spiked HNP2 in saliva (Post extraction) | LQC | 58 ± 1.6 | 80 |
| | MQC | 101 ± 1.5 | 83 |
| | HQC | 124 ± 0.8 | 91 |

Three different concentrations such as low concentration quality control (LQC= 0.3 ng/uL), medium concentration quality control (MQC=0.6 ng/uL) and (high concentration quality control HQC=0.8 ng/uL) standards of HNP2 were spiked into the saliva samples prior to and after SPE and analysed by LC-MS. The intermediate precision was calculated from the EIC (peak area) and expressed as a CV%.

Table 5.4 Recovery data of leu-enkaphalin using SPE sample treatment (n= 5).

| Sample | Concentration (ng/uL) | Peak area (mean ± std) | % Recovery |
|---|-----------------------|------------------------|------------|
| Spiked Leu-enkephalin in saliva (Pre extraction) | LQC | 74 ± 4.2 | - |
| | MQC | 111 ± 0.8 | - |
| | HQC | 127 ± 0.7 | - |
| Spiked Leu-enkephalin in saliva (Post extraction) | LQC | 82 ± 1.6 | 88 |
| | MQC | 118 ± 0.2 | 94 |
| | HQC | 136 ± 1.5 | 93 |

Three different concentrations such as low concentration quality control (LQC= 0.1 ng/uL), medium concentration quality control (MQC=0.3 ng/uL) and (high concentration quality control HQC=0.5 ng/uL) standards of Leu-enkephalin were spiked into the saliva samples prior to and after SPE and analysed by LC-MS. The intermediate precision was calculated from the EIC (peak area) and expressed as a CV%.

The recovery data revealed an acceptable recovery range of 80-91% for HNP2 and 89-93% for Leu-enkephalin in the saliva matrix (Table 5.3 and Table 5.4). The percentage recovery of HNP2 after SPE in the saliva matrix was lower compared to the findings of Van den broek (2010), where recovery of standard HNP2 was 86-121% in plasma and 90-128% in serum. Compounds co-eluting with the chosen analyte can affect analyte recovery in an LC-MS assay. The HNP2 standard was not stable in solution (approximately six hours) and therefore HNP2 could not be used as an internal standard (Van den broek *et al.*, 2010; Hills *et al.*, 1999). Van den broek (2010) showed examples of ion suppression by the internal standard (HNPs) and recommended use of isotope-labelled internal standards for the absolute quantification of individual HNP1-3. Over recent decades, Leu-enkephalin has become a commonly used reference compound in MS. It is a small molecule (MH+ = 556.27 Da), which is easy to interpret and ionises well (Polfer *et al.*, 2007; Schnier *et al.*, 1997; Sztaray *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, Leu-enkephalin as the standard was utilised in the main study. The primary reason for using an internal standard (Leu-enkephalin) in this study in a complex mixture of saliva was to ensure the recovery of the analyte and instrument sensitivity.

5.5.2 Pilot Study

To establish if the developed LC-MS method is sufficiently sensitive to detect individual HNP 1-4 in male and female participants' saliva samples a pilot study was conducted. HNP4 could not be detected in some participants' saliva samples, as the levels of HNP4 is 100 fold less compared to HNP1-3 (Fu *et al.*, 2003). In this study, HNP1 (EIC peak area) was the most abundant peptide compared to HNP2, HNP3 and HNP4. Cabras (2010), Peulso (2007) and Goebel (2000) have also noted a similar trend between HNP 1-4. In addition, HNP2 was found to be 1.3 fold lower compared to HNP1, whereas HNP3 was found to be 2.3 fold lower and HNP4 5.8 fold lower compared to HNP1.

Goebel (2000) and colleagues determined the levels of HNP1 and HNP2 in twenty healthy controls and reported ranges of 0.7-23 ng/ μ L and 0.5-17 ng/ μ L, respectively, and noted that in healthy controls the levels of HNP1 and HNP2 varies significantly. Variation in the levels of individual HNPs was also observed in the plasma and serum matrix. Van den broek (2010) and colleagues reported the levels of HNP1, HNP2 and HNP3 as 0.004-0.042 ng/ μ L, 0.033-0.127 ng/ μ L, and 0.005-0.019 ng/ μ L, respectively in plasma and 0.016-0.108 ng/ μ L, 0.113-0.267 ng/ μ L, and 0-0.149 ng/ μ L, respectively in serum. The measurement (EIC peak area) of

individual HNPs in saliva compared with LC-MS-based work in different matrices (serum and plasma) and the commonly used immunoassays for the quantitation of HNP1-3, including RIA and ELISA, are summarised in (Table 5.5). The HNP1-3 concentrations measured by RIA were around 0.102-0.402 ng/ μ L in plasma for controls (Hoover *et al.*, 1997), while other studies have reported the concentration of HNP1-3 in plasma to be around 0.2-0.8 ng/ μ L, 0.1-0.23 ng/ μ L, 0.01-0.09 ng/ μ L, and 0.25-0.5 ng/ μ L, when measured via RIA (Yamaguchi *et al.*, 2009; Hoover *et al.*, 1997; Ashthani *et al.*, 2002; Ashtani *et al.*, 1998).

Davison (2009) reported the concentration of HNP1-3 was 0.1-0.5 ng/µL for saliva, while in this study the concentration of HNP1-3 was in the range of 0.0018-0.0023 ng/µL by ELISA. A recent report by Gillum (2015) and Kunz (2015) the concentration of HNP1-3 was in the range of 1000-3500 ng/µL and 0.757-0.827 ng/µL for saliva by ELISA. Salivary levels can vary about 100 fold between subjects, and it is difficult to define normal ranges for individual antimicrobial peptides within saliva (Gorr *et al.*, 2009; Tao *et al.*, 2005). The observed variation within these results and in other published work may be the due to differences between the health statuses of individual subjects and sample handling. In addition, saliva contains low concentrations (100-1000 fold) of analytes in comparison to blood, and the range of HNP1-3 concentrations in this study is comparable with plasma levels concentrations (Yamaguchi *et al.*, 2009; Hoover *et al.*, 1997; Ashthani *et al.*, 2002; Ashtani *et al.*, 1998).

The approach presented in this thesis (sample preparation, quantitation and validation) are specific compared to previously published methods. Combined with its applicability, as shown in saliva samples from male and female athletes for the analysis of individual HNPs, this method provides an opportunity to measure large sets of data collected from various fields (sports, biomedical and clinical science) in order to assess the diagnostic values of these antimicrobial peptides.

| Techniques | Matrix | Participants | Comparison w | rith other LC-MS studies | References |
|------------|--------|----------------------|--------------|--------------------------|---------------------------------------|
| | | | Peptide | Mean (EIC peak area) | |
| | | | HNP1 | 3.2 | - |
| | | | HNP2 | 2.9 | 1. This work |
| | | 10 participants [1] | HNP3 | 1.3 | |
| | | | HNP4 | 1.3 | |
| | | | HNP1 | 25 | _ |
| | | | HNP2 | 22 | |
| | Saliva | 31 participants [2] | HNP3 | ND | 2. Cabras <i>et al.</i> , 2010 |
| LC-MS | | | HNP4 | 4 | |
| | | | HNP1 | 1.6 | |
| | | | HNP2 | 1.3 | |
| | | 9 participants [3] | HNP3 | 0.7 | 3. Peulso <i>et al.</i> , 2007 |
| | | | HNP4 | 0.3 | |
| | | | Peptide | Concentration (ng/µL) | _ |
| | | | HNP1 | 0.7-23 | 4. Goebel <i>et al.</i> , 2000 |
| | Saliva | 20 participants [4] | HNP2 | 0.5-17 | |
| | | | HNP1 | 0.004-0.042 | 5. Van den broek <i>et al.</i> , 2010 |
| | Plasma | 11 participants [5] | HNP2 | 0.033-0.127 | |
| | | | HNP3 | 0.005-0.019 | |
| | | | HNP1 | 0.016-0.108 | |
| | Serum | 11 participants [5] | HNP2 | 0.113-0.267 | |
| | | | HNP3 | 0-0.149 | |
| | | 23 participants [1] | HNP1-3 | 0.0018-0.0023 | 6. Davison <i>et al.</i> , 2009 |
| | | 23 participants [6] | HNP1-3 | 0.1-0.5 | 7. Gillum <i>et al.</i> , 2015 |
| | | 8 participants [7] | HNP1-3 | 1000-3500 | 8. Kunz <i>et al.</i> , 2015 |
| | | 17 participants [8] | HNP1-3 | 0.757-0.827 | |
| | Plasma | 44 participants [9] | HNP1-3 | 0.027-0.079 | 9. Sakamoto <i>et al.</i> , 2015 |
| | Plasma | 57 participants [10] | HNP1-3 | 0.25-0.5 | 10. Yamaguchi et al., 2009 |
| RIA | Plasma | 86 participants [11] | HNP1-3 | 0.102-0.402 | 11. Hoover et al., 1997 |
| | Plasma | 30 participants [12] | HNP1-3 | 0.2-0.8 | 12. Mukae et al., 2002 |
| | Plasma | 37 participants [13] | HNP1-3 | 0.1-0.23 | 13. Ashthani et al., 2007 |

Table 5.5 Comparison of individual HNPs using LC-MS in different matrices.

5.5.3 Cross Validation

One of the objectives of this study was to compare the data obtained by LC-MS with that obtained by ELISA for the analysis of salivary HNPs. The data reveals that there is a good correlation (Figure 5.2) between the LC-MS and ELISA data for the measured levels of salivary HNP1-3 (n= 210; $R^2 = 0.96$). Therefore, the developed LC-MS method can be considered an accurate analytical technique to measure individual HNP1-3 levels in a biological matrix such as saliva. Method validation parameters (linearity, accuracy and recovery) for ELISA and LC-MS are presented in Table 5.6

| Technique | Peptide | Linearity (HNP2 Standard) | Precision (%) (Saliva Matrix) | Recovery (%) (Saliva Matrix) |
|-----------|-------------------------------|--|---|---------------------------------|
| ELISA | Averaged response from HNP1-3 | $0.00015-0.01 \text{ ng/}\mu\text{L}$ (R ² = 0.99) | Interday < 2% Intraday < 5% | 90-101% |
| LC-MS | Individual HNP1-3 | 0.05-1 ng/ μ L (R ² =0.99) | Interday 0-5% Intraday 11- 14.95% | 80-91% |

Table 5.6 Method validation parameters for ELISA and LC-MS.

The LC-MS method showed lower intermediate precision (inter < 5% and intraday <14.95%) compared to ELISA (inter < 2% and intraday < 5%). A significant difference in analyte recovery was observed between the ELISA and LC-MS methods.



Figure 5.2 Correlation between LC-MS and ELISA data (n=210). The data is calculated as a mean (% increase) of HNP1-3 for post 30 and post 60 minutes after exercise. The percentages increases were plotted against each other to assess the correlation between the (ELISA and LC-MS) methods.

ELISA provided higher recovery (90-101%) compared to LC-MS (80-91%), and while both methods showed similar linearity, ELISA provided better (0.00015-0.01 ng/ μ L) sensitivity compared to LC-MS (0.05 ng/ μ L). However, it is worth noting that the LC-MS data (combined increases in HNP1-3 levels post exercise intervention) regarding average response tended to be higher than the levels determined by ELISA (Figure 5.2), although this could be due to the fact that the saliva samples were stored at -80°C for longer between collection and analysis.

5.6 Summary

ELISA is an extremely sensitive method. However, ELISA is both relatively expensive and time consuming. A correlation was observed between the LC-MS and ELISA data for the analysis of salivary HNPs of 0.96. The developed LC-MS method can be considered an accurate analytical technique to measure individual HNP1-3 levels in saliva. This study has confirmed that LC-MS can be used to determine the salivary levels of HNP1-3 with lower sensitivity, but with higher specificity compared to ELISA because ELISA is unable to distinguish between HNPs 1-3 and measures the sum total whereas LC-MS was able to quantify the abundance of individual HNPs. The measurement using LC-MS in this study measured the relative increases in HNPs 1-3 whereas ELISA was able to give absolute values for the sum total of HNPs 1-3.

Chapter 6 - Evaluation of α–Defensins and Cortisol levels in Response to Physical Stress

6.1 Background

AMPs are major components of the innate immune system (Bal *et al.*, 2000; De Smet *et al.*, 2005), and Bowdish (2005) reported that AMPs are crucial for both prevention and clearance of infection. There is limited research regarding the mechanism by which exercise alters salivary AMP concentrations (Davison *et al.*, 2009; Gillum *et al.*, 2015; Kunz *et al.*, 2015), although Usui (2011) reported an increase in salivary levels of β -defensins (HBD2) and cathelicidins (LL-37) following exercise, while Davison (2009) reported an increase in levels HNP1-3. Currently, the quantification of α -defensins is predominantly accomplished via an ELISA; however, LC-MS is emerging as an alternative method, and such studies offer an insight into individual α -defensin responses following physical stress. The primary aim of this chapter is to investigate the levels of HNPs after a crossfit intervention exercise and to confirm whether the results obtained agree with the existing literature (Davison *et al.*, 2009; Gillum *et al.*, 2015; Kunz *et al.*, 2015). The effects of exercise on immunomodulatory components (α -defensins and cortisol) and the response of the innate immune system have been found to be suppressed or altered depending on exercise intensity (Chapter 1).

In addition, prolonged exercise of more than ninety minutes may weaken an athlete's immune system for up to seventy-two hours afterwards (Niemen *et al.*, 2005). Therefore, two different studies were conducted to investigate supplement consumption: study 1, placebo versus carbohydrate supplement, and study 2, carbohydrate versus multinutritional supplements on salivary levels of individual α -defensins and cortisol before and after exercise. Hormones play an important role in innate immunity and it is well known that physical and mental stress elicit the release of cortisol from the hypothalamic pituitary adrenal axis (HPA), and this results in the modulation of various immune responses (Hellhammer *et al.*, 2009). It is surprising that to date, only one study has investigated the correlation between salivary cortisol and AMPs (β -defensins, cathelicidins) (Usui *et al.*, 2011). Furthermore, no studies have been undertaken to compare the individual levels of α -defensins and cortisol. Therefore, the relationship between α -defensins (HNP1-3) versus cortisol responses after exercise was investigated for both studies conducted in this chapter. Furthermore, the ELISA results for HNP1-3 levels presented in chapter 6 was used for the correlation comparison with cortisol.

6.2 Materials and Methods

6.2.1 Participants

Study 1: Five male athletes (age 22 ± 1.5 years, body weight 79 ± 10 kg and height 181 ± 0.07 cm) and five female athletes (age 26 ± 1.9 years, body weight 65 ± 9 kg and height 175 ± 0.09 cm) volunteered to participate in this study.

Study 2: Twelve male athletes (age 24 ± 2.5 years, body weight 85 ± 11 kg, and height 191 ± 0.01 cm) volunteered to participate in this study.

Prior to commencing the studies, participants received written and verbal instructions via an information sheet (Appendix C) detailing what the study involved. They also completed a health questionnaire (Appendix B) and gave their informed written consent (Appendix A).

6.2.2 Familiarisation Sessions

Each participant undertook three sessions prior to the actual study session to familiarise themselves with the prolonged crossfit exercise training. In total, the participants were required to attend the laboratory on seven different occasions. Participants were also asked to produce unstimulated saliva in order to familiarise themselves with the collection procedure, and instructions were provided about the crossfit exercises to be completed prior to the familiarisation trial, with time allocated to practice the exercises with guidance. Following the familiarisation sessions, participants attended for the main testing session for each study.

6.2.3 Crossfit Exercise

The crossfit exercise protocol is illustrated in Figure 6.1.

6.2.3.1 Pre Interval Saliva Sample Collection

For visits made between 3-5pm, participants' saliva samples were collected before the warmup (pre) interval based on the method described in Chapter 3. Participants could drink water during the trial but were asked to stop drinking ten minutes before each saliva sample to avoid dilution. All samples were stored at -80°C immediately after each collection.

6.2.3.2 Warm up

Participants performed a warm-up session for about 10 minutes (Table 6.1) after collection of the pre-interval saliva sample.



Figure 6.1 Schematic diagram of resistance training performance. A supplement or placebo was given to each participant. Salivary samples for two different interventions (post 30 and post 60 mins) were compared to the pre interval sample for level of HNPs and cortisol. Each participant performed a crossfit workout and crossfit circuit session.

| Exercise | %1 RM | Sets | Repetition |
|---|-------|------|------------|
| Light Jogging, high knees and side steps | N/A | N/A | N/A |
| Dynamic stretching (leg raises and hip rotations) | N/A | N/A | N/A |
| Bodyweight squat | 50 | 1 | 10 |
| Push-ups | N/A | 1 | 10 |
| Lunges | 50 | 1 | 10 |

 Table 6.1 Warm up exercise performances.

%1RM = maximal weight

6.2.3.3 Crossfit Workout Measurement

In this study muscular power performance was utilised during crossfit workout measurements. Muscular power is the ability to exert a maximal force in as short a time as possible, such as jumping or weight lifting. In addition, muscular power is one of the main common fitness components and plays an important role in success in sports (Cooper *et al.*, 2014; Kodesh *et al.*, 2015). After the warm up session, each participant performed the crossfit workout for about fifteen minutes (Figure 6.1).

6.2.3.4 Countermovement Movement Jump

In a countermovement movement jump (CMJ) a jumper starts from an upright standing position, makes a preliminary downward movement by flexing at the knees and hips, then immediately extends the knees and hips to jump vertically up off the ground. Three consecutive CMJs without increased force generation by the arms were performed onto a force plate (kistler force platform).

6.2.3.5 Upper Body Power Test

An upper body power test (UBPT) was determined from a 1 RM bench press (1RMBP) (Baechle *et al.*, 2008). In general, a 1RMBP is used for evaluation of muscle strength and 1RM value was calculated as follows (Brzycki *et al.*, 1997):

1 RM = 100 x maximal weight / (102.78 - 2.78 x repetition)

Participants performed weight lifting: eight repetitions at approximately 50%; three repetitions at 75%; one repetition at 85%; 1 repetition at 95% and 1 repetitions at 100% of the perceived 1-RM. A maximum of five speed repetition tests was assessed for the bench press exercise. Maximum peak and average accelerative power were selected from the best of the five repetitions with 50% of the previously determined 1 RM. This test was used as an index of

lower body power and the neuromuscular fatigue index (Bosco *et al.*, 1982). An optical rotary encoder (Winlaborat) was used for measuring the power applied during each repetition during the UBPT.

6.2.3.6 Recovery

After the crossfit workout session (CMJ and UBPT), participants rested for 10-15 minutes.

6.2.3.7 Supplementation Protocols

Study one investigated a placebo (total energy ~0.005 kcal) versus a CHO supplement (total energy ~ 230 kcal) over two consecutive weeks: CHO supplement one week and placebo next or vice versa. Study two investigated a CHO supplement (total energy ~ 230 kcal) versus a MTN supplement (total energy ~ 230 kcal) for four consecutive weeks (CHO supplement one week and MTN supplement the next or vice versa). The first 500 mL of intake was ingested by participants immediately after completing their crossfit workouts (CMJ and UBPT), and the second 500ml was consumed immediately after completing the crossfit circuit sessions (Figure 6.1).

6.2.3.8 Nutritional Composition of Supplements

The nutritional composition of the supplements is listed in Table 6.2.

| MTN Supplement | | CHO Supplement | | Placebo | |
|---|------------|------------------------|------------|--------------------------|------------|
| Total energy: 230 kcal | | Total energy: 230 kcal | | Total energy: 0.005 kcal | |
| Ingredients | Amount (g) | Ingredients | Amount (g) | Ingredients | Amount (g) |
| Protein | 30 | Protein | 0 | Protein | 0.5 g |
| Carbohydrate | 21 | Carbohydrate | 56 | Carbohydrate | 0.9 g |
| Total Fat | 4.6 | Total Fat | 0 | Fat | 0.5 g |
| Creatine Monohydrate | 5.1 | | | | |
| Glutamine | 5.1 | | | | |
| β-Hydroxy β-methylbutyric acid (HMB) | 1.5 | | | | |
| Potassium Bicarbonate | 0.5 | | | | |
| Sodium Bicarbonate | 0.5 | | | | |
| Bioperine | 0.005 | | | | |
| Chromium Picolinate | 0.000241 | | | | |

 Table 6.2 Nutritional composition of supplements.

6.2.3.9 Crossfit Circuit Session

This session aimed to simulate an endurance circuit session designed to improve core strength. After the first dose (1 x 500 mL) of supplementation or placebo, participants performed three circuits involving one set of each exercise without rest, aside from the time needed to move from one exercise to the next (Figure 6.1 and Table 6.3).

| Exercise | %1RM | repetition | RPE scale |
|------------------|-------------|------------|-------------|
| Parallel-squat | 70 to 75% | 12 | 5-6 to 8-10 |
| Upright row | 70 to 75% | 12 | 5-6 to 8-10 |
| Alternate lunges | 70 to 75% | 12 | 5-6 to 8-10 |
| Dead lift | 70 to 75% | 12 | 5-6 to 8-10 |
| Push-press | 70 to 75% | 12 | 5-6 to 8-10 |
| Abdominals | Body Weight | 20 | N/A |

Table 6.3 Characteristics of the familiarising performance of the resistance training.

%1RM = maximal weight

6.2.3.10 Rate of perceived exertion

The ratings of perceived exertion (RPE) (Borg's RPE scale) were used as an indication of impending fatigue (Bosco *et al.*, 1982). RPE reported to be a valid global indicator of internal stress during prolonged, high-intensity intermittent exercise (Figure 6.2) (Foster *et al.*, 2001; Backhouse *et al.*, 2007).



Figure 6.2 Illustration of rate of perceived exertion scale. RPE scale was used to assess the crossfit circuit session (Morishita *et al.*, 2014).

A recovery session of 1-2 minutes was provided between each set of the crossfit circuit exercise and participants RPE was assessed following the RPE scale (Figure 6.2). A second dose (1 x 500 mL) of supplementation or placebo was ingested after completion of the circuit session.

6.2.3.11 Post Interval Saliva Sample

Participants' post interval (post 30 mins and post 60 mins) saliva samples were collected after the completion of the circuit session and ingestion of the second dose (1 x 500 mL) of supplementation.

6.2.4 Sample Analysis

6.2.4.1 Analysis of HNP1-3 and Cortisol by ELISA

ELISA was performed for assessment of salivary HNP1-3 discussed in Chapter 5. Saliva (1 mL) was centrifuged (1500 g, 5 mins) and 25 μ L was analysed in duplicate by a cortisol ELISA (Salimetrics, UK) according to the manufacturer's instructions. A calibration curve was constructed consisting of five prepared standards: 0.012 to 3.0 μ g/dL cortisol and a zero sample. Absorbance (450 nm) values for the saliva samples were interpolated from the calibration standards using a four parameter logistic curve (My Assays, Version 2015).

6.2.5 Equations

The area under the curve (AUC) value in a time-response (time-concentration) curve is commonly used for the assessment of the total amount of substances secreted into a biological fluid during an observation period. This is useful for comparing with assessment using direct concentrations of peptides/ hormone at each time point.

AUC = trap HNP1-3 (t=30) + trap HNP1-3 (t=60)

 $AUC = trap_{cortisol(t=30)} + trap_{cortisol(t=60)}$

where,

trap = trapezoidal rule, t= time interval.

The AUC was calculated using the trapezoidal rule (trap) to assess total change in the direct concentration of salivary HNP1-3 and cortisol levels during the exercise session (t = 0 to t = 30 and t = 60).

6.3 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using the statistical computer software package SPSS (v16.00; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). A one-way ANOVA was used to examine the data for salivary cortisol and HNPs and if significant differences were observed, bonferoni post hoc adjustments for multiple comparisons were assessed. Additionally, correlations were analysed using Pearson product-moment correlation coefficients.

6.4 Results and Discussion

6.4.1 Pilot study

The main findings of the pilot study were that salivary levels of individual HNPs increased after resistance training (2.5 h).



Figure 6.3 Peak area of individual HNP1-4 before (pre) and after (post 30 and post 60 mins) exercise by LC-ESI-MS, where athletes consumed placebo. The peak area was calculated from EIC (ions corresponding to $[M + 3H]^{3+}$, $[M + 4H]^{4+}$ and $[M + 5H]^{5+}$) for individual HNPs.

The levels of individual HNPs for participants who consumed the placebo before and after crossfit exercise between pre and post (30 and 60 mins) intervals are shown in Figure 6.3. An increase in the levels of individual HNPs were observed: a 2.2-fold increase between pre and post exercise at 30mins; a 1.3-fold increase between pre and post exercise at 60 mins; and a 1.7-fold increase between post exercise 30 and post exercise 60 mins for salivary levels of individual HNP1-4. The post-exercise increases in salivary HNP1–3 are in line with the findings from previous studies that have employed shorter duration acute exercise and examined other salivary AMPs and proteins (Davison *et al.*, 2009; Gillum *et al.*, 2015; Kunz *et al.*, 2015).

6.4.2 Exercise Performance

6.4.2.1 Resistance Workout

The characteristics in terms of the crossfit workout such as: counter vertical jump (CMJ) and upper body power (UBPT) tests are presented in Figure 6.4. The crossfit workout performances during (pre exercise) and after (post exercise) were investigated for CMJ and UPBT.



Figure 6.4 Crossfit workout performance which include: (i and iii) counter movement jump test and (ii and iv) upper body power test. No significant differences were found in athletes consuming either placebo (PL) or carbohydrate (CHO) supplements. A similar trend were observed in athletes consuming either CHO or multinutrional (MTN) supplements.



Figure 6.5 Bar charts represents data for the crossfit circuit session performance where participants consumed either placebo (PL) or carbohydrate (CHO) supplements. No significant differences were found between (i) RPE scores (0-10) for placebo versus CHO supplement and (ii) RPE scores (0-10) for CHO versus MTN supplements.

No significant (p = 0.56) differences between the PL versus CHO supplement and (p = 0.69) or between the CHO versus MTN supplements for the CMJ and UBPT were found Figure 6.4. Jump height was higher pre exercise for both supplement conditions but did not significantly differ (placebo versus CHO supplement, p = 0.36; CHO versus MTN supplements, p = 0.89) between pre and post exercise. Upper body power was higher at pre exercise for both supplement conditions but again did not significantly differ (placebo versus CHO supplements, p = 0.89) between pre and post exercise. Upper body power was higher at pre exercise for both supplement conditions but again did not significantly differ (placebo versus CHO supplement, p= 0.23; CHO versus MTN supplements, p = 0.89) between pre and post exercise. The existing literature has reported an improvement on exercise performance based on several weeks' performances with different intensity exercises (aerobic or moderate exercise) (Willems *et al.*, 2012; Schmitz *et al.*, 2010; Willoughby *et al.*, 2007; 2014; Tipton *et al.*, 2001; Darvishi *et al.*,

2013; Ivy *et al.*, 2002; Highton *et al.*, 2013). Therefore, further research involving the assessment of performance over several weeks is needed.

6.4.2.2 Resistance Circuit Session

The crossfit circuit session tests are presented in Figure 6.5. The crossfit circuit session performances during (pre exercise) and after (post exercise) were investigated using the RPE scale. The RPE scale in pre exercise for PL versus CHO supplement was lower and significantly different (p = 0.86) compared to post exercise, but there was no significant impact of CHO supplementation on the RPE session. A similar trend was observed for CHO versus MTN, supplements between pre and post exercise for the RPE session but again there was no significant impact of CHO and MTN supplementation on the RPE session. This finding suggests that the crossfit circuit sessions resulted in internal stress in the participants. Few studies have reported a reduction in pre exercise and an enhancement to post exercise (Welsh *et al.*, 2002; Backhouse *et al.*, 2007; Hough *et al.*, 2011), therefore, the findings of this study seem comparable with previous findings.

6.4.3 Level of Individual HNPs and Cortisol

The levels of individual HNPs and The levels of individual HNPs and cortisol were investigated in two different studies. The objective of the first study was to investigate levels of individual HNPs and cortisol in saliva in athletes that had consumed either a PL or a CHO supplement during the resistance training. cortisol before and after resistance training (pre to post 30 mins and pre to post 60 mins) for participants receiving either the placebo or a CHO supplement during the resistance training. The objective of the second study was to investigate levels of individual HNPs and cortisol in saliva in athletes that had consumed a commercially available multiingredient (MTN) supplement (composed of protein, creatine monohydrates, and carbohydrate) versus a CHO supplement. In both studies, the change in individual HNP levels (Figure 6.6 and 6.8) and cortisol (Figure 6.7 and 6.9) was determined pre, post 30 and post 60 mins after the resistance training. In study one, the EIC data shows that resistant training (physical stress) resulted in an increase in the level each individual HNP1-4 in athletes consuming either a placebo or CHO supplement (Figure 6.6); this increase was observed at both 30 and 60 min post exercise. In addition, at 30 mins post exercise the level of HNP1 was increased to 134%, HNP2 143%, HNP3 122% and HNP4 80% in athletes consuming the placebo and level of HNP1 was increased to 132%, HNP2 103%, HNP3 125%, and HNP4 117% in athletes consuming the CHO supplement.



Figure 6.6 Peak area of individual HNP1-4 before (pre) and after (post 30 and post 60 mins) exercise by LC-ESI-MS, where athletes consumed either placebo (PL) or carbohydrate (CHO) supplements. The peak area was calculated from EIC (ions corresponding to $[M + 3H]^{3+}$, $[M + 4H]^{4+}$ and $[M + 5H]^{5+}$) for individual HNPs. A significant difference was found between the pre and post exercise (60 mins) for (i) salivary HNP1; (ii) salivary HNP2; (iii) salivary HNP3; and (iv) salivary HNP4. However, no significant differences were observed between pre exercise and post exercise (30 mins) for PL versus CHO supplement.

At 60 mins post exercise the level of HNP1 had further increased to 415.9%, HNP2 396.7%, HNP3 by 384.8%, and HNP4 by 185.8% in athletes consuming the placebo and levels of HNP1 to 264.9%, HNP2 221.8%, HNP3 250.8%, and HNP4 90.3% in athletes consuming the CHO supplement. In the second study, an increase in HNP levels (EIC) was also observed at 30 and 60 min post exercise in athletes consuming either the CHO or MTN supplement (Figure 6.8). At 30 mins post exercise the HNP1 level had increased to 104%, HNP2 366%, HNP3 225% and HNP4 104% in athletes consuming the CHO supplement, and the level of HNP1 was 35%, HNP2 82%; HNP3 126% and HNP4 5% in athletes consuming the MTN supplement. At 60 mins post exercise levels of HNP1 increased to 127%, HNP2 60%, HNP3 235%, and HNP4 51% in athletes consuming the CHO supplement.

The post exercise increases in levels of HNP1-3 are in line with those of previous studies (combined response of HNP1-3). For example, Davison (2009) reported that the level of HNP1–3 (combined response) increased 266% and other antimicrobial peptides (such as cathelicidins) increased up to 200% after exercise at an intensity corresponding to 55–65% of VO_{2max} . This is one of the earliest studies that compared the combined levels of HNP1-3 using ELISA and evaluated levels at 2.5 hours after exercise. In another study, the levels of HNP1-3 (average response) were evaluated after 30 mins of cycling at 5 to 15% VO_{2max} , and an increase of 80-99% was observed in HNP1-3 levels, and 80-122% for cathelicidins (LL-37) (Kunz *et al.*, 2015). Additional studies examining the relationship between exercise and salivary antimicrobial peptides (beta defensins 2, LL-37, average response of HNP1-3) have yielded similar results, demonstrating significant increases in their concentration (Gillum *et al.*, 2014; Usui *et al.*, 2011).

Compared with the data obtained in this study, the type of exercise is different, aerobic versus resistance, and this could result in the higher increases observed in HNP levels here. The increased level after 2.5 hours observed by Davidson (2009) could indicate that the defensin response continues to increase in the hours post exercise. It is yet to be determined if this increase in transient, however, the literature suggests that this is the case.

In both studies the percentage increases in HNP1, HNP2 and HNP3 levels 30 and 60 mins post exercise were not significantly different. However, a large standard deviation was observed between the levels (% increase) of HNP1-3 in individual athletes' saliva samples. Therefore, combined data, as provided by ELISA, could have been sufficient to study the individual

responses of HNP1-3. Nevertheless, a further study is required to confirm individual changes with a higher number of participants. Interestingly, the increases in HNP4 level at 30 and 60 minutes post exercise is on average smaller compared to that for HNP1-3 in both studies.

Overall, there was no significant difference between the increase in HNP levels at post 30 min in athletes who had consumed either the placebo or CHO supplement (HNP1, p=0.35; HNP2, p=0.15; HNP3, p=0.17; HNP4, p=0.06); however, the increases are significantly different at 60 min post exercise (HNP1, p=0.00; HNP2, p=0.05; HNP3, p=0.03; HNP4, p=0.01) (Figure 7.6). This indicates that supplementing with CHO significantly reduces HNP levels compared to the placebo. In the second study where participants consumed either a CHO or MTN supplement, the differences in HNP levels were on average lower in participants consuming the MTN supplement (Figure 6.8), although not significantly different at any time interval (post 30 mins HNP1, p=0.85; HNP2, p=0.16; HNP3, p=0.07; HNP4, p=0.40 and post 60 mins HNP1, p=0.17; HNP2, p=0.20; HNP3, p=0.09; HNP4, p=0.30).



Figure 6.7 Salivary response of cortisol before (pre) and after (post 30 and post 60 mins) exercise by ELISA, where athletes consumed either placebo (PL) or carbohydrate (CHO) supplements. A significant difference was found between pre exercise and post exercise (30 and 60 mins) for PL versus CHO supplements.

Salivary cortisol levels (ELISA) increased in athletes consuming either the placebo or CHO supplement at 30 mins post exercise (500% vs. 400%). Cortisol levels increased in both groups at 60 mins post exercise (700% vs. 600%). However, due to the larger standard deviation variation, no significant difference (p= 0.06) (Figure 6.7) were observed. Likewise, in the second study, salivary cortisol levels (ELISA) were found to be increased for both CHO and MTN supplementation at 30 mins post exercise (250% vs. 66%), and levels increased in both

groups at 60 mins post exercise (100% vs 33%). A trend was observed whereby salivary cortisol was found to be higher between the pre exercise to post exercise 30 mins and 60 mins but it did not differ significantly (p=0.09, p=0.08 respectively) for both the CHO and MTN supplements (Figure 6.9). Resistance training may induce air-inflammation and damage to airway epithelial cells, which could be a part of the normal stress response. It is well established that exercise is associated with changes within a number of immune cells (Bishop et al., 2002; Nehlsen et al., 1997; Pyne et al., 1994). These cell functions have been largely assessed in vitro and do not necessarily reflect the whole body response to a bacterial or viral challenge; however, this temporary change in immune cell function has been suggested to lead to an 'open window' for infection, which may account for the apparent increased susceptibility of athletes to infection (Pedersen et al., 2000). However, further study is required to confirm this association. It will be interesting to assess microbial activity in future studies and upper respiratory risk in athletes. The consumption of a CHO supplement during and after prolonged exercise has been shown to attenuate immunosuppression by better maintaining glycaemia and reducing the magnitude of the release of stress hormone (Nieman et al., 2001; Pedersen et al., 1997; Gomes et al., 2014). In addition, the consumption of a CHO supplement has been shown to limit the reduction in immune cell function (Bishop et al., 2002). In this study, ingesting a CHO supplement reduced the elevation levels of individual salivary HNPs. A few studies have suggested that prolonged exercise is associated with changes in a number of aspects of circulating neutrophil functions, including degranulation and oxidative burst (Pyne et al., 1994). However, the magnitude of these responses appears to be reduced by regular carbohydrate beverage ingestion during exercise (Bishop et al., 2002; Nieman et al., 1997, 1998; Scharhag et al., 2002; Bishop et al., 2000). The existing literature concerning the interaction between carbohydrate ingestion and neutrophil count after exercise is inconsistent. Some studies have reported that the neutrophil count is significantly higher after exercise (Niemen et al., 1997; Nehlsen et al., 1997; Niemen et al., 2001; Bishop et al., 2002, 2003), while others have reported that carbohydrates reduce neutrophil counts following exercise (Bishop et al., 2002, 2003); however, the underlying explanation for this effect of carbohydrate is as yet undetermined (Gomes et al., 2014). Ingesting the CHO supplement also reduced the salivary cortisol concentration, and several factors have been



Figure 6.8 Peak of individual HNP1-4 before (pre) and after (post 30 and post 60 mins) exercise by LC-ESI-MS, where athletes consumed either carbohydrate (CHO) or multinutrional (MTN) supplements. The peak area was calculated from EIC (ions corresponding to $[M + 3H]^{3+}$, $[M + 4H]^{4+}$ and $[M + 5H]^{5+}$) for individual HNPs. No significant differences were found between pre exercise and post exercise 30 and 60 mins (i) salivary HNP1; (ii) salivary HNP2; (iii) salivary HNP3; (iv) salivary HNP4 for CHO versus MTN supplement.

shown to influence this, such as perceived stress, adrenal sensitivity, adrenal capacity, and glycaemia (Hellhammer *et al.*, 2009; Gomes *et al.*, 2015). The salivary cortisol levels in this study are comparable to the findings of previous studies (McAnulty *et al.*, 2003, 2005; Gomes *et al.*, 2015), which all investigated resistance exercise. However, a small number of studies using resistance training have also reported no effect of CHO supplementation on salivary cortisol responses (Beaven *et al.*, 2008; Cadore *et al.*, 2008). An investigation of the glycaemic index in this study would have been beneficial, and is one of the limitations of this study.



Figure 6.9 Salivary response of cortisol before (pre) and after (post 30 and post 60 mins) exercise by ELISA, where athletes consumed either carbohydrate (CHO) or multinutrional (MTN) supplements. No significant differences were found between pre exercise and post exercise (30 and 60 mins) for CHO versus MTN supplement.

A multi-ingredient product that could potentially increase muscle strength and mass while concomitantly improving metabolic function, oxidative stress, and body composition, may prove to be superior to a single-ingredient product. Many multi-ingredient products on the market contain whey protein, amino acids, carbohydrate, and creatine, and a number have been shown to augment physiological responses to resistance training (Candow *et al.*, 2007; Shelmadine *et al.*, 2009; Spillane *et al.*, 2011; Willoughby *et al.*, 2007; Tipton *et al.*, 2004; Darvishi *et al.*, 2013; Ivy *et al.*, 2002).

Therefore, there is a need for additional research to confirm the effects of CHO or MTN ingestion on cortisol and HNP responses, including comparing different exercise modes, intensities, and a longer time interval. Overall, the consumption of a placebo vs. CHO or CHO vs. MTN supplement during and after resistance-training workout resulted in no impact on performance. Nevertheless, the consumption of the CHO or MTN supplement resulted in

decreased levels of HNPs compared to the placebo, which indicates that there could be a reduction in exercise-induced airway inflammation (Davison *et al.*, 2009). The ingestion of the CHO and MTN supplement also demonstrated a reduced response for cortisol (30 min and 60 min post exercise) compared to pre exercise.

Therefore, both studies support the hypothesis that both CHO and MTN supplementation influence a reduction of the immune response, although further research is required to confirm this association with a large number of participants. Therefore, there is a need for additional research to confirm the effects of CHO or MTN ingestion on cortisol and HNP responses, including comparing different exercise modes, intensities, and a longer time interval. Overall, the consumption of a placebo vs. CHO or CHO vs. MTN supplement during and after resistance-training workout resulted in no impact on performance. Nevertheless, the consumption of the CHO or MTN supplement resulted in decreased levels of HNPs compared to the placebo, which indicates that there could be a reduction in exercise-induced airway inflammation (Davison *et al.*, 2009). The ingestion of the CHO and MTN supplement also demonstrated a reduced response for cortisol (30 min and 60 min post exercise) compared to pre exercise. Therefore, both studies support the hypothesis that both CHO and MTN supplementation influence a reduction of the immune response, although further research is required to confirm this association with a large number of participants.

6.4.4 Possible Correlation between the Changes in Salivary HNPs and Cortisol Levels

AMPs are known to serve as the 'first line of defence' at mucosal surfaces and to contribute to innate immunity. Many studies have investigated the defence mechanism against pathogens in the oral cavity and have shown that AMPs play an important role at mucosal surfaces (Hancock *et al.*, 2000; Lai *et al.*, 2009; Doss *et al.*, 2010). Hormone also play an important role in innate immunity and it is well known that physical and mental stress can elicit the release of cortisol from the HPA axis. The ELISA results for HNP1-3 in Chapter 5 was used to compare the correlation with the cortisol. Stress, therefore, can modulate various immune responses (Gleeson *et al.*, 2000; Neville *et al.*, 2008) and so it is surprising that only one study has investigated the correlation between salivary cortisol and AMPs (β-defensins, cathelicidins) (Usui *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, a correlation between the changes in salivary HNP1-3 and cortisol levels after exercise was investigated in both the first and second studies.



Figure 6.10 Correlation between the changes in salivary (HNP1-3) and cortisol levels by ELISA, where athletes consumed either (i) placebo or (ii) carbohydrate supplements. The AUC was calculated using the trapezoidal rule (trap) to assess the total change in the direct concentration of salivary HNP 1-3 and cortisol levels during the exercise session (t = 0 to t = 30 and t = 60).

The correlation was assessed for both first and second study (Figure 6.10 and Figure 6.11) between salivary cortisol and the combined response of HNP1-3 The findings indicate that there is no correlation between salivary HNP1-3 and cortisol ($R^2 = 0.02$; $R^2 = 0.01$) for the placebo and CHO supplement. The changes in salivary AMP (HNP1-3) concentrations (ng/µL) were not associated with cortisol levels (ng/µL). Likewise, there is no correlation between salivary HNP1-3 and cortisol ($R^2 = 0.02$) and MTN ($R^2 = 0.08$). To date, this study represents the first of its kind to investigate the correlation between

the HNPs and cortisol (stress hormone) after a crossfit training exercise (high resistance training). No significant correlation was observed between the response of cortisol and HNPs.



Figure 6.11 Correlation between the changes in salivary (HNP1-3) and cortisol levels by ELISA, where athletes consumed either (i) carbohydrate or (ii) multinutrional supplements The AUC was calculated using the trapezoidal rule (trap) to assess the total change in the direct concentration of salivary HNP 1-3 and cortisol levels during the exercise session (t = 0 to t = 30 and t = 60).

The present findings highlight the variability of cortisol and levels of HNPs 1-3 in response to resistance exercise, and it is not clear if the correlation between hormone and HNP1-3 levels has been affected by the time interval of the exercise. Both cortisol and levels of HNPs 1-3 demonstrated an increase after exercise but it is surprising that they do not correlate with each other. Further investigation is therefore required to determine the synergism between these molecules. Singh (2000) demonstrated that compensation may occur in mucosal fluids due to
synergism between substances, although an alternative explanation is that there is variation between individuals. In both studies, a few participants appeared to have greater salivary levels of individual HNPs and cortisol. Therefore, future investigations should utilise a larger cohort of participants (Singh *et al.*, 2000).

6.5 Summary

In conclusion, resistance intervention exercise resulted in an increase in individual HNPs and cortisol within human saliva, although the increased levels of HNP and cortisol could be part of the normal stress response. Regardless of the mechanism, it is certain that from the results of previous studies and those of this study that HNPs do play a role in the 'first line of defence' at mucosal surfaces. The aim of this study was to determine whether resistance training alters the salivary levels of HNPs and this has been established in both studies.

Chapter 7 - General Discussion

This work has shown that LC-MS can be used to relatively quantify the structural homologues HNP1-4. Physiological stress can elicit changes in hormones and AMPs (individual HNPs), particularly in response to exercise. The developed and validated LC-MS method used to detect individual HNPs makes a novel contribution to sports and clinical research. The studies presented in this thesis are the first to show optimisation of the LC-MS technique for individual salivary HNPs, revealing the impact of physiological changes to AMPs after exercise, and also comparing the relationship between salivary HNPs and cortisol. There were two main reasons for pursuing this research; firstly, ELISA is frequently used in research studies to determine levels of salivary peptides (sum response of HNP1-3), whilst a validated and specific LC-MS method to study individual salivary HNPs has not been developed. Secondly, investigations into changes resulting from physical stress have mostly been conducted using the cortisol and IgA.

The literature review in Chapter 1 stated that RIA and ELISA have both been successfully used in various fields (biomedical or clinical studies) for analysing levels of AMPs (HNP1-3) present in various biological fluids (mainly plasma and serum). In comparison to LC-MS, almost similar sensitivity is provided by ELISA. To date, no controlled study has optimised sample preparation, LC- MS conditions (column performance, phases of mobile and ion intensity), and validated a method for individual salivary HNP detection. The main objective of this research was to assess levels of individual HNP1-4 by LC-MS following physiological stress. To achieve this, sample preparation (Chapter 3) and the LC-MS method (Chapter 4) were optimised. Furthermore, an LC-MS method was validated and cross validated with ELISA (Chapter 5). The key findings from each chapter are discussed below.

7.1 Thesis Findings

A selective and sensitive LC-MS method for the detection of four individual peptides (HNP1-4) has been developed and validated, and the need for sample clean-up when detecting HNPs in a complex biological matrix as saliva was highlighted in Chapter 3. Matrix effects are the alternation of ionisation efficiencies in the presence of co-eluting substances. Without SPE treatment, the matrix effects contributed to a reduction in the detection of salivary HNP1-4 by 17-65%, as interfering compounds compete for charge and suppress the signal of the analyte of interest. Ion suppression or enhancement represents a major challenge in MS quantitative analysis (Trufelli *et al.*, 2010). A significant difference was observed which was related to sample preparation (SPE against without SPE); therefore, it was concluded that appropriate cleaning (with SPE) should be untaken prior to analysis. No ion suppression was caused through the use of an internal standard peptide (Leu-Enkephalin), and the extraction recovery data falls within the > 80% range following (U.S. Department of Health 2001).

In addition, eight different SPE extraction solvent mixtures were investigated. These solvent mixtures effected the extraction of the peptides differently depending on the pH of the buffers. The effect of the extraction (recovery) was determined by assessing the peak area (EIC), and an increased peak area for individual HNPs with a pH range between 2.48 to 2.91, was observed for MeOH: H_2O (50:50) + 1% FA; MeOH + H_2O (50:50) + 1% AC; MeCN + H_2O (50:50) + 1% FA and MeCN + H_2O (50:50) + 1% AC. According to the data, a significant difference (p > 0.05) between pH ranges of 2.48 to 2.91 and 3.01 to 3.91 was noted.

Indeed, the overall charge state $[M + 3H]^{3+}$, $[M + 4H]^{4+}$ and $[M + 5H]^{5+}$ of the HNPs changed by one unit between pH 2-4. The pKa of the C-termimus (approximately 2.0) and glutamic acid (4.15), and for example changes to the pH, affected the overall charge state of the defensions. The extent of the ionisation/charge state affects the polarity of defensions, as well as their ability to interact with the stationary phase.

To develop an LC-MS method that determines the relative level of individual salivary HNPs it was necessary to optimise the separation efficiency and the ion intensities of the defensins. During the LC-MS optimisation, mobile phase solvent composition was shown to influence the analyte ion intensity profile. Six different mobile phase compositions were investigated (Chapter 4), and the data (ion intensity profile) suggests that a MeOH: H₂O solvent is the preferred solvent compared to MeCN: H₂O. During electrospray ionisation, the protic nature of MeOH promotes ionisation by providing a hydrogen ion for binding, which improves the ionisation of less ionisable compounds, and increases the analyte signal (Smith *et al.*, 2002).

The pH of the mobile phase solvent additives is a further factor which influences chromatographic performance and ionisation. Decreasing the mobile phase pH had a negative effect on the ion intensity profile (Chapter 4; Figure 4.8-4.9). It is also important to choose the most appropriate stationary phase and particle size. Higher separation efficiency was produced by smaller particle columns, suggesting that a Kinetex C8 column ($2.6 \mu m$) should be selected (Shen *et al.*, 2002). HNP4 was not detected in these samples; however, a similar performance

to HNP1-3 is expected due to the 33% sequence similarity compared to HNP1. The level of salivary HNP4 is 100 fold lower compared to HNP1-3. During column optimisation the sample could not be concentrated enough to detect HNP4, as a large sample volume was needed for repeat experiments (n= 4). However, for validation purposes, the sample was concentrated and all four defensins were detected. Optimisation of the gradient for the elution of HNPs was also evaluated in this study. When analysing HNPs with a shorter gradient (30 minutes), an unidentified peptide causing isobaric effects was noted due to the complexity of the saliva matrix. Hence, for separating individual HNPs a medium length (45 minutes) gradient was found to be appropriate, as the interfering ion was separated from the defensins. A longer gradient profile (70 mins) did not significantly improve ion intensity profile further.

The optimised LC-MS method was validated and the LOD for HNP2 was 0.05 ng/ μ L. This is sufficient for the purpose of this study and the sensitivity was comparable to ELISA. However, an increase in LOD may be achievable by performing MS/MS or using a different mass analyser, for example an ion trap or triple quadrupole. Other validation parameters were determined and these all fell in the acceptable range within the ICH Q2B guidelines for complex biological fluids.

An internal standard (Leu-Enkephalin) was spiked into the saliva to control for variation in injection, sample preparation, instrument parameters and matrix effects (Magni *et al.*, 2001). To date this is the first validated method for the analysis of individual HNP1-4 in saliva matrix. A pilot study was conducted and significant variation was observed in the levels of individual HNP1-4 from both female and male participants. Variation was also observed in the levels of individual HNP1 in saliva among individuals in other studies utilising the LC-MS method (Goebel *et al.*, 2000; Cabras *et al.*, 2010). Furthermore, as the number of participants was low, an extension of this study would be helpful in determining if a larger population would still reflect the observed trends. When the data obtained from LC-MS versus ELISA were taken into account, both methods showed equal sensitivity while detecting the average response of HNP1-3 (Chapter 6).

The validated LC-MS method was used to study the change in the physiological levels of individual HNP1-4 following physical stress. Immunity has been reported to be weakened up to 72 hours after intensive exercise, i.e. more than 90 minutes (Niemen *et al.*, 2005). Two studies were developed and in the first exercise study the level of individual HNPs were evaluated in athletes given a placebo or CHO supplement, while in the second study levels of

individual HNPs were measured in the participants who received CHO or MTN supplementation.

According to the post interval (30 and 60 min) data, when compared to the pre interval data following ingestion of the placebo, a significant increase in the levels of HNPs was observed after 60 min of exercise. The results indicated that the HNP response occurs after only 30 mins and increases at least up to 60 mins after exercise. It will be necessary to repeat this study with longer post intervals (up to 24 hours) in order to assess whether the increase is transient and to assess when defensin levels returns to base level.

For example, in the case of IgA, levels were found to return to baseline following 18 hours of rest (Fedricks *et al.*, 2012); however, this will depend on the type and intensity of exercise performed. Interestingly, when supplementing with CHO, the HNP levels only increased significantly up to 30 mins post exercise, but this increase was significantly lower compared to the increase observed in athletes receiving the placebo. This indicates that a CHO supplement is beneficial for reducing inflammation induced by stress/exercise. The standard error is rather large and an increase in participant numbers is recommended for future studies. In addition, salivary cortisol levels (measured by ELISA) were significantly increased in athletes consuming either the placebo or CHO supplement at both 30 and 60 mins post exercise.

Following on from the findings from the first study, the second study was designed to explore the effects of acute stress on levels of individual HNPs in athletes supplemented with CHO versus MTN. Although the standard deviation is very large, a similar trend was observed as in the first study, where participant consumed CHO and the levels of HNPs seemed to increase 30 min post exercise but not at 60 mins post exercise. Likewise, supplementing with MTN did not significantly change HNP levels; however, a clear trend was observed whereby HNP1-3 levels seem to increase but not to the same extent as when supplementing with CHO even though the differences between CHO and MTN are not significant.

This could indicate that supplementing with MTN also has an enhanced effect on the immune response after intense exercise compared to supplementing with CHO alone. The carbohydrate source was same in the two formulations. The underlying biological mechanisms for the suppression of HNP levels when supplementing with either CHO or MTN is unclear; however, it is known that supplementing with carbohydrates during exercise has been shown to attenuate immunosuppression by better maintaining glycaemia and reducing the magnitude of stress

hormone release (Nieman *et al.*, 2001; Pedersen *et al.*, 1997; Gomes *et al.*, 2014). In addition, excessive neutrophil activation, for example via acute or prolonged physical stress, is known to result in superoxide production, which can lead to local tissue inflammation/tissue damage (oxidative stress) (Khanfer *et al.*, 2010; Mayadas *et al.*, 2009). This is an important line of investigation for future research into acute stress and the individual function of α -defensins, as longer term neutrophil activation are known to be detrimental to health.

The above findings are novel and provide clear evidence that individual HNP functions are sensitive to psychological stress. Indeed, these two studies have shown that human neutrophil functions are affected by CHO and MTN supplementation during exercise. Nevertheless, the lack of an association between the reduction in response of individual HNPs and responses to CHO and MTN supplementation during acute stress make it difficult to further elucidate the mechanisms underlying this. It is also difficult to determine which ingredient(s) contained within the products may be inducing the ergogenic outcome.

Given that limited research has focused on psychological stress effects on innate immunity, the replication of this research with a greater number of participants is necessary to confirm the current findings. There has been speculation concerning the role of the neuroendocrine system; specifically, the HPA axis and the sympathetic-adrenal-medullary axis, and the function of neutrophils (Khanfer *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, one objective of this study was to evaluate a possible correlation between the salivary hormone cortisol and HNPs following physiological stress.

Khanfer (2011) reported that stress, as expected, induced significant increases in cardiovascular activity. Despite examining potential neuroendocrine mediators, such as cortisol activation with stress, the observed changes were not associated with neutrophil function changes. Transient acute stressors might both enhance and decrease these neutrophil functions, thus the specific underlying mechanisms driving the changes in neutrophil function in response to psychological stress remain unknown. Further research is needed to replicate these findings; specifically, with a greater focus on stress hormone and the functions of individual HNPs. This would confirm the involvement of the HPA axis, and hormone and HNP functions during psychological stress exposure.

7.2 Limitations of the Study

In both studies the size of the sample was comparatively modest, as it was challenging to recruit athlete participants. Consequently, the findings need to be considered in light of this limitation. Further study and the duplication of this research is essential, particularly when considering that to date, only a few studies have studied HNP physiological levels during physical stress (Davison *et al.*, 2009; Gillum *et al.*, 2015; Kunz *et al.*, 2015). Undoubtedly, the level of the stress hormone cortisol and salivary peptides (HNPs) showed changes induced as a result of physical stress; however, it remains unclear how the levels of HNPs and hormones are altered by CHO and MTN supplementation. There is a need to explore the specific underlying mechanisms that supress levels of HNPs and hormones after supplementation compared to placebo levels. The present findings could be enhanced by studying the effect on HNP levels after longer post exercise periods (up to 24 hours) and analysing if salivary cortisol responses can be delayed.

Chapter 8 - Conclusions

The significance of the analysis of salivary AMPs after physical stress, and the need to establish a LC-MS approach was determined in this study. The examination of levels of salivary HNPs in different fields of research, including biomedical or sports science, has until now been ELISA based. Hence, the development of an LC-MS method offers the ability to investigate the response of individual salivary HNPs. The method optimisation consisted of sample preparation optimisation, LC-MS method (column performance, mobile phase solvents and additives) optimisation, and LC-MS method validation. HNPs were detected via LC-MS, as implemented by other researchers, and where there was a lack of a standardised approach (for instance, SPE separation effectiveness, mobile phase solvent choice, additives, column performance, inter-intraday exactness, and retrieval), then constancy and cross- validation has been established and authenticated via ELISA for the examination of individual salivary HNP1-4 levels. Some gaps in the existing research were identified, including the examination of individual salivary HNP levels after physical stress with CHO and MTN supplementation. The level of cortisol was also compared with HNP levels.

The established LC-MS method was specific and sensitive for salivary HNP analysis. A list of the conclusions obtained from the findings is presented below:

- Optimising the sample preparation resulted in an improvement in the peak area (EIC) for individual HNPs. The SPE washing phase and the use of organic solvents and additives can affect the ESI response. A significant difference (p = 0.05) in the ESI response for the pH range of 2.48 to 2.91 was observed when using various washing phase organic solvents and additives. Aqueous 1% AC: MeOH (50:50) at pH 2.8 was found to yield the largest extracted ion chromatogram peak area for individual HNPs.
- Speed vac drying of SPE fractions prior to sample analysis resulted in a significant increase in the EIC peak area for all HNPs (p <0.05) compared to drying the fraction manually under a flow of nitrogen gas.
- The separation of individual HNPs can be enhanced by modifying the LC mobile phase gradient. A shorter gradient resulted in the co-elution of peptides causing isobaric interference during MS analysis. Hence, a 45 min gradient is needed for the separation of HNPs.

- 4. Mobile phase solvents, additives, and column performance are important factors to consider when optimising the ESI response. Three mobile phase solvents (with three differing additives) and two different stationary phase columns (with two differing dimensions) were tested and the optimal column (in terms of increased ion intensity) was selected. A significant increase in ion intensity was observed for individual HNPs with the Kinetex[®] C8, 2.6 µm column using a mobile phase of 0.1% (v/v) AC in H₂O and B: 0.1% (v/v) AC in MeOH, after assessing six different mobile phases.
- 5. The LC-MS method was validated following ICH guidelines. The LOD was determined to be 0.05 ng/µL and extraction recovery was 80-91%. In addition, a good correlation between ELISA and LC-MS (R²=0.963) supports that individual salivary HNPs are being measured accurately and precisely via LC-MS.
- 6. The level of individual HNP1-4 were found to be increased for up to 60 mins after exercise. The increase, i.e. the activation of neutrophils and therefore the release of defensins, was minimised in athlete supplemented with CHO or MTN compared to athletes who received a placebo; this could indicate reduced airway inflammation. A correlation between salivary HNPs and cortisol levels was not detected, but this could be due to a delayed cortisol response.

8.1 Future Research

An ultra-performance liquid chromatography (UPLC) based method could accelerate the analysis, and future work could investigate method transfer compatibility from HPLC to UPLC. The importance of sample cleaning was briefly discussed in Chapter 4, but despite analyte recovery and sample cleaning exhibited by SPE, this method was time consuming. Future work could investigate the compatibility of automated SPE in reducing sample preparation time. In addition, a full scan range (100-2000) m/z was used in this study and therefore other analytes within this m/z range could be investigated to assess their changes after physical stress. Other innate immunity modulators (AMPs), such as β -defensins and cathelicidins, could be investigated in future work in order to understand them in more depth. The exercise time interval was seen to affect the association between hormone and AMPs, although this has not yet been proven. An increase in levels after exercise was illustrated by both cortisol and AMPs but no correlation could be identified. Consequently, additional research with longer exercise time intervals would be beneficial.

References

- Abaye, D.A., Pullen, F.S. and Nielsen, B.V. (2011). Peptide polarity and the position of arginine as sources of selectivity during positive electrospray ionisation mass spectrometry. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry, 25(23), pp.3597-3608.
- Abiko, Y., Nishimura, M. and Kaku, T. (2003). Defensins in saliva and the salivary glands. Medical Electron Microscopy, 36(4), pp.247-252.
- Ader, R., Cohen, N. and Felten, D. (1995). Psychoneuroimmunology: interactions between the nervous system and the immune system. The Lancet, 345(8942), pp.99-103.
- Aebersold, R. and Mann, M., (2003). Mass spectrometry based proteomics. Nature, 422(6928), pp.198-207.
- Agilent Technologies (2012). LC and LC/MS your essential resource for columns and supplies.
 [ONLINE] Available at: https://www.agilent.com/cs/library/catalogs/public/5991-1059EN%20LC_Columns.pdf. [Accessed 1 December 2016].
- Albrethsen, J., Bøgebo, R., Gammeltoft, S., Olsen, J., Winther, B. and Raskov, H. (2005). Upregulated expression of human neutrophil peptides 1, 2 and 3 (HNP 1-3) in colon cancer serum and tumours: a biomarker study. BMC Cancer, 5(1), p.8.
- Albrethsen, J., Møller, C.H., Olsen, J., Raskov, H. and Gammeltoft, S. (2006). Human neutrophil peptides 1, 2 and 3 are biochemical markers for metastatic colorectal cancer. European Journal of Cancer, 42(17), pp.3057-3064.
- Alghadir, A.H., Gabr, S.A. and Aly, F.A. (2015). The effects of four weeks aerobic training on saliva cortisol and testosterone in young healthy persons. Journal of Physical Therapy Science, 27(7), p.2029.
- Allgrove, J. E., Gomes, E., Hough, J. and Gleeson, M. (2008). Effects of exercise intensity on salivary antimicrobial proteins and markers of stress in active men. Journal of Sports Sciences, 26, pp.653 661.
- Allgrove, J.E., Geneen, L., Latif, S. and Gleeson, M., (2009). Influence of a fed or fasted state on the s-IgA response to prolonged cycling in active men and women. International journal of sport nutrition and exercise metabolism, 19(3), pp.209-221.
- Allgrove, J.E., Oliveira, M. and Gleeson, M. (2014). Stimulating whole saliva affects the response of antimicrobial proteins to exercise. Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports, 24(4), pp.649-655.
- Al-Tarawneh, S.K., Border, M.B., Dibble, C.F. and Bencharit, S., (2011). Defining Salivary Biomarkers Using Mass Spectrometry-Based Proteomics: A Systematic Review. OMICS A Journal of Integrative Biology, 15(6).
- Annesley, T.M. (2003). Ion suppression in mass spectrometry. Clinical Chemistry, 49(7), pp.1041-1044.

- Apffel, A., Chakel, J., Udiavar, S., Swedberg, S., Hancock, W.S., Souders, C., Pungor, E. (1998). Application of new analytical technology to the production of a well-characterized biological. Developments in Biological Standardization, 96, pp.11–25.
- Apffel, A., Fischer, S., Goldberg, G., Goodley, P.C. and Kuhlmann, F.E. (1995). Enhanced sensitivity for peptide mapping with electrospray liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry in the presence of signal suppression due to trifluoroacetic acid-containing mobile phases. Journal of Chromatography A, 712(1), pp.177-19.
- Ashitani, J.I., Mukae, H., Hiratsuka, T., Nakazato, M., Kumamoto, K. and Matsukura, S. (2002). Elevated levels of α-defensins in plasma and BAL fluid of patients with active pulmonary tuberculosis. CHEST Journal, 121(2), pp.519-526.
- Ashitani, J.I., Mukae, H., Nakazato, M., Taniguchi, H., Ogawa, K., Kohno, S. and Matsukura, S. (1998). Elevated pleural fluid levels of defensins in patients with empyema. CHEST Journal, 113(3), pp.788-794.
- Backhouse, S.H., Ali, A., Biddle, S.J.H. and Williams, C. (2007). Carbohydrate ingestion during prolonged high- intensity intermittent exercise: impact on affect and perceived exertion. Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports, 17(5), pp.605-610.
- Baechle, T.R. and Earle, R.W. (2008). Essentials of strength training and conditioning. Human Kinetics.
- Bals, R., Wang, X., Zasloff, M. and Wilson, J.M. (1998). The peptide antibiotic LL-37/hCAP-18 is expressed in epithelia of the human lung where it has broad antimicrobial activity at the airway surface. Proceedings of the National Academy of Science USA, 95, pp.9541-9546.
- Bantscheff, M., Lemeer, S., Savitski, M.M. and Kuster, B. (2012). Quantitative mass spectrometry in proteomics: critical review update from 2007 to the present. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry, 404(4), pp.939-965.
- Bantscheff, M., Schirle, M., Sweetman, G., Rick, J. and Kuster, B., (2007). Quantitative mass spectrometry in proteomics: a critical review. Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry, 389(4), pp.1017-1031.
- Baschant, U. and Tuckermann, J. (2010). The role of the glucocorticoid receptor in inflammation and immunity. Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, 120(2), pp.69-75.
- Battino, M., Ferreiro, M.S., Gallardo, I., Newman, H.N. and Bullon, P., (2002). The antioxidant capacity of saliva. Journal of Clinical Periodontology, 29(3), pp.189-194.
- Beaven, M.C., Gill, N.D. and Cook, C.J. (2008). Salivary testosterone and cortisol responses in professional rugby players after four resistance exercise protocols. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research, 22, pp.426-432.
- Becerra, L., Soares, R.V., Bruno, L.S., Siqueira, C.C., Oppenheim, F.G., Offner, G.D. and Troxler, R.F., (2003). Patterns of secretion of mucins and non-mucin glycoproteins in human submandibular/sublingual secretion. Archives of oral biology, 48(2), pp.147-154.

Beck, J., (2012). Protein and Peptide Analysis by LC-MS-Experimental Strategies.

- Benijts, T., Dams, R., Lambert, W. and De Leenheer, A., (2004). Countering matrix effects in environmental liquid chromatography–electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry water analysis for endocrine disrupting chemicals. Journal of chromatography A, 1029(1), pp.153-159.
- Bensch, K.W., Raida, M., Mägert, H.J., Schulz-Knappe, P. and Forssmann, W.G. (1995). hBD- 1: a novel β- defensin from human plasma. FEBS Letters, 368(2), pp.331-335.
- Bernabe, D.G., Tamae, A.C., Biasoli, É.R. and Oliveira, S.H. (2011). Stress hormones increase cell proliferation and regulates interleukin-6 secretion in human oral squamous cell carcinoma cells. Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 25(3), pp.574-583.
- Bianco, A., Mammina, C., Paoli, A., Bellafiore, M., Battaglia, G., Caramazza, G., Palma, A. and Jemni, M. (2011). Protein supplementation in strength and conditioning adepts: knowledge, dietary behavior and practice in Palermo, Italy. Journal of the International Society of Sports Nutrition, 8(1), p.25.
- Bishop, N.C., Blannin, A.K., Armstrong, E., Rickman, M. and Gleeson, M. (2000). Carbohydrate and fluid intake affect the saliva flow rate and IgA response to cycling. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 32(12), pp.2046-2051.
- Bishop, N.C., Gleeson, M., Nicholas, C.W. and Ali, A. (2002). Influence of carbohydrate supplementation on plasma cytokine and neutrophil degranulation responses to high intensity intermittent exercise. International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise metabolism, 12, pp.145-156.
- Bishop, N.C., Walsh, N.P. and Scanlon, G.A. (2003). Effect of prolonged exercise and carbohydrate on total neutrophil elastase content. Medicine and science in sports and exercise, 35(8), pp.1326-1332.
- Björhall, K., Miliotis, T. and Davidsson, P. (2005). Comparison of different depletion strategies for improved resolution in proteomic analysis of human serum samples. Proteomics, 5(1), pp.307-317.
- Boersema, P.J., Raijmakers, R., Lemeer, S., Mohammed, S. and Heck, A.J. (2009). Multiplex peptide stable isotope dimethyl labeling for quantitative proteomics. Nature Protocols, 4(4), pp.484-494.
- Boman, H.G. (2003). Antibacterial peptides: basic facts and emerging concepts. Journal of Internal Medicine, 254(3), pp.197-215.
- Bondarenko, P.V., Chelius, D. and Shaler, T.A. (2002). Identification and relative quantitation of protein mixtures by enzymatic digestion followed by capillary reversed-phase liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. Analytical Chemistry, 74(18), pp.4741-4749.
- Bonfiglio, R., King, R.C., Olah, T.V. and Merkle, K. (1999). The effects of sample preparation methods on the variability of the electrospray ionization response for model drug compounds. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry, 13(12), pp.1175-1185.

- Booth, J.C., Hannington, Gillan., Bakir, T.M., Stern, H., Kangro, H., Griffiths, P.D. and Heath,R.B.(1982).Comparison of enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, radioimmunoassay, complement fixation, anticomplement immunofluorescence and passive haemagglutination techniques for detecting cytomegalovirus IgG antibody. Journal of clinical pathology, 35(12), pp.1345-1348.
- Bosco, C., Viitasalo, J.T., Komi, P.V. and Luhtanen, P. (1982). Combined effect of elastic energy and myoelectrical potentiation during stretch- shortening cycle exercise. Acta Physiologica Scandinavica, 114(4), pp.557-565.
- Bose, M., Oliván, B. and Laferrère, B. (2009). Stress and obesity: the role of the hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis in metabolic disease. Current Opinion in Endocrinology, Diabetes, and Obesity, 16(5), p.340.
- Bowdish, D.M. and Hancock, R.E. (2005). Anti-endotoxin properties of cationic host defence peptides and proteins. Journal of Endotoxin Research, 11(4), pp.230-236.
- Boyd, R.K., Basic, C. and Bethem, R.A. (2008). Trace quantitative analysis by mass spectrometry. Chichester, Wiley.
- Boysen, R.I. and Hearn, M.T., (2001). HPLC of peptides and proteins. Current Protocols in Protein Science, pp.8-7.
- Brandtzaeg P. and Pabst R. (2004) Let's go mucosal: communication on slippery ground. Trends in Immunology, 25, pp.570–577
- Brook, C.G.D. and Marshall, N.J. (2001). Essential endocrinology. Oxford, Blackwell
- Brownlee, K.K., Moore, A.W. and Hackney, A.C. (2005). Relationship between circulating cortisol and testosterone: influence of physical exercise. Journal of Sports Science and Medicine, 4, pp.76-83.
- Bruno, L.S., Li, X., Wang, L., Soares, R.V., Siqueira, C.C., Oppenheim, F.G., Troxler, R.F. and Offner, G.D., (2005). Two-hybrid analysis of human salivary mucin MUC7 interactions. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Cell Research, 1746(1), pp.65-72.
- Brzycki, M. (1997). Cross training for fitness. Masters Press.
- Buckingham, J.C., Gillies, G.E. and Cowell, A.M., eds. (1997). Stress, stress hormones and the immune system. John Wiley & Sons
- Budde, H., Voelcker-Rehage, C., Pietrassyk-Kendziorra, S., Machado, S., Ribeiro, P. and Arafat, A. M. (2010). Steroid hormones in the saliva of adolescents after different exercise intensities and their influence on working memory in a school setting. Psychoneuroendocrinology, 35, pp.382-391.
- Buford, T.W. and Willoughby, D.S. (2008). Impact of DHEA (S) and cortisol on immune function in aging: a brief review. Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, 33(3), pp.429-433.

- Buford, T.W., Kreider, R.B., Stout, J.R., Greenwood, M., Campbell, B., Spano, M., Ziegenfuss, T., Lopez, H., Landis, J. and Antonio, J. (2007). Journal of the International Society of Sports Nutrition, 4(6), p.6.
- Buhrman, D. L., Price, P. I. and Rudewicz, P. J. (1996). Quantitation of sr 27417 in human plasma using electrospray liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry: A study of ion suppression. Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry, 7, pp.1099-1105.
- Burgen, A.S.V. (1956). The secretion of potassium in saliva. Journal of Physiology, 132(1), p.20.
- Bushong, D.M., Friend, T.H. and Knabe, D.A. (2000). Salivary and plasma cortisol response to adrenocorticotropin administration in pigs. Laboratory Animals, 34(2), pp.171-181.
- Buttgereit, F. and Scheffold, A. (2002). Rapid glucocorticoid effects on immune cells. Steroids, 67(6), pp.529-534.
- Cabras, T., Pisano, E., Mastinu, A., Denotti, G., Pusceddu, P.P., Inzitari, R., Fanali, C., Nemolato, S., Castagnola, M. and Messana, I. (2010). Alterations of the salivary secretory peptidomeprofile in children affected by type 1 diabetes. Molecular & Cellular Proteomics, 9, p.10.
- Cadore, E., Lhullier, F., Brentano, M., Silva, E., Ambrosini, M., Spinelli, R., Silva, R. and Kruel, L. (2008). Correlations between serum and salivary hormonal concentrations in response to resistance exercise. Journal of Sports Sciences, 26, pp.1067-1072.
- Cadore, E.L., Lhullier, F.L., Alberton, C.L., Almeida, A.P., Sapata, K.B., Korzenowski, A.L. and Kruel, L.F. (2009). Salivary hormonal responses to different water-based exercise protocols in young and elderly men. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research, 23, pp.2695-701.
- Campese, M., Sun, X., Bosch, J.A., Oppenheim, F.G. and Helmerhorst, E.J., (2009). Concentration and fate of histatins and acidic proline-rich proteins in the oral environment. Archives of oral biology, 54(4), pp.345-353.
- Candow, D.G. and Burke, D.G. (2007). Effect of short-term equal-volume resistance training with different workout frequency on muscle mass and strength in untrained men and women. Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research, 21(1), pp.204-207.
- Cannon, W. (1935). Stress and strains of homeostasis. American Journal of Medicine, 189, pp.1-14.
- Cao, P. and Moini, M. (1998). Capillary electrophoresis electrospray ionisation high mass accuracy time-of-flight mass spectrometry for protein identification using peptide mapping. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry, 12, pp.864–870.
- Caporossi, L., Santoro, A. and Papaleo, B., (2010). Saliva as an analytical matrix: state of the art and application for biomonitoring. Biomarkers, 15(6), pp.475-487.

- Castagnola, M., Inzitari, R., Rossetti, D.V., Olmi, C., Cabras, T., Piras, V., Nicolussi, P., Sanna, M.T., Pellegrini, M., Giardina, B. and Messana, I., (2004). A cascade of 24 histatins (histatin 3 fragments) in human saliva Suggestions for a pre-secretory sequential cleavage pathway. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 279(40), pp.41436-41443.
- Cech NB, Enke CG. (2001). The effect of affinity for charged droplet surfaces on the fraction of analyte charged in the electrospray process. Analytical Chemistry, 73, pp.4632–4639.
- Charlet, M., Chernysh, S., Philippe, H., Hetru, C., Hoffmann, J.A. and Bulet, P., (1996). Innate immunity Isolation of several cysteine-rich antimicrobial peptides from the blood of a mollusc, Mytilus edulis. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 271(36), pp.21808-21813.
- Chemspider. (2015). *Chemsider search and share chemistry*. [ONLINE] Available at: http://www.chemspider.com/. [Accessed 30 November 2016].
- Chiu, M.L., Lawi, W., Snyder, S.T., Wong, P.K., Liao, J.C. and Gau, V., (2010). Matrix effects—a challenge toward automation of molecular analysis. Journal of the association for laboratory automation, 15(3), pp.233-242.
- Chromacademy (2010). Electrospray ionisation. [ONLINE] Available at: http://www.chromacademy.com/. [Accessed 15 May 15].
- Coburn, J.W., Housh, T.J., Malek, M.H., Weir, J.P., Cramer, J.T., Beck, T.W. and Johnson, G.O. (2006). Neuromuscular responses to three days of velocity-specific isokinetic training. Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research, 20(4), pp.892-898.
- Cohen, A.M., Mansour, A.A. and Banoub, J.H., (2006). Absolute quantification of Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout vitellogenin by the 'signature peptide'approach using electrospray ionization QqToF tandem mass spectrometry. Journal of mass spectrometry, 41(5), pp.646-658.
- Cohen, A.M., Mansour, A.A., and Banoub, J.H. (2006). Absolute quantification of Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout vitellogenin by the "signature peptide" approach using electrospray ionisation QqToF tandem mass spectrometry. Journal of Mass Spectrometry, 41, pp.646–658.
- Cole, R.B. (2011). Electrospray and MALDI mass spectrometry: fundamentals, instrumentation, practicalities, and biological applications. John Wiley & Sons
- Collier, T.S., Randall, S.M., Sarkar, P., Rao, B.M., Dean, R.A. and Muddiman, D.C. (2011). Comparison of stable- isotope labeling with amino acids in cell culture and spectral counting for relative quantification of protein expression. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry, 25(17), pp.2524-2532.
- Conceiçao, R.R., Simão, R., Silveira, A.L.B., Nobre, M., Salerno, V.P. and Novaes, J. (2014). Acute Endocrine Responses to Different Strength Exercise Order in Men. Journal of Human Kinetics, 44(1), pp.111-120.
- Cook, N.J., Schaefer, A.L., Lepage, P. and Jones, S.M. (1996). Salivary vs. serum cortisol for the assessment of adrenal activity in swine. Canadian Journal of Animal Science, 76(3), pp.329-335.

- Cooper, R., Naclerio, F., Allgrove, J. and Larumbe-Zabala, E. (2014). Effects of a carbohydrate and caffeine gel on intermittent sprint performance in recreationally trained males. European Journal of Sport Science, 14(4), pp.353-361.
- Cordova, A., Sureda, A., Tur, J. A. and Pons, A. (2010). Immune response to exercise in elite sportsmen during the competitive season. Journal of Physiology and Biochemistry, 66, pp.1-6
- Costa, R.J., Fortes, M.B., Richardson, K., Bilzon, J.L. and Walsh, N.P. (2012). The effects of postexercise feeding on saliva antimicrobial proteins. International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism, 22(3), pp.184-191.
- Cribb, P.J., Williams, A.D. and Hayes, A. (2007). A creatine-protein-carbohydrate supplement enhances responses to resistance training. Medicine and Science in Sport and Exercise, 39(11), pp.1960-1968.
- Darvishi, L., Askari, G., Hariri, M., Bahreynian, M., Ghiasvand, R., Ehsani, S., Mashhadi, N.S., Rezai, P. and Khorvash, F. (2013). The use of nutritional supplements among male collegiate athletes. International Journal of Preventive Medicine, 4.
- Davison, G. and Gleeson, M. (2007). The effects of acute vitamin C supplementation on cortisol, interleukin-6, and neutrophil responses to prolonged cycling exercise. European Journal of Sport Science, 7(1), pp.15-25.
- Davison, G., Allgrove, J. and Gleeson, M. (2009). Salivary antimicrobial peptides (LL-37 and alpha-defensins HNP1–3), antimicrobial and IgA responses to prolonged exercise. European Journal of Applied Physiology, 106(2), pp.277-284.
- Dawes, C., (1975). Circadian rhythms in the flow rate and composition of unstimulated and stimulated human submandibular saliva. Journal of Physiology, 244(2), p.535
- Dawn (2008) Cellular and plant transport Available at: http://www.slideshare.net/seasprite/presentation-07-cellular-and-plant-transport (Accessed: 17 April 2014).
- Dayon, L., Hainard, A., Licker, V., Turck, N., Kuhn, K., Hochstrasser, D.F., Burkhard, P.R. and Sanchez, J.C. (2008). Relative quantification of proteins in human cerebrospinal fluids by MS/MS using 6-plex isobaric tags. Analytical Chemistry, 80(8), pp.2921-2931.
- De Bock, M., De Seny, D., Meuwis, M.A., Chapelle, J.P., Louis, E., Malaise, M., Merville, M.P. and Fillet, M., (2009). Challenges for biomarker discovery in body fluids using SELDI-TOF-MS. BioMed Research International, 2010.
- De Smet, K. and Contreras, R. (2005). Human antimicrobial peptides: defensins, cathelicidins and histatins. Biotechnology Letters, 27, pp.1337–1347.
- Dimitriou, L., Sharp, N.C.C. and Doherty, M. (2002). Circadian effects on the acute responses of salivary cortisol and IgA in well trained swimmers. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 36(4), pp.260-264.

- Dioszegi, T.A. and Raynie, D.E. (2012). Kinetic performance comparison of a capillary monolithic and a fused-core column in micro-scale liquid chromatography. Journal of Chromatography A, 1261, pp.107-112.
- Dole, M., Mack, L.L., Hines, R.L., Mobley, R.C., Ferguson, L.D., and Alice, M.B. (1968). Molecular beams of macro ions. Journal of Chemical Physics, 49, pp.2240–2249.
- Dominique, J.F., Aerni, A., Schelling, G. and Roozendaal, B. (2009). Glucocorticoids and the regulation of memory in health and disease. Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology, 30(3), pp.358-370.
- Doss, M., White, M.R., Tecle, T. and Hartshorn, K.L. (2010). Human defensins and LL-37 in mucosal immunity. Journal of Leukocyte Biology, 87(1), pp.79-92.
- Droin, N., Hendra, J.B., Ducoroy, P. and Solary, E. (2009). Human defensins as cancer biomarkers and antitumour molecules. Journal of Proteomics, 72(6), pp.918-927.
- Dufau, M.L., Catt, K.J., Tsuruhara, T. and Ryan, D. (1972). Radioimmunoassay of plasma testosterone. Clinica Chimica Acta, 37, pp.109-116.
- Dunsche, A., Açil, Y., Siebert, R., Harder, J., Schröder, J.M. and Jepsen, S. (2001). Expression profile of human defensins and antimicrobial proteins in oral tissues. Journal of Oral Pathology & Medicine, 30(3), pp.154-158.
- Dvorak, J., Feddermann, N. and Grimm, K. (2006). Glucocorticosteroids in football: use and misuse. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 40, pp.i48-i54.
- Edgar WM. (1992). Saliva: its secretion, composition and functions. British Dental Journal, 172, pp.305-312.
- Edgar WM. Saliva and dental health (1990). Clinical implications of saliva: report of a consensus meeting. British Dental Journal, 169, pp.96-98.
- Edgar, M., Dawes, C. and O'Mullane, D. (2014). Saliva and Oral Health. Dental Tribune Middle East & Africa Edition.
- Ehrmann, B.M., Henriksen, T. and Cech, N.B. (2008). Relative importance of basicity in the gas phase and in solution for determining selectivity in electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry, 19(5), pp.719-728.
- El-Aneed, A. Aljandro Cohen, A. and Banoub, J. (2009). Mass Spectrometry, Review of the Basics: Electrospray, MALDI, and Commonly Used Mass Analyzers. Applied Spectroscopy Reviews, 44(3), pp.210-230.
- Eliakim, A., Portal, S., Zadik, Z., Rabinowitz, J., Adler-Portal, D., Cooper, D. M., Zaldivar, F. and Nemet, D. (2009). The effect of a volleyball practice on anabolic hormones and inflammatory markers in elite male and female adolescent players. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research, 23, pp.1553-1559.
- Ellison, S.A., Mashimo, P.A. and Mandel, I.D. (1960). Immunochemical studies of human saliva. I. The demonstration of serum proteins in whole and parotid saliva. Journal of Dental Research, 39, pp.892-898.

- Elloumi, M., Maso, F., Michaux, O., Robert, A. and Lac, G. (2003). Behaviour of saliva cortisol [c], testosterone [t] and t/c ratio during a rugby match and during the post-competition recovery days. European Journal of Applied Physiology, 90, pp.23-28.
- Ericksen, B., Wu, Z., Lu, W. and Lehrer, R.I. (2005). Antibacterial activity and specificity of the six human α -defensins. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 49(1), pp.269-275.
- Escribano, D., Fuentes-Rubio, M. and Cerón, J.J. (2012). Validation of an automated chemiluminescent immunoassay for salivary cortisol measurements in pigs. Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation, 24(5), pp.918-923.
- Fang, X.M., Shu, Q., Chen, Q.X., Book, M., Sahl, H.G., Hoeft, A. and Stuber, F. (2003). Differential expression of α and β defensins in human peripheral blood. European Journal of Clinical Investigation, 33(1), pp.82-87.
- Fattorini, L., Gennaro, R., Zanetti, M., Tan, D., Brunori, L., Giannoni, F., Pardini, M. and Orefici, G. (2004). In vitro activity of protegrin-1 and beta-defensin-1, alone and in combination with isoniazid, against Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Peptides, 25(7), pp.1075-1077.
- Fekete, S. and Guillarme, D. (2013). Kinetic evaluation of new generation of column packed with 1.3 μm core–shell particles. Journal of Chromatography A, 1308, pp.104-113.
- Fenn, J.B., Mann, M., Meng, C.K., Wong, S.F. and Whitehouse, C.M. (1989). Electrospray ionisation for mass spectrometry of large biomolecules. Science, 246, pp.64–71.
- Fink, G. (2000). Encyclopedia of Stress, Three-Volume Set (Vol. 1). Academic Press
- Foster, C., Florhaug, J.A., Franklin, J., Gottschall, L., Hrovatin, L.A., Parker, S., Doleshal, P. and Dodge, C. (2001). A new approach to monitoring exercise training. Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research, 15(1), pp.109-115.
- Franca, S.C., Barros Neto, T.L., Agresta, M.C., Lotufo, R.F. and Kater, C.E. (2006). [Divergent responses of serum testosterone and cortisol in athlete men after a marathon race]. Arquivos Brasileiros de Endocrinologia & Metabologia, 50, pp.1082-1087.
- Fredericks, S., Fitzgerald, L., Shaw, G. and Holt, D.W. (2012). Changes in salivary immunoglobulin A (IgA) following match play and training among English Premiership footballers. Medical Journal of Malaysia, 67(2), p.155.
- Fry, A. and Lohnes, C. (2010). Acute testosterone and cortisol responses to high power resistance exercise. Human Physiology, 36, pp.457-461.
- Fu, L.M. (2003). The potential of human neutrophil peptides in tuberculosis therapy. International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease, 7(11), pp.1027-1032.
- Furuyama, S., Mayes, D.M. and Nugent, C.A. (1970). A radioimmunoassay for plasma testosterone. Steroids, 16, pp.415-428.
- Ganz, T. (2003). The role of antimicrobial peptides in innate immunity. Integrative and Comparative Biology, 43(2), pp.300-304.

- Ganz, T., Selsted, M.E., Szklarek, D., Harwig, S.S., Daher, K., Bainton, D.F. and Lehrer, R.I. (1985). Defensins. Natural peptide antibiotics of human neutrophils. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 76(4), p.1427.
- Gardner S. M., Rowland D. M., Siu, A.Y., Bundy, J.L., Wagener, D.K. and Stephenson Jr., J.L. (2009). A Comprehensive Defensin Assay for Saliva. Analytical Chemistry, 81(2), pp.557–566.
- Garnick, R.L., Solli, N.J. and Papa, P.A. (1988). The role of quality control in biotechnology: An analytical perspective. Analytical Chemistry, 60(23), pp.2546-2557.
- Garrett, J.R. (1975). Changing attitudes on salivary secretion-a short history on spit. Proceedings of the Royal Society of Medicine, 68(9), p.553.
- Gates, P. (2002). Electrospray ionisation [ONLINE] Available at: http://www.bris.ac.uk/nerclsmsf/techniques/hplcms.html. [Accessed 23 March 15]
- Gelpi, E. (1995). Biomedical and biochemical applications of liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography A, 703, pp.59–80.
- Gillum, T.L., Kuennen, M.R., Castillo, M.N., Williams, N.L. and Jordan-Patterson, A.T. (2015). Exercise, but not acute sleep loss, increases salivary antimicrobial protein secretion. Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research, 29(5), pp.1359-1366.
- Glaser, R. and Kiecolt-Glaser, J.K. (2005). Stress-induced immune dysfunction: implications for health. Nature Reviews Immunology, 5(3), pp.243-251.
- Gleeson, M. (2007). Immune function in sport and exercise. Journal of Applied Physiology, 103(2), pp.693-699.
- Gleeson, M. and Pyne, D.B. (2000). Exercise effects on mucosal immunity. Immunology and Cell Biology, 78(5), pp.536-544.
- Goebel C., Mackay L.G, Vicker E.R. and Mather L.E. (2000). Determination of defensin HNP-1, HNP-2, and HNP-3 in human saliva by using LC/MS. Peptides, 21, p.757.
- Goforth, H.W., Lowery, J., Cutson, T.M., Kenedi, C. and Cohen, M.A. (2009). Impact of bereavement on progression of AIDS and HIV infection: A review. Psychosomatics, 50(5), pp.433-439.
- Gomes, R.V., Moreira, A., Coutts, A.J., Capitani, C.D. and Aoki, M.S. (2014). Effect of carbohydrate supplementation on the physiological and perceptual responses to prolonged tennis match play. Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research, 28(3), pp.735-741
- Good, D.M., Thongboonkerd, V., Novak, J., Bascands, J.L., Schanstra, J.P., Coon, J.J., Dominiczak, A. and Mischak, H., (2007). Body fluid proteomics for biomarker discovery: lessons from the past hold the key to success in the future. Journal of proteome research, 6(12), pp.4549-4555
- Gorr, S.U. (2009) Antimicrobial peptides of the oral cavity. Periodontology, 51(1), pp.152-180.

- Gorr, S.U., (2011). Antimicrobial peptides in periodontal innate defense. In Periodontal Disease (Vol. 15, pp. 84-98). Karger Publishers.
- Gracia, J.R., Jaumann, F., Schulz, S., Krause, A., Rodríguez-Jiménez, J., Forssmann, U., Adermann, K., Klüver, E., Vogelmeier, C., Becker, D. and Hedrich, R. (2001). Identification of a novel, multifunctional β -defensin (human β -defensin 3) with specific antimicrobial activity. Cell and Tissue Research, 306(2), pp.257-264.
- Gracia, M., Climent, N., Oliva, H., Casanova, V., Franco, R., Leon, A., Gatell, J.M., García, F. and Gallart, T. (2010). Increased α-defensins 1-3 production by dendritic cells in HIV-infected individuals is associated with slower disease progression. PloS One, 5(2), p.e9436.
- Grebe, S.K. and Singh, R.J., (2016). Clinical peptide and protein quantification by mass spectrometry (MS). TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry.
- Griffin, N.M., Yu, J., Long, F., Oh, P., Shore, S., Li, Y., Koziol, J.A. and Schnitzer, J.E. (2010). Label-free, normalized quantification of complex mass spectrometry data for proteomic analysis. Nature Biotechnology, 28(1), pp.83-89.
- Gritti, F. and Guiochon, G. (2013). Speed-resolution properties of columns packed with new 4.6 µm Kinetex-C 18 core–shell particles. Journal of Chromatography A, 1280, pp.35-50.
- Guevremont, R., Barnett, D.A., Purves, R.W. and Vandermey, J. (2000). Analysis of a tryptic digest of pig hemoglobin using ESI- MS. Analytical chemistry, 72(19), pp.4577-4584.
- Guillarme, D., Ruta, J., Rudaz, S. and Veuthey, J.L., (2010). New trends in fast and high-resolution liquid chromatography: a critical comparison of existing approaches. Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry.
- Gunes, M., Gecit, I., Pirincci, N., Kemik, A.S., Purisa, S., Ceylan, K. and Aslan, M. (2013). Plasma human neutrophil proteins-1,-2, and-3 levels in patients with bladder cancer. Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology, 139(2), pp.195-199.
- Gustavsson, S.Å., Samskog, J., Markides, K.E. and Långström, B. (2001). Studies of signal suppression in liquid chromatography–electrospray ionization mass spectrometry using volatile ion-pairing reagents. Journal of Chromatography A, 937(1), pp.41-47.
- Hackney, A.C. and Viru, A. (1999). Twenty-four-hour cortisol response to multiple daily exercise sessions of moderate and high intensity. Clinical Physiology Oxford, 19, pp.178-182.
- Hakkinen, K., Pakarinen, A., Alen, M., Kauhanen, H. and Komi, P. V. (1987). Relationships between training volume, physical performance capacity, and serum hormone concentrations during prolonged training in elite weight lifters. International Journal of Sports Medicine, 1, pp.61-65.
- Hancock, R.E. and Diamond, G. (2000). The role of cationic antimicrobial peptides in innate host defences. Trends in Microbiology, 8(9), pp.402-410.
- Hansen, N.B., Vaughan, E.L., Cavanaugh, C.E., Connell, C.M. and Sikkema, K.J. (2009). Health-related quality of life in bereaved HIV-positive adults: relationships between HIV symptoms, grief, social support, and Axis II indication. Health Psychology, 28(2), p.249.

- Harbuz, M. (2002). Neuroendocrinology of autoimmunity. International Review of Neurobiology, 52, pp.133-161.
- Harder, J., Bartels, J. Christophers, E. and Schroder, J.M., (1997). A peptide antibiotic from human skin. Nature, 387(6636), pp.861-861.
- Harder, J., Bartels, J., Christophers, E. and Schröder, J.M. (2001). Isolation and characterization of human β -defensin-3, a novel human inducible peptide antibiotic. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 276(8), pp.5707-5713.
- Harris, A., Marquis, P., Eriksen, H.R., Grant, I., Corbett, R., Lie, S.A. and Ursin, H. (2010). Diurnal rhythm in british antarctic personnel. Rural Remote Health, 10, p.18.
- Hawker, C.D. (1973). Radioimmunoassay and related methods. Analytical Chemistry, 45, pp.878A-890a.
- Haynes, R.J., Tighe, P.J. and Dua, H.S. (1999). Antimicrobial defensin peptides of the human ocular surface. British Journal of Ophthalmology, 83(6), pp.737-741.
- Hazlett, L. and Wu, M. (2011). Defensins in innate immunity. Cell and Tissue Research, 343(1), pp.175-188.
- Hellhammer, D.H., Wüst, S. and Kudielka, B M. (2009). Salivary cortisol as a biomarker in stress research. Psychoneuroendocrinology, 34, pp.163-171.
- Hellman, L., Nakada, F., Curti, J., Weitzman, E.D., Kream, J., Roffwarg, H., Ellman, S., Fukushima, D.K. and Gallagher, T.F. (1970). Cortisol is secreted episodically by normal man. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 30, pp.411-422.
- Helmerhorst, E.J. and Oppenheim, F.G., (2007). Saliva: a dynamic proteome. Journal of dental research, 86(8), pp.680-693.
- Hendrickson, E.L., Xia, Q., Wang, T., Leigh, J.A. and Hackett, M. (2006). Comparison of spectral counting and metabolic stable isotope labelling for use with quantitative microbial proteomics. Analyst, 131(12), pp.1335-1341.
- Herderich, M., Richling, E., Roscher, R., Schneider, C., Schwab, W., Humph, H.U. and Schreier, P. (1997). Application of atmospheric pressure ionisation HPLC-MS–MS for the analysis of natural products. Chromatographia, 45, pp.127–132.
- Hichrom, A., (2014). ACE ultracore brocheure.
- Highton, J., Twist, C., Lamb, K. and Nicholas, C. (2013). Carbohydrate-protein coingestion improves multiple-sprint running performance. Journal of Sports Sciences, 31(4), pp.361-369.
- Hill, C.P., Yee, J., Selsted, M.E. and Eisenberg, D. (1991). Crystal structure of defensin HNP-3, an amphiphilic dimer: mechanisms of membrane permeabilization. Science, 251(5000), pp.1481-1485.
- Hill, E.E., Zack, E., Battaglini, C., Viru, M., Viru, A. and Hackney, A.C. (2008). Exercise and circulating cortisol levels: the intensity threshold effect. Journal of Endocrinological Investigation, 31, pp.587-591.

- Hirbod, T., Kong, X., Kigozi, G., Ndyanabo, A., Serwadda, D., Prodger, J.L., Tobian, A.A., Nalugoda, F., Wawer, M.J., Shahabi, K. and Rojas, O.L. (2014). HIV acquisition is associated with increased antimicrobial peptides and reduced HIV neutralizing IgA in the foreskin prepuce of uncircumcised men. PLoS Pathogens, 10(10), p.e1004416.
- Hiruntrakul, A., Nanagara, R., Emasithi, A. and Borer, K.T. (2010). Effect of endurance exercise on resting testosterone levels in sedentary subjects. Central European Journal of Public Health, 18(3), p.169.
- Hoover, D.R., Ihi, T., Nakazato, M., Mukae, H. and Matsukura, S. (1997). Elevated concentrations of human neutrophil peptides in plasma, blood, and body fluids from patients with infections. Clinical Infectious Diseases, 25(5), pp.1134-1140.
- Hough, J. P., Papacosta, E., Wraith, E. and Gleeson, M. (2011). Plasma and salivary steroid hormone responses of men to high-intensity cycling and resistance exercise. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research, 25, pp.23-31.
- Hu, A.T.W. (2006) Human body fluid proteome analysis. Proteomics, 6326–6353.
- Hu, S., Loo, J.A. and Wong, D.T., (2007). Human saliva proteome analysis and disease biomarker discovery. Expert review of proteomics, 4(4), pp.531-538.
- Huber, L. (2010). Validation of Analytical Methods. Agilent Technologies, 2, p.65. http://doi.org/5990-5140EN.
- Hubert, F., Noël, T. and Roch, P. (1996). A member of the arthropod defensin family from edible Mediterranean mussels (Mytilus galloprovincialis). European Journal of Biochemistry, 240(1), pp.302-306.
- Hulmi, J.J., Kovanen, V., Selänne, H., Kraemer, W.J., Häkkinen, K. and Mero, A.A. (2009). Acute and long-term effects of resistance exercise with or without protein ingestion on muscle hypertrophy and gene expression. Amino Acids, 37(2), pp.297-308.
- Humphrey, S.P. and Williamson, R.T. (2001). A review of saliva: normal composition, flow, and function. Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry, 85(2), pp.162-169.
- Hutchens, T.W. and Yip, T.T., (1993). New desorption strategies for the mass spectrometric analysis of macromolecules. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry, 7(7), pp.576-580.
- Hwang, Y., Park, J. and Lim, K. (2015). Effects of Pilates Exercise on Salivary Secretory Immunoglobulin A Levels in Older Women. Journal of Aging and Physical Activity.
- ICH. (1996). *Q2B Validation of Analytical*. [ONLINE] Available at: http://www.fda.gov/downloads/drugs/guidancecomplianceregulatoryinformation/guidance s/ucm073384.pdf. [Accessed 22 July 2015].
- Iontcheva, I., Oppenheim, F.G. and Troxler, R.F., (1997). Human salivary mucin MG1 selectively forms heterotypic complexes with amylase, proline-rich proteins, statherin, and histatins. Journal of dental research, 76(3), pp.734-743.

- Iribarne, J.V. and Thomson, B.A. (1976). One the evaporation of small ions from charged droplets. Journal of Chemical Physics, 64, pp.2287–2294.
- Ivy, J.L., Goforth, H.W., Damon, B.M., McCauley, T.R., Parsons, E.C. and Price, T.B. (2002). Early postexercise muscle glycogen recovery is enhanced with a carbohydrate-protein supplement. Journal of Applied Physiology, 93(4), pp.1337-1344.
- Jacks, D.E., Sowash, J., Anning, J., McGloughlin, T. and Andres, F. (2002). Effect of exercise at three exercise intensities on salivary cortisol. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research, 16, pp.
- Javaid, M.A., Ahmed, A.S., Durand, R. and Tran, S.D. (2015). Saliva as a diagnostic tool for oral and systemic diseases. Journal of Oral Biology and Craniofacial Research.
- Jin, C.H., Paik, I.Y., Kwak, Y.S., Jee, Y.S. and Kim, J.Y. (2015). Exhaustive submaximal endurance and resistance exercises induce temporary immunosuppression via physical and oxidative stress. Journal of Exercise Rehabilitation, 11(4), p.198.
- Johnson, D., Boyes, B. and Orlando, R. (2013). The use of ammonium formate as a mobilephase modifier for LC-MS/MS analysis of tryptic digests. Journal of Biomolecular Techniques, 24(4), p.187.
- Joseph, S. and Naegele, E., (2010). Maximizing chromatographic peak capacity with the Agilent 1290 Infinity LC system.
- Juhan, D. (1998). A handbook for bodywork: Job's body. NY, Barrytown Ltd
- Karas, M. and Hillenkamp, F. (1988) Laser desorption ionisation of proteins with molecular masses exceeding 10,000 Daltons. Analytical Chemistry, 60, pp.2299–2301.
- Karkoulias, K., Habeos, I., Charokopos, N., Tsiamita, M., Mazarakis, A., Pouli, A. and Spiropoulos, K. (2008). Hormonal responses to marathon running in non-elite athletes. European Journal of Internal Medicine, 19, pp.598-601.
- Kauffman, D.L. and Keller, P.J. (1979). The basic proline-rich proteins in human parotid saliva from a single subject. Archives of Oral Biology, 24(4), pp.249-256.
- Kaufman, E. and Lamster, I.B. (2002). The diagnostic applications of saliva a review. Critical Reviews in Oral Biology & Medicine, 13(2), pp.197-212
- Kebarle, P. (2000). A Brief overview of the present status of the mechanisms involved in electrospray mass spectrometry. Journal of Mass Spectrometry, 35, pp.804–81.
- Kelly, M.A., Vestling, M.M., Fenselau, C.C. and Smith, P.B. (1992). Electrospray analysis of proteins: a comparison of positive ion and negative-ion mass spectra at high and low pH. Organic Mass Spectrometry, 27, pp.1143–1147.
- Khanfer, R. (2011). Psychological stress and neutrophil function. Doctoral dissertation, University of Birmingham.
- Khanfer, R., Phillips, A.C., Carroll, D. and Lord, J. (2010). Effects of acute psychological stress on human neutrophil function. Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 24, p.S7.

- Khanfer, R., Carroll, D., Lord, J.M. and Phillips, A.C., (2012). Reduced neutrophil superoxide production among healthy older adults in response to acute psychological stress. International Journal of Psychophysiology, 86(3), pp.238-244.
- Kirschbaum, C. and Hellhammer, D. H. (2000). Salivary cortisol. In: G. Fink (ed.), Encyclopedia of stress. San Diego, Academic Press. Vol.3, pp.379-383.
- Klotman, M.E. and Chang, T.L., (2006). Defensins in innate antiviral immunity. Nature Reviews Immunology, 6(6), pp.447-456.
- Koch, A.J., Wherry, A.D., Petersen, M.C., Johnson, J.C., Stuart, M.K. and Sexton, W.L. (2007). Salivary immunoglobulin A response to a collegiate rugby game. Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research, 21(1), pp.86-90.
- Kodesh, E., Shargal, E., Kislev-Cohen, R., Funk, S., Dorfman, L., Samuelly, G., Hoffman, J.R. and Sharvit, N. (2015). Examination of the Effectiveness of Predictors for Musculoskeletal Injuries in Female Soldiers. Journal of Sports Science & Medicine, 14(3), p.515.
- Kraemer, W.J. and Ratamess, N.A. (2005). Hormonal responses and adaptations to resistance exercise and training. Sports Medicine, 35(4), pp.339-361.
- Kraemer, W.J., Dziados, J.E., Marchitelli, L.J., Gordon, S.E., Harman, E.A., Mello, R., Fleck, S.J., Frykman, P.N. and Triplett, N.T. (1993). Effects of different heavy-resistance exercise protocols on plasma beta-endorphin concentrations. Journal of Applied Physiology, 74, pp.450-9.
- Kreider, R.B., Ferreira, M., Wilson, M. and Almada, A.L. (1999). Effects of calcium betahydroxy-beta-methylbutyrate (HMB) supplementation during resistance-training on markers of catabolism, body composition and strength. International Journal of Sports Medicine, 20(8), pp.503-509.
- Kreider, R.B., Wilborn, C.D., Taylor, L., Campbell, B., Almada, A.L., Collins, R., Cooke, M., Earnest, C.P., Greenwood, M., Kalman, D.S. and Kerksick, C.M. (2010). ISSN exercise & sport nutrition review: research & recommendations. Journal of the International Society of Sports Nutrition, 7(7), pp.2-43.
- Krieger, D.T., Allen, W., Rizzo, F. and Krieger, H.P. (1971). Characterization of the normal temporal pattern of plasma corticosteroid levels. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 32, pp.266-284.
- Kucukkolbasi, H., Küçükkolbaşı, S., Dursun, R., Ayyıldız, F. and Kara, H. (2011). Determination of defensin HNP-1 in human saliva of patients with oral mucosal diseases. Journal of Immunoassay and Immunochemistry, 32(4), pp.284-295.
- Kunz, H., Bishop, N.C., Spielmann, G., Pistillo, M., Reed, J., Ograjsek, T., Park, Y., Mehta, S.K., Pierson, D.L. and Simpson, R.J. (2015). Fitness level impacts salivary antimicrobial protein responses to a single bout of cycling exercise. European Journal of Applied Physiology, 115(5), pp.1015-1027.
- Kupiec, T., (2004). Quality-control analytical methods: High-performance liquid chromatography. International journal of pharmaceutical compounding, 8, pp.223-227.

- Kuriyama, T., Machida, K. and Suzuki, K. (1996). Importance of correlations between phagocytic activity and superoxide production of neutrophils under conditions of voluntary exercise and stress. Journal of Clinical Laboratory Analysis, 10(6), pp.458-464.
- Lai, Y. and Gallo, R.L. (2009). AMPed up immunity: how antimicrobial peptides have multiple roles in immune defense. Trends in Immunology, 30(3), pp.131-141.
- Laing, S.J., Gwynne, D., Blackwell, J., Williams, M., Walters, R. and Walsh, N.P. (2005). Salivary IgA response to prolonged exercise in a hot environment in trained cyclists. European Journal of Applied Physiology, 93(5-6), pp.665-671.
- Lamkin, M.S. and Oppenheim, F.G. (1993). Structural features of salivary function. Critical Reviews in Oral Biology & Medicine, 4(3), pp.251-259.
- Larian, B. (2014) Anatomy of the Parotid & Submandibular glands & ducts. Available at: http://www.parotidmd.com/parotid-salivary-gland-info/ (Accessed: 17 May 2015).
- Lazarus, R.S. (1966). Psychological stress and the coping process. New York, McGraw-Hill.
- Lazarus, R.S. and Cohen, J.B. (1977). Environmental stress. In: I. Attman and J. F. Wohlwill (eds.), Human behaviour and the environment: Current theory and research. New York, Plenum.
- Le Panse, B., Vibarel-Rebot, N., Parage, G., Albrings, D., Amiot, V., De Ceaurriz, J. and Collomp, K. (2010). Cortisol, DHEA, and testosterone concentrations in saliva in response to an international powerlifting competition. Stress, 13(6), pp.528-532.
- Lee, J.M., Garon, E. and Wong, D.T., (2009). Salivary diagnostics. Orthodontics & craniofacial research, 12(3), pp.206-211.
- Lee, T.H. and Aguilar, M.I., (2005). HPLC of Peptides and Proteins. Reviews in Cell Biology and Molecular Medicine.
- Leers, M.P., Schepers, R. and Baumgarten, R. (2006). Effects of a long-distance run on cardiac markers in healthy athletes. Clinical Chemical Laboratory Medicine, 44(8), pp.999-1003.
- Leeuw, E. and Lu, W. (2007). Human defensins: turning defense into offense. Infectious Disorders-Drug Targets, 7(1), pp.67-70.
- Lehrer, R.I. and Ganz, T. (2002). Defensins of vertebrate animals. Current Opinion in Immunology, 14(1), pp.96-102.
- Lehrer, R.I., Barton, A., Daher, K.A., Harwig, S.S., Ganz, T. and Selsted, M.E. (1989). Interaction of human defensins with Escherichia coli. Mechanism of bactericidal activity. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 84(2), p.553
- Lehrer, R.I., Szklarek, D., Ganz, T. and Selsted, M.E. (1985). Correlation of binding of rabbit granulocyte peptides to Candida albicans with candidacidal activity. Infection and Immunity, 49(1), pp.207-211
- Leite, R.D., Prestes, J., Rosa, C., De Salles, B.F., Maior, A., Miranda, H. and Simao, R. (2011). Acute effect of resistance training volume on hormonal responses in trained men. Journal of Sports Medicine and Physical Fitness, 51(2), p.322.

- Li, J., Zhao, J., Yu, X., Lange, J., Kuerer, H., Krishnamurthy, S., Schilling, E., Khan, S.A., Sukumar, S. and Chan, D.W. (2005). Identification of biomarkers for breast cancer in nipple aspiration and ductal lavage fluid. Clinical Cancer Research, 11(23), pp.8312-8320.
- Li, X., Duan, D., Yang, J., Wang, P., Han, B., Zhao, L., Jepsen, S., Dommisch, H., Winter, J. and Xu, Y. (2016). The expression of human β-defensins (hBD-1, hBD-2, hBD-3, hBD-4) in gingival epithelia. Archives of Oral Biology, 66, pp.15-21.
- Li, Z., Adams, R. M., Chourey, K., Hurst, G. B., Hettich, R. L., & Pan, C. (2012). Systematic comparison of label-free, metabolic labeling, and isobaric chemical labeling for quantitative proteomics on LTQ orbitrap velos. Journal of Proteome Research, 11(3), 1582–1590. http://doi.org/10.1021/pr200748h
- Liang, H.R., Foltz, R.L., Meng, M. and Bennett, P., (2003). Ionization enhancement in atmospheric pressure chemical ionization and suppression in electrospray ionization between target drugs and stable- isotope- labeled internal standards in quantitative liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry, 17(24), pp.2815-2821.
- Lill, J. (2003). Proteomic tools for quantitation by mass spectrometry. Mass Spectrometry Reviews, 22(3), pp.182-194.
- Little, J.L., Wempe, M.F. and Buchanan, C.M. (2006). Liquid chromatography–mass spectrometry/mass spectrometry method development for drug metabolism studies: examining lipid matrix ionization effects in plasma. Journal of Chromatography B, 833(2), pp.219-230.
- Liu, H., Sadygov, R.G. and Yates, J.R. (2004). A model for random sampling and estimation of relative protein abundance in shotgun proteomics. Analytical Chemistry, 76(14), pp.4193-4201.
- Liu, Y., Liu, J., Yin, P., Gao, M., Deng, C. and Zhang, X., (2011). High throughput identification of components from traditional Chinese medicine herbs by utilizing graphene or graphene oxide as MALDI- TOF- MS matrix.Journal of Mass Spectrometry, 46(8), pp.804-815.
- Lo, L.H., Wu, P.C., Wu, Y.C. and Shiea, J., (2010). Characterization of human neutrophil peptides (α-Defensins) in the tears of dry eye patients. Analytical Methods, 2(12), pp.1934-1940.
- Loo, J.A., Yan, W., Ramachandran, P. and Wong, D.T. (2010). Comparative human salivary and plasma proteomes. Journal of Dental Research, 89(10), pp.1016-1023
- Lundgren, D.H., Hwang, S.I., Wu, L. and Han, D.K. (2010). Role of spectral counting in quantitative proteomics. Expert Review of Proteomics, 7(1), pp.39-53.
- Lundy, F.T., Orr, D.F., Shaw, C., Lamey, P.J. and Linden, G.J., (2005). Detection of individual human neutrophil α-defensins (human neutrophil peptides 1, 2 and 3) in unfractionated gingival crevicular fluid—A MALDI-MS approach. Molecular immunology, 42(5), pp.575-579.

- Lupi, A., Messana, I., Denotti, G., Schininà, M.E., Gambarini, G., Cabras, T., Piras, V., Cordaro, M., Giardian, B. and Castagnola, M. (2003). Identification of the human salivary cystatin complex by the coupling of high-performance liquid chromatography and ion-trap mass spectrometry. Proteomics, 3, pp.461-467.
- MacKinnon, L.T. (2000). Chronic exercise training effects on immune function. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 32(7 Suppl), pp.S369-76.
- Macpherson, A.J., Geuking, M.B. and McCoy, K.D. (2011). Immunoglobulin A: a bridge between innate and adaptive immunity. Current Opinion in Gastroenterology, 27(6), pp.529-533.
- Magni, F., Pereira, S., Leoni, M., Grisenti, G. and Galli Kienle, M. (2001). Quantitation of cyclosporin A in whole blood by liquid chromatography/stable isotope dilution electrospray ionisation mass spectrometry. Journal of Mass Spectrometry, 36, pp.670-676.
- Mallet, C.R., Lu, Z. and Mazzeo, J.R. (2004). A study of ion suppression effects in electrospray ionization from mobile phase additives and solid- phase extracts. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry, 18(1), pp.49-58.
- Mandel, I.D. (1987). The functions of saliva. Journal of Dental Research, 66(2 suppl), pp.623-627.
- Mandel, I.D. (1993). A contemporary view of salivary research. Critical Reviews in Oral Biology & Medicine, 4(3), pp.599-604.
- Mandel, I.D. (1993). Salivary diagnosis: promises, promises. Annals of the New York Academy of Science, 694, pp.1-10.
- Marinelli, M., Sergio Roi, G., Giacometti, M., Bonini, P. and Banfi, G. (1994). Cortisol, testosterone, and free testosterone in athletes performing a marathon at 4,000 m altitude. Hormone Research in Paediatrics, 41, pp.225-229.
- Matuszewski, B.K., Constanzer, M.L. and Chavez-Eng, C.M. (2003). Strategies for the assessment of matrix effect in quantitative bioanalytical methods based on HPLC-MS/MS. Analytical Chemistry, 75(13), pp.3019-3030.
- Matuszewski, B.K., Constanzer, M.L. and Chavez-Eng, C.M., (1998). Matrix effect in quantitative LC/MS/MS analyses of biological fluids: a method for determination of finasteride in human plasma at picogram per milliliter concentrations. Analytical Chemistry, 70(5), pp.882-889.
- Mayadas, T.N., Tsokos, G.C. and Tsuboi, N., (2009). Mechanisms of immune complexmediated neutrophil recruitment and tissue injury. Circulation,120(20), pp.2012-2024.
- McAnulty, S.R., McAnulty, L.S., Nieman, D.C., Morrow, J.D., Utter, A.C., Henson, D.A., Dumke, C.L. and Vinci, D.M. (2003). Influence of carbohydrate ingestion on oxidative stress and plasma antioxidant potential following a 3 h run. Free Radical Research, 37(8), pp.835-840.

- McAnulty, S.R., McAnulty, L.S., Nieman, D.C., Morrow, J.D., Utter, A.C. and Dumke, C.L. (2005). Effect of resistance exercise and carbohydrate ingestion on oxidative stress. Free Radical Research, 39(11), pp.1219-1224.
- McCalley, D.V. (2003). Rationalization of retention and overloading behavior of basic compounds in reversed-phase HPLC using low ionic strength buffers suitable for mass spectrometric detection. Analytical Chemistry, 75(14), pp.3404-3410.
- McCalley, D.V. (2004). Effect of buffer on peak shape of peptides in reversed-phase high performance liquid chromatography. Journal of Chromatography A, 1038(1), pp.77-84.
- McCalley, D.V. (2011). Some practical comparisons of the efficiency and overloading behaviour of sub-2µm porous and sub-3µm shell particles in reversed-phase liquid chromatography. Journal of Chromatography A, 1218(20), pp.2887-2897.
- McCaulley, G. O., McBride, J. M., Cormie, P., Hudson, M. B., Nuzzo, J. L., Quindry, J. C. and Travis Triplett, N. (2009). Acute hormonal and neuromuscular responses to hypertrophy, strength and power type resistance exercise. European Journal of Applied Physiology, 105, pp.695-704.
- McLellan, T.M., Pasiakos, S.M. and Lieberman, H.R. (2014). Effects of protein in combination with carbohydrate supplements on acute or repeat endurance exercise performance: a systematic review. Sports Medicine, 44(4), pp.535-550.
- McMillan, J.L., Stone, M. H., Sartin, J., Keith, R., Marples, D., Brown, C. and Lewis, R.D. (1993). 20-hour physiological responses to a single weight-training session. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research, 7, pp.9-21.
- Megger, D.A., Bracht, T., Meyer, H.E. and Sitek, B. (2013). Label-free quantification in clinical proteomics. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Proteins and Proteomics, 1834(8), pp.1581-1590.
- Mehlotra, R.K., Zimmerman, P.A. and Weinberg, A. (2016). Defensin gene variation and HIV/AIDS: a comprehensive perspective needed. Journal of Leukocyte Biology, 99(5), pp.687-692.
- Melle, C., Ernst, G., Schimmel, B., Bleul, A., Thieme, H., Kaufmann, R., Mothes, H., Settmacher, U., Claussen, U., Halbhuber, K.J. and von Eggeling, F. (2005). Discovery and identification of α-defensins as low abundant, tumor-derived serum markers in colorectal cancer. Gastroenterology, 129(1), pp.66-73.
- Merl, J., Ueffing, M., Hauck, S.M. and von Toerne, C. (2012). Direct comparison of MSbased label free and SILAC quantitative proteome profiling strategies in primary retinal Müller cells. Proteomics, 12(12), pp.1902-1911.
- Merlot, E., Mounier, A.M. and Prunier, A. (2011). Endocrine response of gilts to various common stressors: a comparison of indicators and methods of analysis. Physiology & Behavior, 102(3), pp.259-265.

- Milewski, Ł., Dziunycz, P., Barcz, E., Radomski, D., Roszkowski, P.I., Korczak-Kowalska, G., Kamiński, P. and Malejczyk, J. (2011). Increased levels of human neutrophil peptides 1, 2, and 3 in peritoneal fluid of patients with endometriosis: association with neutrophils, T cells and IL-8. Journal of Reproductive Immunology, 91(1), pp.64-70.
- Mirza, U.A. and Chait, B.T. (1994). Effects of anions on the positive ion electrospray ionization mass spectra of peptides and proteins. Analytical Chemistry, 66(18), pp.2898-2904.
- Mitsonis, C.I., Potagas, C., Zervas, I. and Sfagos, K. (2009). The effects of stressful life events on the course of multiple sclerosis: a review. International Journal of Neuroscience, 119(3), pp.315-335.
- Mizukawa, N., Sugiyama, K., Ueno, T., Mishima, K., Takagi, S. and Sugahara, T., 1999. Levels of human defensin-1, an antimicrobial peptide, in saliva of patients with oral inflammation. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology, and Endodontology, 87(5), pp.539-543.
- Moreira, A., Arsati, F., Cury, P.R., Franciscon, C., de Oliveira, P.R. and de Araújo, V.C. (2009). Salivary immunoglobulin A response to a match in top-level Brazilian soccer players. Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research, 23(7), pp.1968-1973.
- Moreira, A., Arsati, F., de Oliveira Lima Arsati, Y. B., da Silva, D. A. and de Araujo, V. C. (2009). Salivary cortisol in top-level professional soccer players. European Journal of Applied Physiology, 106, pp.25-30.
- Moreira, A., Arsati, F., Lima-Arsati, Y.B.D.O., Franchini, E. and De Araújo, V.C. (2010). Effect of a kickboxing match on salivary cortisol and immunoglobulin A 1, 2. Perceptual and Motor Skills, 111(1), pp.158-166.
- Moreno-Smith, M., Lutgendorf, S.K. and Sood, A.K. (2010). Impact of stress on cancer metastasis. Future Oncology, 6(12), pp.1863-1881.
- Mori, M., Takeuchi, H., Sato, M. and Sumitomo, S. (2006). Antimicrobial peptides in saliva and salivary glands: their roles in the oral defense system. Oral Medicine & Pathology, 11(1), pp.1-17.
- Morishita, S., Yamauchi, S., Fujisawa, C. and Domen, K., (2014). Rating of perceived exertion for quantification of the intensity of resistance exercise. International Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation, 2013.
- Moss, S.J. (1995). Clinical implications of recent advances in salivary research. Journal of Esthetic and Restorative Dentistry, 7(5), pp.197-203
- Mukae, H., Iiboshi, H., Nakazato, M., Hiratsuka, T., Tokojima, M., Abe, K., Ashitani, J., Kadota, J., Matsukura, S. and Kohno, S. (2002). Raised plasma concentrations of α-defensins in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Thorax, 57(7), pp.623-628
- Mukae, H., Ishimoto, H., Yanagi, S., Ishii, H., Nakayama, S., Ashitani, J.I., Nakazato, M. and Kohno, S., (2007). Elevated BALF concentrations of α-and β-defensins in patients with pulmonary alveolar proteinosis. Respiratory medicine, 101(4), pp.715-721.

- Muller, C.A., Markovic-Lipkovski, J., Klatt, T., Gamper, J., Schwarz, G., Beck, H., Deeg, M., Kalbacher, H., Widmann, S., Wessels, J.T. and Becker, V. (2002). Human α-defensins HNPs-1,-2, and-3 in renal cell carcinoma: influences on tumor cell proliferation. American Journal of Pathology, 160(4), pp.1311-1324.
- Mumcu, G., Cimilli, H., Karacayli, U., Inanc, N., Ture-Ozdemir, F., Eksioglu-Demiralp, E., Ergun, T. and Direskeneli, H. (2012). Salivary levels of antimicrobial peptides Hnp 1-3, Ll-37 and S100 in Behcet's disease. Archives of Oral Biology, 57(6), pp.642-646.
- Nakashima, H., Yamamoto, N., Masuda, M. and Fujii, N. (1993). Defensins inhibit HIV replication in vitro. Aids, 7(8), p.1129.
- Navazesh M., (1993). Methods for Collecting Saliva 1749-6632.
- Nehlsen-Cannarella, S.L., Fagoaga, O.R., Nieman, D.C., Henson, D.A., Butterworth, D.E., Schmitt, R.L., Bailey, E.M., Warren, B.J., Utter, A. and Davis, J.M. (1997). Carbohydrate and the cytokine response to 2.5 h of running. Journal of Applied Physiology, 82(5), pp.1662-1667.
- Nehlsen-Cannarella, S.L., Nieman, D.C., Jessen, J., Chang, L., Gusewitch, G., Blix, G.G. and Ashley, E. (1991). The effects of acute moderate exercise on lymphocyte function and serum immunoglobulin levels. International Journal of Sports Medicine, 12(4), pp.391-398.
- Neilson, K.A., Ali, N.A., Muralidharan, S., Mirzaei, M., Mariani, M., Assadourian, G., Lee, A., Van Sluyter, S.C. and Haynes, P.A. (2011). Less label, more free: approaches in labelfree quantitative mass spectrometry. Proteomics, 11(4), pp.535-553.
- Neville, V., Gleeson, M. and Folland, J.P. (2008). Salivary IgA as a risk factor for upper respiratory infections in elite professional athletes.
- Nguyen, T.X., Cole, A.M. and Lehrer, R.I. (2003). Evolution of primate θ-defensins: a serpentine path to a sweet tooth. Peptides, 24(11), pp.1647-1654
- Nielson, B.V. (2008). Multifunctional polymer thin films for oral care. Doctoral dissertation, University of Portsmouth.
- Nieman, D.C. (1997). Influence of carbohydrate on the immune response to intensive, prolonged exercise. Exercise Immunology Review, 4, pp.64-76.
- Nieman, D.C., Henson, D.A., Austin, M.D. and Brown, V.A. (2005). Immune response to a 30-minute walk. Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise, 37(1), pp.57-62.
- Nieman, D.C., Henson, D.A., Smith, L.L., Utter, A.C., Vinci, D.M., Davis, J.M., Kaminsky, D.E. and Shute, M. (2001). Cytokine changes after a marathon race. Journal of Applied Physiology, 91(1), pp.109-114.
- Nieman, D.C., Nehlsen-Cannarella, S.L., Fagoaga, O.R., Henson, D.A., Utter, Alan., Davis, J.M., Williams, Fraklin and Butterworth, D.E. (1998). Influence of mode and carbohydrate on the cytokine response to heavy exertion. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 30(5), pp.671-678.

- Niessen, W.M.A. and Tinke, A.P. (1995). Liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry general principles and instrumentation. Journal of Chromatography A, 703, pp.37–57.
- Niyonsaba, F., Madera, L., Afacan, N., Okumura, K., Ogawa, H. and Hancock, R.E., (2013). The innate defense regulator peptides IDR-HH2, IDR-1002, and IDR-1018 modulate human neutrophil functions. Journal of Leukocyte Biology, 94(1), pp.159-170.
- Ohannesian, L. and Streeter, A. eds., (2001). Handbook of pharmaceutical analysis. CRC Press.
- Ong, S.E. and Mann, M. (2005). Mass spectrometry–based proteomics turns quantitative. Nature Chemical Biology, 1(5), pp.252-262.
- Oppenheim, F.G., Offner, G.D. and Troxler, R.F., (2000). Molecular mapping of statherinand histatin-binding domains in human salivary mucin MG1 (MUC5B) by the yeast twohybrid system. Journal of dental research, 79(2), pp.732-739.
- Owens, D.R., Bothner, B., Phung, Q., Harris, K. and Siuzdak, G. (1998). Aspects of oligonucleotide and peptide sequencing with MALDI and electrospray mass spectrometry. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry, 6, pp.1547–1554.
- Panton, L.B., Rathmacher, J.A., Baier, S. and Nissen, S. (2000). Nutritional supplementation of the leucine metabolite β-hydroxy-β-methylbutyrate (HMB) during resistance training. Nutrition, 16(9), pp.734-739.
- Panyutich, A.V., Panyutich, E.A., Krapivin, V.A., Baturevich, E.A. and Ganz, T. (1993). Plasma defensin concentrations are elevated in patients with septicemia or bacterial meningitis. Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine, 122(2), pp.202-207.
- Paone, G., Conti, V., Leone, A., Schmid, G., Puglisi, G., Giannunzio, G. and Terzano, C. (2011). Human neutrophil peptides sputum levels in symptomatic smokers and COPD patients. European Review for Medical and Pharmacological Sciences, 15(5), pp.556-562.
- Pasa-Tolic, L., Masselon, C., Barry, R.C., Shen, Y. and Smith, R.D., (2004). Proteomic analyses using an accurate mass and time tag strategy.Biotechniques, 37(4), pp.621-639.
- Patel, V.J., Thalassinos, K., Slade, S.E., Connolly, J.B., Crombie, A., Murrell, J.C. and Scrivens, J.H. (2009). A comparison of labeling and label-free mass spectrometry-based proteomics approaches. Journal of Proteome Research, 8(7), pp.3752-3759.
- Pazgier, M., Hoover, D.M., Yang, D., Lu, W. and Lubkowski, J. (2006). Human β-defensins. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences, 63(11), pp.1294-1313.
- Peake, J. and Suzuki, K. (2004). Neutrophil activation, antioxidant supplements and exerciseinduced oxidative stress. Exercise Immunology Review, 10(1), pp.129-141
- Pearson, J.D., Lin, N.T. and Regnier, F.E. (1982). The importance of silica type for reversephase protein separations. Analytical Biochemistry, 124(1), pp.217-230.
- Pechkovsky, D.V., Potapnev, M.P. and Zalutskaya, O.M. (1996). Different patterns of cytokine regulation of phagocytosis and bacterial killing by human neutrophils. International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents, 7(1), pp.33-40.

- Pedersen, A.F., Zachariae, R. and Bovbjerg, D.H. (2009). Psychological stress and antibody response to influenza vaccination: a meta-analysis. Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 23(4), pp.427-433.
- Pedersen, B.K. and Hoffman-Goetz, L. (2000). Exercise and the immune system: regulation, integration, and adaptation. Physiological Reviews, 80(3), pp.1055-1081
- Pedersen, B.K., Bruunsgaard, H., Klokker, M., Kappel, M., MacLean, D.A., Nielsen, H.B., Rohde, T., Ullum, H. and Zacho, M. (1997). Exercise-induced immunomodulationpossible roles of neuroendocrine and metabolic factors. International Journal of Sports Medicine, 18, pp.S2-7.
- Pellett Madan, R., Masson, L., Tugetman, J., Werner, L., Grobler, A., Mlisana, K., Lo, Y., Che, D., Arnold, K.B., Karim, S.S.A. and Passmore, J.A.S. (2015). Innate Antibacterial Activity in Female Genital Tract Secretions Is Associated with Increased Risk of HIV Acquisition. AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses, 31(11), pp.1153-1159.
- Peluso, G., Santis, M.D.E., Inzitari, R., Fanali, C., Cabras, T., Messana, I.M., Castagnola. M. and Ferraccioli, G.F. (2007). Proteomic study of salivary peptides and proteins in patients with Sjögren's syndrome before and after pilocarpine treatment. Arthritis & Rheumatism, 56, p.7.
- Peñailillo, L., Maya, L., Niño, G., Torres, H. and Zbinden-Foncea, H. (2015). Salivary hormones and IgA in relation to physical performance in football. Journal of Sports Sciences, 33(20), pp.2080-2087.
- Petersson, P., Frank, A., Heaton, J. and Euerby, M.R., (2008). Maximizing peak capacity and separation speed in liquid chromatography. Journal of separation science, 31(13), pp.2346-2357.
- Petraglia, F., Barletta, C., Facchinetti, F., Spinazzola, F., Monzani, A., Scavo, D. and Genazzani, A.R. (1988). Response of circulating adrenocorticotropin, beta-endorphin, betalipotropin and cortisol to athletic competition. Acta Endocrinologica, 118, pp.332-336.
- Petrides, J.S., Gold, P.W., Mueller, G.P., Singh, A., Stratakis, C., Chrousos, G.P. and Deuster, P.A. (1997). Marked differences in functioning of the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis between groups of men. Journal of Applied Physiology, 82(6), pp.1979-1988.
- Pfaffe, T., Cooper-White, J., Beyerlein, P., Kostner, K. and Punyadeera, C. (2011). Diagnostic potential of saliva: current state and future applications. Clinical Chemistry, 57(5), pp.675-687.
- Phillips, G.C. (2007). Glutamine: the nonessential amino acid for performance enhancement. Current Sports Medicine Reports, 6(4), pp.265-268.
- Phenomenex. (2013). Chromatography product guide 13/14.
- Pisano, E., Cabras, T., Montaldo, C., Piras, V., Inzitari, R., Olmi, C., Castagnola, M. and Messana, I. (2005). Peptides of human gingival crevicular fluid determined by HPLC-ESI- MS. European Journal of Oral Sciences, 113(6), pp.462-468.

- Plebani, M. and Carraro, P., (1997). Mistakes in a stat laboratory: types and frequency. Clinical Chemistry, 43(8), pp.1348-1351.
- Polfer, N. C., Oomens, J., Suhai, S. and Paizs, B. (2007). Infrared spectroscopy and theoretical studies on gas-phase protonated Leu-enkephalin and its fragments: Direct experimental evidence for the mobile proton. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 129(18), 5887– 5897. http://doi.org/10.1021/ja068014d.
- Porter, T.E., (2005). Regulation of pituitary somatotroph differentiation by hormones of peripheral endocrine glands. Domestic animal endocrinology, 29(1), pp.52-62.
- Preti, R., 2016. Core-Shell Columns in High-Performance Liquid Chromatography: Food Analysis Applications. International Journal of Analytical Chemistry, 2016.
- Protzner, A., Szmodis, M., Udvardy, A., Bosnyák, E., Trájer, E., Komka, Z., Györe, I. and Tóth, M. (2015). Hormonal Neuroendocrine and Vasoconstrictor Peptide Responses of Ball Game and Cyclic Sport Elite Athletes by Treadmill Test. PloS One, 10(12), p.e0144691.
- Purves, R.W., Gabryelski, W. and Li, L. (1998). Investigation of the quantitative capabilities of an electrospray ionization ion trap/linear time of flight mass spectrometer. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry, 12(11), pp.695-700.
- Pyne, M.D.B. (1994). Regulation of neutrophil function during exercise. Sports Medicine, 17(4), pp.245-258.
- Quinones-Mateu, M.E., Lederman, M.M., Feng, Z., Chakraborty, B., Weber, J., Rangel, H.R., Marotta, M.L., Mirza, M., Jiang, B., Kiser, P. and Medvik, K. (2003). Human epithelial βdefensins 2 and 3 inhibit HIV-1 replication. Aids, 17(16), pp.F39-F48.
- Ramsey, R.S., Goeringer, D.E. and McLuckey, S.A. (1993). Active chemical background and noise reduction in capillary electrophoresis/ion-trap mass spectrometry. Analytical Chemistry, 65(23), pp.3521-3524.
- Reddy, G. and Dalmasso, E.A., (2003). SELDI proteinchip® array technology: protein-based predictive medicine and drug discovery applications. BioMed Research International,(4), pp.237-241.
- Rivas-Santiago, B., Sada, E., Tsutsumi, V., Aguilar-Leon, D., Contreras, J.L. and Hernández-Pando, R. (2006). β-Defensin gene expression during the course of experimental tuberculosis infection. Journal of Infectious Diseases, 194(5), pp.697-701.
- Rivas-Santiago, B., Schwander, S.K., Sarabia, C., Diamond, G., Klein-Patel, M.E., Hernandez-Pando, R., Ellner, J.J. and Sada, E., (2005). Human β-defensin 2 is expressed and associated with Mycobacterium tuberculosis during infection of human alveolar epithelial cells. Infection and Immunity, 73(8), pp.4505-4511.
- Rosa, L., Teixeira, A.A.S., Lira, F.S., Tufik, S., Mello, M.T. and Santos, R.V.T. (2014). Moderate acute exercise (70% VO2 peak) induces TGF- β, α- amylase and IgA in saliva during recovery. Oral Diseases, 20(2), pp.186-190.

- Rosner, W., Auchus, R.J., Azziz, R., Sluss, P.M. and Raff, H. (2007). Utility, limitations, and pitfalls in measuring testosterone: an Endocrine Society position statement. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 92(2), pp.405-413.
- Roy, B.D., Tarnopolsky, M.A., MacDougall, J.D., Fowles, J. and Yarasheski, K.E. (1997). Effect of glucose supplement timing on protein metabolism after resistance training. Journal of Applied Physiology, 82(6), pp.1882-1888.
- Rudolph, D. L. and McAuley, E. (1998). Cortisol and affective responses to exercise. Journal of Sports Sciences, 16, pp.121-128.
- Sakamoto, N., Ishimatsu, Y., Kakugawa, T., Yura, H., Tomonaga, M., Harada, T., Nakashima, S., Hara, S., Hara, A., Ishimoto, H. and Yatera, K. (2015). Elevated plasma α-defensins in patients with acute exacerbation of fibrotic interstitial pneumonia. Respiratory Medicine, 109(2), pp.265-271.
- Salway, J.G. (2006). Medical biochemistry at a glance. Oxford, Blackwell
- Sanchez, A.C., Friedlander, G., Fekete, S., Anspach, J., Guillarme, D., Chitty, M. and Farkas, T. (2013). Pushing the performance limits of reversed-phase ultra-high performance liquid chromatography with 1.3 μm core–shell particles. Journal of Chromatography A, 1311, pp.90-97.
- Sari-Sarraf, V., Reilly, T., Doran, D.A. and Atkinson, G. (2007). The effects of single and repeated bouts of soccer-specific exercise on salivary IgA. Archives of Oral Biology, 52(6), pp.526-532.
- Scarano, E., Fiorita, A. Picciotti, P.M., Passali, G.C., Calo, L., Cabras, T., Inzitari, R., Fanali, C., Messana, I., Castagnola, M. and Paludetti, G. (2010) Proteomics of saliva: personal experience. Acta Otorhinolaryngologica Italica, 30(3), p.125.
- Scharhag, J., Meyer, T., Gabriel, H., Auracher, M. and Kindermann, W. (2002). Mobilization and oxidative burst of neutrophils are influenced by carbohydrate supplementation during prolonged cycling in humans. European Journal of Applied Physiology, 87(6), pp.584-587.
- Schenkels, L.C., Veerman, E.C. and Amerongen, A.V.N. (1995). Biochemical composition of human saliva in relation to other mucosal fluids. Critical Reviews in Oral Biology & Medicine, 6(2), pp.161-175.
- Scherl, A., (2015). Clinical protein mass spectrometry. Methods, 81, pp.3-14.
- Schipper, R.G., Silletti, E. and Vingerhoeds, M.H. (2007). Saliva as research material: biochemical, physicochemical and practical aspects. Archives of Oral Biology, 52(12), pp.1114-1135.
- Schipper, R., Loof, A., de Groot, J., Harthoorn, L., van Heerde, W. and Dransfield, E., (2007). Salivary Protein/Peptide Profiling with SELDI-TOF-MS. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, (2007).1098(1), pp.498-503.
- Schmidt, A., Kellermann, J. and Lottspeich, F. (2005). A novel strategy for quantitative proteomics using isotope coded protein labels. Proteomics, 5(1), pp.4-15.

- Schmitz, S.M., Hofheins, J.E. and Lemieux, R. (2010). Nine weeks of supplementation with a multi-nutrient product augments gains in lean mass, strength, and muscular performance in resistance trained men. Journal of the International Society of Sports Nutrition, 7(40), pp.10-1186.
- Schnier, P.D., Price, W.D., Strittmatter, E.F. and Williams, E.R. (1997). Dissociation energetics and mechanisms of leucine enkephalin (M+ H)⁺ and (2M+ X)⁺ ions (X= H, Li, Na, K, and Rb) measured by blackbody infrared radiative dissociation. Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry, 8(8), pp.771-780.
- Schreiber, A. (2010) 'Advantages of Using Triple Quadrupole over Single Quadrupole Mass Spectrometry to Quantify and identify the presence of pesticides in water and soil samples
- Schulze, W.X. and Usadel, B., 2010. Quantitation in mass-spectrometry-based proteomics. Annual review of plant biology, 61, pp.491-516.
- Schutte, B.C., Mitros, J.P., Bartlett, J.A., Walters, J.D., Jia, H.P., Welsh, M.J., Casavant, T.L. and McCray, P.B. (2002). Discovery of five conserved β-defensin gene clusters using a computational search strategy. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 99(4), pp.2129-2133.
- Selsted, M.E. and Ouellette, A.J. (2005). Mammalian defensins in the antimicrobial immune response. Nature Immunology, 6(6), pp.551-557.
- Selsted, M.E., Szklarek, D. and Lehrer, R.I. (1985). Purification and antibacterial activity of antimicrobial peptides of rabbit granulocytes. Infection and Immunity, 45(1), pp.150-15
- Shannon, I.L., 1972. The biochemistry of human saliva in health and disease (pp. 94-121). Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.
- Sharma, S., Verma, I. and Khuller, G.K. (2001). Therapeutic potential of human neutrophil peptide 1 against experimental tuberculosis. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 45(2), pp.639-640.
- Shelmadine, B., Cooke, M., Buford, T., Hudson, G., Redd, L., Leutholtz, B. and Willoughby, D.S. (2009). Effects of 28 days of resistance exercise and consuming a commercially available pre-workout supplement, NO-Shotgun®, on body composition, muscle strength and mass, markers of satellite cell activation, and clinical safety markers in males. Journal of the International Society of Sports Nutrition, 6(1), p.16.
- Shen, Y., Zhao, R., Berger, S.J., Anderson, G.A., Rodriguez, N. and Smith, R.D. (2002). Highefficiency nanoscale liquid chromatography coupled on-line with mass spectrometry using nanoelectrospray ionisation for proteomics. Analytical Chemistry, 74, pp.4235-4249.
- Sikorski, E.M., Wilson, J.M., Lowery, R.P., Joy, J.M., Laurent, C.M., Wilson, S.M., Hesson, D., Naimo, M.A., Averbuch, B. and Gilchrist, P. (2013). Changes in perceived recovery status scale following high-volume muscle damaging resistance exercise. Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research, 27(8), pp.2079-2085.

- Singh, P.K., Tack, B.F., McCray, P.B. and Welsh, M.J. (2000). Synergistic and additive killing by antimicrobial factors found in human airway surface liquid. American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 279(5), pp.L799-L805.
- Siqueira, W.L. and Dawes, C. (2011). The salivary proteome: challenges and perspectives. Proteomics-Clinical Applications, 5(11-12), pp.575-579.
- Smith, A.E., Fukuda, D.H., Kendall, K.L. and Stout, J.R. (2010). The effects of a pre-workout supplement containing caffeine, creatine, and amino acids during three weeks of highintensity exercise on aerobic and anaerobic performance. Journal of the International Society of Sports Nutrition, 7(10), pp.10-1186.
- Smith, J.N., Flagan, R.C. and Beauchamp, J.L. (2002). Droplet evaporation and discharge dynamics in electrospray ionisation. Journal of Physical Chemistry A, 106, pp.9957-9967.
- Snyder, L.R., Kirkland, J.J. and Dolan, J.W., (2011). Introduction to modern liquid chromatography. John Wiley & Son
- Soares, R.V., Siqueira, C.C., Bruno, L.S., Oppenheim, F.G., Offner, G.D. and Troxler, R.F., (2003). MG2 and lactoferrin form a heterotypic complex in salivary secretions. Journal of dental research, 82(6), pp.471-475.
- Sojo, L.E., Lum, G. and Chee, P., (2003). Internal standard signal suppression by co-eluting analyte in isotope dilution LC-ESI-MS. Analyst, 128(1), pp.51-54.
- Spillane, M., Schwarz, N. and Willoughby, D.S. (2014). Heavy Resistance Training and Peri-Exercise Ingestion of a Multi-Ingredient Ergogenic Nutritional Supplement in Males: Effects on Body Composition, Muscle Performance and Markers of Muscle Protein Synthesis. Journal of Sports Science & Medicine, 13(4), p.894.
- Spillane, M., Schwarz, N., Leddy, S., Correa, T., Minter, M., Longoria, V. and Willoughby, D.S. (2011). Effects of 28 days of resistance exercise while consuming commercially available pre-and post-workout supplements, NO-Shotgun® and NO-Synthesize® on body composition, muscle strength and mass, markers of protein synthesis, and clinical safety markers in males. Nutrition & Metabolism, 8(1), p.1.
- Sterner, J.L., Johnston, M.V., Nicol, G.R. and Ridge, D.P. (2000). Signal suppression in electrospray ionization Fourier transform mass spectrometry of multi- component samples. Journal of Mass Spectrometry, 35(3), pp.385-391.
- Stojanovich, L. and Marisavljevich, D. (2008). Stress as a trigger of autoimmune disease. Autoimmunity Reviews, 7(3), pp.209-213.
- Strege, M.A. (1999). High-performance liquid chromatographic electrospray ionisation mass spectrometric analyses for the integration of natural products with modern high-throughput screening. Journal of Chromatography B, 725, pp.67–78.
- Strickland, I., Kisich, K., Hauk, P.J., Vottero, A., Chrousos, G.P., Klemm, D.J. and Leung, D.Y. (2001). High constitutive glucocorticoid receptor β in human neutrophils enables them to reduce their spontaneous rate of cell death in response to corticosteroids. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 193(5), pp.585-594.
- Stroth, S., Hille, K., Spitzer, M. and Reinhardt, R. (2009). Aerobic endurance exercise benefits memory and affect in young adults. Neuropsychological Rehabilitation, 19(2), pp.223-243.
- Stuempfle, K.J., Nindl, B.C. and Kamimori, G.H. (2010). Stress hormone responses to an ultraendurance race in the cold. Wilderness and Environmental Medicine, 21, pp.22-27.
- Suarez-Carmona, M., Hubert, P., Delvenne, P. and Herfs, M. (2015). Defensins: "Simple" antimicrobial peptides or broad-spectrum molecules? Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews, 26(3), pp.361-370.
- Swartz, M.E., (2005). UPLC: an introduction and review. Journal of Liquid Chromatography & Related Technologies, 28(7-8), pp.1253-1263.
- Sztaray J., Memboeuf, A., Drahos, L. and Vékey, K. (2011). Leucine enkephalin a mass spectrometry standard. Mass Spectrometry Reviews, 30(2), pp.298-320.
- Takeshima, N., Rogers, M.E., Islam, M.M., Yamauchi, T., Watanabe, E. and Okada, A. (2004). Effect of concurrent aerobic and resistance circuit exercise training on fitness in older adults. European Journal of Applied Physiology, 93(1-2), pp.173-182.
- Talebi, K., Hejazi, S.M., Mottaghi, M.R., Basiry, M.M. and Irani, H. (2013). Effect of intense exercise on the concentration of immunoglobulin A and salivary cortisol in swimmers. Quarterly of the Horizon of Medical Sciences, 18(4), pp.191-196.
- Tang, L. and Kebarle, P. (1993). Dependence of ion intensity in electrospray mass spectrometry on the concentration of the analytes in the electrospray solution. Analytical Chemistry, 65, pp.3654-3668.
- Tang, Y.Q., Yuan, J., Osapay, G., Osapay, K., Tran, D., Miller, C.J., Ouellette, A.J. and Selsted, M.E. (1999). A cyclic antimicrobial peptide produced in primate leukocytes by the ligation of two truncated α-defensins. Science, 286(5439), pp.498-502.
- Tanida, T., Okamoto, T., Okamoto, A., Wang, H., Hamada, T., Ueta, E. and Osaki, T. (2003). Decreased excretion of antimicrobial proteins and peptides in saliva of patients with oral candidiasis. Journal of Oral Pathology & Medicine, 32(10), pp.586-594.
- Tanner, A.V. (2012). Detection and measurement of stress hormones with mass spectrometry. Doctoral dissertation, University of Greenwich.
- Tao, R., Jurevic, R.J., Coulton, K.K., Tsutsui, M.T., Roberts, M.C., Kimball, J.R., Wells, N., Berndt, J. and Dale, B.A., 2005. Salivary antimicrobial peptide expression and dental caries experience in children. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 49(9), pp.3883-3888.
- Taylor, P.J. (2005). Matrix effects: the Achilles heel of quantitative high-performance liquid chromatography–electrospray–tandem mass spectrometry. Clinical Biochemistry, 38(4), pp.328-334.
- Terracciano, R., Preianò, M., Palladino, G.P., Carpagnano, G.E., Barbaro, M.P.F., Pelaia, G., Savino, R. and Maselli, R.,(2011). Peptidome profiling of induced sputum by mesoporous silica beads and MALDI-TOF MS for non- invasive biomarker discovery of chronic inflammatory lung diseases.Proteomics, 11(16), pp.3402-3414.

- Territo, M.C., Ganz, T., Selsted, M.E. and Lehrer, R. (1989). Monocyte-chemotactic activity of defensins from human neutrophils. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 84(6), p.2017.
- Thomas, N.E., Leyshon, A., Hughes, M.G., Davies, B., Graham, M. and Baker, J.S. (2009). The effect of anaerobic exercise on salivary cortisol, testosterone and immunoglobulin (A) in boys aged 15-16 years. European Journal of Applied Physiology, 107, pp.455-461.
- Thomas, N.E., Leyshon, A., Hughes, M.G., Jasper, M.A., Davies, B., Graham, M.R., Bulloch, J.M. and Baker, J.S. (2010). Concentrations of salivary testosterone, cortisol, and immunoglobulin A after supra-maximal exercise in female adolescents. Journal of Sports Sciences, 28, pp.1361-1368.
- Thomma, B.P., Cammue, B.P. and Thevissen, K. (2002). Plant defensins. Planta, 216(2), pp.193-202.
- Thompson, A., Schäfer, J., Kuhn, K., Kienle, S., Schwarz, J., Schmidt, G., Neumann, T. and Hamon, C. (2003). Tandem mass tags: a novel quantification strategy for comparative analysis of complex protein mixtures by MS/MS. Analytical Chemistry, 75(8), pp.1895-1904.
- Tian, Y., Tan, A.C., Sun, X., Olson, M.T., Xie, Z., Jinawath, N., Chan, D.W., Shih, I.M., Zhang, Z. and Zhang, H. (2009). Quantitative proteomic analysis of ovarian cancer cells identified mitochondrial proteins associated with paclitaxel resistance. Proteomics-Clinical Applications, 3(11), pp.1288-1295.
- Tipton, K.D., Elliott, T.A., Cree, M.G., Wolf, S.E., Sanford, A.P. and Wolfe, R.R. (2004). Ingestion of casein and whey proteins result in muscle anabolism after resistance exercise. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 36, pp.2073-2081.
- Tipton, K.D., Rasmussen, B.B., Miller, S.L., Wolf, S.E., Owens-Stovall, S.K., Petrini, B.E. and Wolfe, R.R. (2001). Timing of amino acid-carbohydrate ingestion alters anabolic response of muscle to resistance exercise. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology And Metabolism, 281(2), pp.E197-E206.
- Tirone, C., Boccacci, S., Inzitari, R., Tana, M., Aurilia, C., Fanali, C., Cabras, T., Messana, I., Castagnola, M., Romagnoli, C. and Vento, G., (2010). Correlation of Levels of &agr;– Defensins Determined by HPLC-ESI-MS in Bronchoalveolar Lavage Fluid With the Diagnosis of Pneumonia in Premature Neonates. Pediatric research, 68(2), pp.140-144.
- Tremblay, M. S., Copeland, J. L. and Van Helder, W. (2005). Influence of exercise duration on post-exercise steroid hormone responses in trained males. European Journal of Applied Physiology, 94, pp.505-513.
- Turck, C.W., Falick, A.M., Kowalak, J.A., Lane, W.S., Lilley, K.S., Phinney, B.S., Weintraub, S.T., Witkowska, H.E. and Yates, N.A. (2007). The Association of Biomolecular Resource Facilities Proteomics Research Group 2006 Study Relative Protein Quantitation. Molecular & Cellular Proteomics, 6(8), pp.1291-1298.
- US Department of Health and Human Services, (2001). Guidance for industry, bioanalytical method validation.

- Usui, T., Yoshikawa, T., Orita, K., Ueda, S.Y., Katsura, Y., Fujimoto, S. and Yoshimura, M. (2011). Changes in salivary antimicrobial peptides, immunoglobulin A and cortisol after prolonged strenuous exercise. European Journal of Applied Physiology, 111(9), pp.2005-2014.
- Valore, E.V., Park, C.H., Quayle, A.J., Wiles, K.R., McCray Jr, P.B. and Ganz, T., 1998. Human beta-defensin-1: an antimicrobial peptide of urogenital tissues. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 101(8), p.1633.
- Van Deemter, J. J., Zuiderweg, F. J. and Klinkenberg, A. (1956). Longitudinal diffusion and resistance to mass transfer as causes of nonideality in chromatography. Chemical Engineering Science 5: 271-289
- Van den Broek, I., Sparidans, R.W., Schellens, J.H. and Beijnen, J.H. (2010). Validation of a quantitative assay for human neutrophil peptide-1,-2, and-3 in human plasma and serum by liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography B, 878(15), pp.1085-1092.
- Vento, G., Lio, A., Tirone, C., Aurilia, C., Tana, M., Piras, A., Ricci, C., Perelli, S., Romagnoli, C., Posteraro, B. and Iavarone, F., (2013). Association of high levels of [alpha]-defensins and S100A proteins with Candida mannan detection in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of preterm neonates. Pediatric research, 74(1), pp.19-25.
- Viru, A., Hackney, A., Välja, E., Karelson, K., Janson, T. and Viru, M. (2001). Influence of prolonged continuous exercise on hormone responses to subsequent exercise in humans. European Journal of Applied Physiology, 85, pp.578-585.
- Viru, A., Karelson, K. and Smirnova, T. (1992). Stability and variability in hormonal responses to prolonged exercise. International Journal of Sports Medicine, 13, pp.230-235.
- Vitorino, R., Lobo, M.J.C., Ferrer ., Correira, A.J., Dubin, J.R., Tomer, K.B., Domingues, P.M. and Amado, F.M. (2004). Identification of human whole saliva protein components using proteomics. Proteomics, 4(4), pp.1109-1115.
- Volek, J.S., Kraemer, W.J., Bush, J.A., Boetes, M., Incledon, T., Clark, K.L. and Lynch, J.M. (1997). Creatine supplementation enhances muscular performance during high-intensity resistance exercise. Journal of the American Dietetic Association, 97(7), pp.765-770.
- Volek, J.S., Kraemer, W.J., Rubin, M.R., Gomez, A.L., Ratamess, N.A. and Gaynor, P. (2002). L-Carnitine L-tartrate supplementation favorably affects markers of recovery from exercise stress. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism, 282(2), pp.E474-E482.
- Vollebregt, M., Hampton, M.B. and Winterbourn, C.C. (1998). Activation of NF-κB in human neutrophils during phagocytosis of bacteria independently of oxidant generation. FEBS Letters, 432(1), pp.40-44.
- Von Zastrow, M. and Castle, J.D. (1987). Protein sorting among two distinct export pathways occurs from the content of maturing exocrine storage granules. Journal of cell Biology, 105(6), pp.2675-2684.

- Vordenbaumen, S., Fischer-Betz, R., Timm, D., Sander, O., Chehab, G., Richter, J., Bleck, E. and Schneider, M. (2010). Elevated levels of human beta-defensin 2 and human neutrophil peptides in systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus, 19(14), pp.1648-1653.
- Vuorimaa, T., Ahotupa, M., Hakkinen, K. and Vasankari, T. (2008). Different hormonal response to continuous and intermittent exercise in middle-distance and marathon runners. Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sports, 18, pp.565-72.
- Walburn, J., Vedhara, K., Hankins, M., Rixon, L. and Weinman, J. (2009). Psychological stress and wound healing in humans: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 67(3), pp.253-271.
- Walsh, N.P., Gleeson, M., Shephard, R.J., Gleeson, M., Woods, J.A., Bishop, N., Fleshner, M., Green, C., Pedersen, B.K., Hoffman-Goete, L. and Rogers, C.J. (2011). Position statement part one: immune function and exercise.
- Wang, G. (2014). Human antimicrobial peptides and proteins. Pharmaceuticals, 7(5), pp.545-594.
- Wang, G. and Cole, R.B. (1997). Solution, gas-phase, and instrumental parameter influences on charge-state distributions in electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry, pp.137-174.
- Wang, Q., Yu, Q., Lin, Q. and Duan, Y. (2015). Emerging salivary biomarkers by mass spectrometry. Clinica Chimica Acta, 438, pp.214-221.
- Wang, S., Cyronak, M. and Yang, E., (2007). Does a stable isotopically labeled internal standard always correct analyte response?: A matrix effect study on a LC/MS/MS method for the determination of carvedilol enantiomers in human plasma. Journal of pharmaceutical and biomedical analysis, 43(2), pp.701-707.
- Wang, W., Cole, A.M., Hong, T., Waring, A.J. and Lehrer, R.I. (2003). Retrocyclin, an antiretroviral θ-defensin, is a lectin. Journal of Immunology, 170(9), pp.4708-4716.
- Wang, X., Stoll, D.R., Schellinger, A.P. and Carr, P.W., (2006). Peak capacity optimization of peptide separations in reversed-phase gradient elution chromatography: fixed column format. Analytical chemistry, 78(10), pp.3406-3416.
- Wasinger, V.C., Zeng, M. and Yau, Y. (2013). Current status and advances in quantitative proteomic mass spectrometry. International Journal of Proteomics.
- Welsh, R.S., Davis, J.M., Burke, J.R. and Williams, H.G. (2002). Carbohydrates and physical/mental performance during intermittent exercise to fatigue. Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise.
- West, N.P., Pyne, D.B., Renshaw, G. and Cripps, A.W. (2006). Antimicrobial peptides and proteins, exercise and innate mucosal immunity. FEMS Immunology & Medical Microbiology, 48(3), pp.293-304.

- Whembolua, G.-L.S., Granger, D.A., Singer, S., Kivlighan, K.T. and Marguin, J.A. (2006). Bacteria in the oral mucosa and its effects on the measurement of cortisol, dehydroepiandrosterone, and testosterone in saliva. Hormones and Behaviour, 49, pp.478-483.
- Whiteaker JR, Zhang H, Eng J, Fang R, Piening BD, Feng LC, et al. (2007). Head-to-head comparison of serum fractionation techniques. Journal of Proteome Research, 6, pp.828-836
- Wieling, J. (2002). LC-MS-MS experiences with internal standards. Chromatographia, 55, pp.S107-S113.
- Wilde, C.G., Griffith, J.E., Marra, M.N., Snable, J.L. and Scott, R.W. (1989). Purification and characterization of human neutrophil peptide 4, a novel member of the defensin family. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 264(19), pp.11200-11203.
- Willems, M., Sallis, C. and Haskell, J. (2012). Effects of multi-ingredient supplementation on resistance training in young males. Journal of Human Kinetics, 33, pp.91-101.
- Willoughby, D.S., Spillane, M. and Schwarz, N. (2014). Heavy Resistance Training and Supplementation with the Alleged Testosterone Booster NMDA Has No Effect on Body Composition, Muscle Performance, and Serum Hormones Associated with the Hypothalamo-Pituitary-Gonadal Axis in Resistance-Trained Males. Journal of Sports Science & Medicine, 13(1), p.192.
- Willoughby, D.S., Wilborn, C., Taylor, L. and Campbell, W. (2007). Eight weeks of aromatase inhibition using the nutritional supplement Novedex XT: effects in young, eugonadal men. International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism, 17(1), p.92.
- Wilm, M. (2011). Principles of electrospray ionization. Molecular & Cellular Proteomics, 10(7), pp.M111-009407.
- Wilmore, J.H., Parr, R.B., Girandola, R.N., Ward, Paul., Vodak, P.A., Barstow, T.J., Pipes, T.V., Romero, G.T. and Leslie, P. (1977). Physiological alterations consequent to circuit weight training. Medicine and Science in Sports, 10(2), pp.79-84.
- Wilson, G.J., Wilson, J.M. and Manninen, A.H. (2008). Effects of beta-hydroxy-betamethylbutyrate (HMB) on exercise performance and body composition across varying levels of age, sex, and training experience: A review. Nutrition & Metabolism, 5(1), p.1.
- Wilson, S.S., Wiens, M.E. and Smith, J.G. (2013). Antiviral mechanisms of human defensins. Journal of Molecular Biology, 425(24), pp.4965-4980.
- Woof, J.M. and Kerr, M.A. (2006). The function of immunoglobulin A in immunity. Journal of Pathology, 208(2), pp.270-282.
- Wu, Z., Prahl, A., Powell, R., Ericksen, B., Lubkowski, J. and Lu, W. (2003). From pro defensins to defensins: synthesis and characterization of human neutrophil pro α -defensin- 1 and its mature domain. Journal of Peptide Research, 62(2), pp.53-62.

- Xu, X., Mei, H., Wang, S., Zhou, Q., Wang, G., Broske, L., Pena, A. and Korfmacher, W.A. (2005). A study of common discovery dosing formulation components and their potential for causing time- dependent matrix effects in high- performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry assays. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry, 19(18), pp.2643-2650.
- Yalow, R.S. and Berson, S.A. (1959). Assay of plasma insulin in human subjects by immunological methods. Nature, 184, pp.1648-1649.
- Yamaguchi, N., Isomoto, H., Mukae, H., Ishimoto, H., Ohnita, K., Shikuwa, S., Mizuta, Y., Nakazato, M. and Kohno, S. (2009). Concentrations of α-and β-defensins in plasma of patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Inflammation Research, 58(4), pp.192-197.
- Yamashita, M. and Fenn, J.B. (1984). Electrospray ion source. Another variation on the freejet theme. Journal of Physical Chemistry, 88, pp.4451-4459.
- Yang, E.V. and Glaser, R., (2002). Stress-induced immunomodulation and the implications for health. International Immunopharmacology, 2(2), pp.315-324.
- Yao, Y., Berg, E.A., Costello, C.E., Troxler, R.F. and Oppenheim, F.G. (2003). Identification of protein components in human acquired enamel pellicle and whole saliva using novel proteomics approaches. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 278(7), pp.5300-5308
- Zhang, A., Sun, H., Wang, P. and Wang, X. (2013). Salivary proteomics in biomedical research. Clinica Chimica Acta, 415, pp.261-265.
- Zhang, L., Yu, W., He, T., Yu, J., Caffrey, R.E., Dalmasso, E.A., Fu, S., Pham, T., Mei, J., Ho, J.J. and Zhang, W. (2002). Contribution of human α-defensin 1, 2, and 3 to the anti-HIV-1 activity of CD8 antiviral factor. Science, 298(5595), pp.995-1000.
- Zhang, Z. and Marshall, A.G., (1998). A universal algorithm for fast and automated charge state deconvolution of electrospray mass-to-charge ratio spectra. Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry, 9(3), pp.225-233
- Zhao, Y.Y. and Lin, R.C. (2014). UPLC–MS E application in disease biomarker discovery: the discoveries in proteomics to metabolomics. Chemico-Biological Interactions, 215, pp.7-16.
- Zhou, S. and Hamburger, M. (1995). Effects of solvent composition on molecular ion response in electrospray mass spectrometry: Investigation of the ionization processes. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry, 9(15), pp.1516-1521.

Appendices

Appendix A – Informed consent form

| To be completed by the participant | | |
|---|--------|--|
| | | |
| I have read the information sheet about this study | YES/NO | |
| I have had an opportunity to ask questions and discuss this study | | |
| I have received satisfactory answers to all my questions | YES/NO | |
| I have received enough information about this study | | |
| I understand that I am free to withdraw from this study: | YES/NO | |
| • At any time | YES/NO | |
| • Without giving a reason for withdrawing | | |
| • (If I am, or intend to become, a student at the University of | | |
| Greenwich) without affecting my future with the University | YES/NO | |
| • Without affecting any medical or nursing care I may be receiving. | YES/NO | |
| | | |
| I agree to take part in this study | YES/NO | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| Signed (participant) | Date | |
| Name in block letters | | |
| Signature of investigator Nadia Ashrafi | Date | |

| This project is supervised by: Dr Fernando Naclerio | |
|---|--|
| Tel – 020 8331 9800 Email –f.naclerio@gre.ac.uk | |

Appendix B - Health Questionnaire



CONFIDENTIAL

Pre-test Health & Physical Activity Questionnaire

| Date: | Sex: |
|----------|-----------|
| Name: | Address: |
| D.O.B | |
| Tel. No: | |
| Fax No: | |
| E. Mail: | Postcode: |

Please circle when appropriate

| 1. | Do you, or have you ever smoked? | Yes/No |
|----|--|--------|
| | If yes please state the number/day Or when stopped | |
| 2. | Do you drink alcohol regularly? | Yes/No |
| | If yes how many units/week? (1/2 pint = 1 units) | |
| 3. | Have you consulted your general practitioner with the last 3 months? | Yes/No |
| | If yes please give details | |
| 4. | Are you on any medication at present? | Yes/No |

| | If yes please state which and for what | | | |
|----|---|-----------------------|----------|--------|
| | | | | |
| 5. | When was the last time you had a medic | cal check-up? | | |
| 6. | Have you ever suffered from? | | | |
| | Any heart condition | | | Yes/No |
| | If yes please specify | | | |
| | High blood-pressures (>140/90) | Yes/No | Fainting | Yes/No |
| | Heart or chest pains Yes/No | Yes/No | Anaemia | |
| | Family history of heart of vascular disea | ise | | Yes/No |
| | If yes please specify | | | |
| | High blood cholesterol (>5.2mmol/L) if | known | | Yes/No |
| | Any blood condition | | | Yes/No |
| | If yes please specify | | | |
| | HIV, Hepatitis A, B or C, Venereal Dise | ease, Haemophilia, An | y other | |
| | Respiratory problems (asthma, bronchit | is, etc.) | | Yes/No |
| | If yes please specify | | | |
| | Diabetes - NIDDM or IDDM (please cir | rcle) | | Yes/No |
| | Epilepsy | | | Yes/No |
| | Cancer | | | Yes/No |

| | If yes please specify | |
|---------|---|--------|
| 7. | Are you currently injured | Yes/No |
| | If yes please specify | |
| 8. | Have you been ill within the last 3 weeks? | Yes/No |
| | If yes please specify | |
| 9. | Have you ever "over-reached", had overtraining syndrome or chronic fatigue Syndrome? | Yes/No |
| | If yes please specify | |
| 10. | To your knowledge are there any health related reasons for not Undergoing the tests that have been explained to you? | Yes/No |
| | If yes please specify | |
| 11. | How many times do you exercise every week? | |
| 12. | Do you weight train? (Frequency –number of times per week?) | |
| | Play games? (Frequency –number of times per week &which) | |
| | Swim, run or cycle? (Frequency, which & how long for each time?) | |
| 13. | Are you out of breath during exercise; (always?) 1050 (never) | |
| 14. | Are there any relevant factors? | |
| 15. | Height (metres) Weight (kg) | |
| Signatu | re of participant: Date: | |
| Signatu | re of researcher: Date: | |

RISK ASSESSMENT (ACSM Guidelines)

| No. of Cardiopulmonary signs / symptoms | |
|---|--|
| No of Risk Factors | |
| Recommendation | |
| Assessor's signature | |

Appendix C - Participant information sheet exercise study



Research Information Sheet for Participants Involved in the University of Greenwich Nutritional supplement Study – The effect on acute recovery from a single bout of whole body resistance exercise due to supplementation

Firstly thank you for agreeing to take part in this research project. I hope you find the information given here useful and adequately informative for your participation in the project. The research aims to monitor differences in performance due to supplementation with a commercially available product.

Procedures

You will initially attend the laboratory/sports hall at the University of Greenwich at Medway campus for an explanation of the study. This will take approximately 40 minutes and will involve:

- Assessing your suitability to the study and to complete the health questionnaire and informed consent form.
- This is also an opportunity for you to ask any questions that you may have.

The following meeting, should you agree to take part in the study, will see you return to the laboratory to perform a 2 familiarisation session (on separate days) on the squat, bench press, pull, abdominals and other common resistance exercises. You will then attend the laboratory again for another 4 occasions here you will have to perform 1 crossfit training session involving 3 circuits of 7 exercises.

Before and after this session you will be assessed in jump, maximal strength and muscular endurance capacity using two exercises: bench press and squat. Additionally salivary samples will be taken before, 30 and 60 minutes after crossfit or aerobic endurance exercises

Measurements

- Jump test on an force plate
- 1 repetition maximum on Squat, and bench press exercises
- Power at 50% of 1 repetition maximum on Squat, and bench press exercises
- Rate of perceived exertion
- Salivary markers antimicrobial peptide and hormone (using ELISA technique and LC-MS)

Requirements

On the day of testing a standardised meal should be consumed 3 hours prior to the exercise test and nothing else, except from 500ml of H_2O which is requested to be consumed 1 h prior to testing. Ergogenic aids are to be stopped at least 6 weeks prior to the study and abstained from during the course of the study except for those provided by the researchers. Caffeine is to be avoided 4 days prior to testing. Participants are instructed to abstain from any vigorous and unaccustomed physical activity 72 hours before testing with no exercise 24 hours before testing and arrive in the laboratory in a rested state.

Possible Risks/Discomforts

The risks involved in the study are minimal. Prior to the study you will have filled out a health questionnaire to assess your suitability for participation in the study. This study does involve strenuous exercise, but providing you perform in regular physical activity the sensation you experience will not be unfamiliar. Further, you will be instructed to exercise until volitional fatigue. All supplements contained in the commercially available multi nutrient formula 'Cyclone' are dosed within recommended amounts.

You are free to withdraw from the study at any time.

Benefits

You will increase your knowledge of nutrition in relation to exercise,

Confidentiality

Your contact information and testing results (held anonymously) will be stored on a USB memory stick which will be stored in a secure location. This information will be deleted at the end of the study.

I look forward to seeing you, if there are any problems please do not hesitate to call me on the email or telephone number below:

Supervisor: Dr Fernando Naclerio

Email: f.j.naclerio@gre.ac.uk

Appendix D - Participant Food Record Diary

CONFIDENTIAL

Name and Address

Food Record Diary

Please record everything that you eat and drink including supplements over a 3 day period in accordance with the dietary guideline provided.

Instruction for using the food diary

Everything that you eat and drink over a 3 day period should be recorded below (two week days and one weekend day), giving portion sizes, weights and volumes. Many food packaging has the weight on the labelling so if you have half a pack, then record half the weight, etc. and if possible collect clean food labels and bring them to the researcher. This will enable the researcher to analyse your diet. Please record the cooking method (boiled/grilled/fried etc.) and whether the food is fresh, canned, frozen or dried.

| Time | Description of Food Eaten | Cooking method | Weight/portion |
|-------|---------------------------|----------------|----------------|
| 18.00 | Pasta | Boiled | 100g |
| | Chicken breast | Baked | 125g |
| | Mixed frozen veg | boiled | 80g |
| | Pasta sauce (tomato) | Jar | 200g |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| 18.00 | Pasta | Boiled | Medium |
| | Chicken breast | Baked | Large |
| | Mixed frozen veg | Boiled | Medium |
| | Pasta sauce (tomato) | Jar | Half a jar |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |

Appendix E - Poster Presentations





VALIDATION OF AN LC-ESI-MS METHOD FOR THE DETECTION OF HUMAN SALIVARY α- DEFENSINS

Nadia Ashrafi

Fernando Naclerio, Marcos Seijo, Chris Lapthorn, , Patricia wright, Frank Pullen and Birthe Nielsen Faculty of Engineering and Science, University of Greenwich, Central Avenue, Chatham, Maritime, Kent ME4 4TB. U.K Email: an35@gre.ac.uk



AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

Antimicrobial peptides (α - Defensins) are commonly measured by ELISA, however, this technique does not discriminate between HNP1-3 due to their structural similarities (Fig.1). With advances in mass spectrometry, Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (LC-ESI-MS) is often considered as a first choice for analysis of salivary peptides. The main objectives of the study were to optimise and validate an LC-ESI-MS method for the separation of individual HNPs in human saliva by LC- ESI-MS which includes sample preparation. HNP-1, HNP-2 and HNP-3 have identical amino acid sequences with the exception of an additional amino acid in the N-terminus of HNP1 (A) and HNP 3 (D). The α -defensins have three β strands and two loops created by the disulphide bridges between cysteine 2 and 4 and cysteine 3 and 5. A third disulphide bridge exists between cysteine 1 and cysteine 6. See (poster 069) for the role of α - Defensins in innate immunity and in physical stress.



Appendix F – Publication

Eur J Appl Physiol DOI 10.1007/s00421-016-3520-x

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Effects of protein-carbohydrate supplementation on immunity and resistance training outcomes: a double-blind, randomized, controlled clinical trial

Fernando Naclerio¹ · Eneko Larumbe-Zabala² · Nadia Ashrafi¹ · Marco Seijo¹ · Birthe Nielsen¹ · Judith Allgrove³ · Conrad P. Earnest⁴

Received: 19 July 2016 / Accepted: 19 December 2016 © The Author(s) 2016. This article is published with open access at Springerlink.com

Abstract

Purpose To examine the impact of ingesting hydrolyzed beef protein, whey protein, and carbohydrate on resistance training outcomes, body composition, muscle thickness, blood indices of health and salivary human neutrophil peptides (HNP1-3), as reference of humoral immunity followed an 8-week resistance training program in college athletes.

Methods Twenty-seven recreationally physically active males and females (n = 9 per treatment) were randomly assigned to one of the three groups: hydrolyzed beef protein, whey protein, or non-protein isoenergetic carbohydrate. Treatment consisted of ingesting 20 g of supplement, mixed with orange juice, once a day immediately postworkout or before breakfast on non-training days. Measurements were performed pre- and post-intervention on total load (kg) lifted at the first and last workout, body composition (via plethysmography) vastus medialis thickness (mm) (via ultrasonography), and blood indices of health. Salivary

Electronic supplementary material The online version of this article (doi:10.1007/s00421-016-3520-x) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

 Fernando Naclerio f.j.naclerio@gre.ac.uk

- ¹ Department of Life and Sports Sciences, University of Greenwich, Chatham Maritime, UK
- ² Clinical Research Institute, Texas Tech University Health Sciences Center, Lubbock, TX, USA
- ³ Faculty of Science Engineering and Computing, Kingston University, London, UK
- ⁴ Exercise Science and Nutrition Laboratory, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, USA

HNP1-3 were determined before and after performing the first and last workout.

Results Salivary concentration and secretion rates of the HNP1-3 decreased in the beef condition only from prefirst-workout (1.90 \pm 0.83 µg/mL; 2.95 \pm 2.83 µg/min, respectively) to pre-last-workout (0.92 \pm 0.63 µg/mL, p = 0.025, d = 1.03; 0.76 \pm 0.74 µg/min, p = 0.049, d = 0.95), and post-last-workout (0.95 \pm 0.60 µg/mL, p = 0.032, d = 1.00; 0.59 \pm 0.52 µg/min, p = 0.027, d = 1.02). No other significant differences between groups were observed.

Conclusions Supplementation with a carbohydrate-protein beverage may support resistance training outcomes in a comparable way as the ingestion of only carbohydrate. Furthermore, the ingestion of 20 g of hydrolyzed beef protein resulted in a decreased level and secretion rates of the HNP1-3 from baseline with no negative effect on blood indices of health.

Keywords Immune status · Strength performance · Body composition · Muscle thickness · Blood indices of health

Abbreviations

| AST/GOT | Alanine transaminase |
|------------|------------------------------|
| AMP | Antimicrobial peptides |
| ALT/GPT | Aspartate transaminase |
| BM | Body mass |
| CHO | Carbohydrate |
| CK | Creatine kinase |
| DHEA | Dehydroepiandrosterone |
| η_G^2 | Generalized eta squared |
| HDL | High density lipoprotein |
| HNP1-3 | Human neutrophil peptides |
| LDL | Low density lipoprotein |
| ANOVA | One-way analysis of variance |

